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SCHEDULE

7:30 Registration and Continental Breakfast

8:30 SEC Enforcement and Corporation Finance Updates
Moderator: Judith Anderson, Assistant Regional Director, Securities and Exchange Commission, 
San Francisco, CA
Tamara Brightwell, Deputy Chief Counsel, Division of Corporation Finance, Securities and 
Exchange Commission, Washington, DC
Erin Schneider, Associate Regional Director, Enforcement, Securities and Exchange Commission, 
San Francisco, CA

10:00 Break

10:15 State and Provincial Regulatory Updates
Moderator: Daniel Keppler, Garvey Schubert Barer, Portland, OR
Dorothy Bean, Chief of Enforcement, Oregon Division of Financial Regulation, Salem, OR
William Beatty, Washington Department of Financial Institutions, Olympia, WA
Alan Conilogue, Deputy Attorney General, State of Idaho, Boise, ID
Leif Haugen, Chief of Enforcement, Alaska Division of Banking and Securities, Anchorage, AK

11:45 Lunch: Mercy Corps’ Community Investment Trust (CIT): Facilitating Community 
Investment by Offering Shares in the Community to the Community
Michael Schrader, Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Portland, OR
Steven White, Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Portland, OR

1:00 Insecurity: The Interplay of Ethics and Liability for Securities Lawyers
David Elkanich, Holland & Knight, Portland, OR
Daniel Keppler, Garvey Schubert Barer, Portland, OR

2:00 Cryptocurrency: ICOs, Enforcement, and Beyond
Moderator: Joseph Skocilich, Foundry Law Group PLLC, Seattle, WA
Steven Buchholz, Assistant Regional Director, Enforcement, Cyber and Market Abuse Units, 
Securities and Exchange Commission, San Francisco, CA
Byron Dailey, Lane Powell PC, Seattle, WA
John Kim, Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP, Vancouver, BC
Marco Materazzi, Emerge Law Group, Portland, OR

3:15 Break

3:30 The Cannabis Landscape at Home and Abroad
Andrea Brewer, Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP, Toronto, ON
Linda Fuerst, Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP, Toronto, ON
Stephanie Gambino, Dorsey & Whitney LLP, Seattle, WA
Dave Kopilak, Emerge Law Group, Portland, OR

4:30 Adjourn
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FACULTY

Judith Anderson, Assistant Regional Director, Securities and Exchange Commission, San Francisco, 
CA. Ms. Anderson is Assistant Regional Director for Investor Services and Special Projects in the 
SEC’s San Francisco Regional Office, where she supervises review and intake of complaints and 
investor inquiries and outreach to community groups, regulators, and members of law enforcement and 
is responsible for other enforcement matters. She is the San Francisco Office’s liaison to the Division of 
Enforcement’s Retail Strategy Task Force and was a coleader of the division’s Pyramid Scheme Task 
Force. Prior to joining the SEC staff in 2001, Ms. Anderson was a litigation associate in Los Angeles 
and San Francisco.

Dorothy Bean, Chief of Enforcement, Oregon Division of Financial Regulation, Salem, OR. Ms. Bean has 
been with the Division of Financial Regulation for five years and was promoted to Chief of Enforcement 
in 2018. She is responsible for supervising the division’s Enforcement unit and overseeing investigations 
and enforcement actions relating to the division’s varied regulatory programs, including Securities. Prior 
to joining the division, Ms. Bean was in private practice specializing in complex civil litigation.

William Beatty, Washington Department of Financial Institutions, Olympia, WA. Mr. Beatty was appointed 
Securities Administrator of the Washington Securities Division in July 2010. His career at the division 
began in 1986, and he has served stints as a staff attorney, general counsel, and program manager. He 
is a member and past president of the North American Securities Administrators Association (NASAA)  
Board of Directors and has participated on various NASAA project groups, task forces, and committees.

Andrea Brewer, Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP, Toronto, ON. Ms. Brewer is cochair of the firm’s 
Canadian corporate finance and securities team. Her practice covers all aspects of corporate and 
commercial law, with a special emphasis on public mergers and acquisitions and securities law, including 
private placements, public financings, and corporate governance. Ms. Brewer also advises directors, 
management and shareholders in the context of complex shareholder relations and negotiations and 
shareholder meetings across all industry sectors. She is a member of the Canadian Bar Association, 
the Law Society of Upper Canada, the Ontario Bar Association and Women in Capital Markets.

Tamara Brightwell, Deputy Chief Counsel, Division of Corporation Finance, Securities and Exchange 
Commission, Washington, DC. Ms. Brightwell oversees the work of the Office of Chief Counsel and 
advises on legal and policy matters related to the federal securities laws. She served previously as 
Senior Advisor to SEC Chair Mary Jo White, acting as principal advisor on all matters involving the 
work of the Division of Corporation Finance and the Commission’s Office of the Chief Accountant. Ms. 
Brightwell also has served in a variety of roles in the Division of Corporation Finance, including as 
Senior Advisor and Senior Special Counsel to the Director.

Steven Buchholz, Assistant Regional Director, Enforcement, Cyber and Market Abuse Units, Securities 
and Exchange Commission, San Francisco, CA. Mr. Buchholz supervises a variety of investigations 
and litigation matters, including through Enforcement’s specialized Cyber and Market Abuse Units, 
which focus on cyber-related trading schemes and abusive practices, digital assets and initial coin 
offerings, cybersecurity and related internal controls of regulated entities, complex insider trading, 
market manipulation schemes, and market structure.

Alan Conilogue, Deputy Attorney General, State of Idaho, Boise, ID. Mr. Conilogue practices 
primarily securities fraud litigation. He was appointed as a Deputy Attorney General for the State of 
Idaho supporting the Idaho Department of Finance in 2006, on his return from deployment to Iraq as 
the Inspector General for the 116th Cavalry Brigade. Previously, he worked for the Idaho Industrial 
Commission as a mediator, Bureau Chief, and finally Adjudication Division Manager, and before that in 
private practice in areas such as insurance defense, corporate law, and civil rights litigation.
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Byron Dailey, Lane Powell PC, Seattle, WA. Mr. Dailey is a corporate, securities, and M&A attorney 
with broad experience structuring and negotiating domestic and international business transactions. 
He focuses his practice on investment fund formation, mergers and acquisitions, nonprofits, social 
enterprises, and corporate, securities, and commercial matters. He is admitted to practice in Washington 
and New York.

David Elkanich, Holland & Knight LLP, Portland, OR. Mr. Elkanich focuses his practice on litigation, 
with an emphasis on legal ethics and risk management. He advises both lawyers and law firms in a 
wide range of professional responsibility matters. In addition, Mr. Elkanich has a commercial litigation 
practice, where he regularly represents clients in the financial services industry. Mr. Elkanich is an adjunct 
professor at Lewis & Clark Law School, where he has taught the required ethics course (Regulation 
and Legal Ethics) since 2012. He is an active member of the Oregon State Bar, including service on 
the Discipline System Review Committee and Legal Ethics Committee. He is also a member of the 
Multnomah Bar Association, the Association of Professional Responsibility Lawyers, and the ABA Center 
for Professional Responsibility. Mr. Elkanich is admitted to practice in Idaho, Washington, and Oregon.

Linda Fuerst, Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP, Toronto, ON. Ms. Fuerst’s litigation practice covers 
a broad range of commercial and professional liability matters, with a particular focus on securities 
litigation, class proceedings, and regulatory issues. She has litigated civil, criminal, and regulatory 
matters and has appeared before all levels of court in Ontario, the Supreme Court of British Columbia, 
the Supreme Court of Nova Scotia, and the Nova Scotia Court of Appeal. She has represented clients 
in connection with investigations and proceedings by the Ontario, Alberta, and Nova Scotia securities 
commissions, IIROC, the MFDA, and the Competition Bureau. Ms. Fuerst has also directed internal 
investigations into matters including possible insider trading and backdating of stock options. She is a 
Securities Litigation Executive of The Advocates’ Society and chair of its Securities Litigation Practice 
Group, past cochair of the Ontario Bar Association (OBA) Class Action Section, past vice chair of the 
OBA Civil Litigation Section, past member of the Ontario Securities Commission Securities Proceedings 
Advisory Committee, a member of the Women’s White Collar Defense Association.

Stephanie Gambino, Dorsey & Whitney LLP, Seattle, WA. Ms. Gambino is a member of the firm’s 
cross-border Canada and cannabis groups. Her practice focuses on corporate and transaction matters 
with an emphasis on clients in the cannabis and hemp industries. She supports clients with a variety of 
U.S. regulatory issues, including advising on issues relating to capital markets transactions, financings, 
mergers and acquisitions, and general commercial transactions.

Leif Haugen, Chief of Enforcement, Alaska Division of Banking and Securities, Anchorage, AK. Before 
joining the Alaska Division of Banking and Securities, Mr. Haugen was an attorney in private practice 
focusing on civil litigation and transactional matters.

Daniel Keppler, Garvey Schubert Barer, Portland, OR. Mr. Keppler’s practice includes securities 
litigation, business litigation, and appellate litigation. He also focuses on helping lawyers, accountants, 
and other professionals mitigate risks and resolve complex disputes without litigation.

John Kim, Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP, Vancouver, BC. Mr. Kim is a partner in the firm’s global 
business group based in Canada, Singapore, and Korea. He advises clients in FinTech and technology, 
venture capital, private equity, energy, oil and gas, and engineering and construction. He is a leader 
in the firm for projects relating to blockchain technology and digital assets and advises clients working 
on industry-defining blockchain and cryptocurrency ventures. He is a regular speaker on the subject 
at conferences and is often asked to present to investors interested in this nascent sector. In addition 
to his legal practice, Mr. Kim teaches at the University of British Columbia School of Law. He is also 
president and CEO of the Canada Korea Business Association.

FACULTY (Continued)
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FACULTY (Continued)

Dave Kopilak, Emerge Law Group, Portland, OR. Mr. Kopilak focuses his practice on business and 
corporate law. He has extensive experience assisting clients with business structuring, entity formation, 
mergers and acquisitions, corporate securities, equity incentive plans, and all types of commercial 
contracts. He was the primary drafter of Oregon Ballot Measure 91 and has a unique understanding of 
the business, corporate, and securities law challenges that cannabis businesses face. He is a member 
of the Oregon Liquor Control Commission Recreational Marijuana Advisory Committee Business 
Committee, the Oregon State Bar Cannabis Law Section, and the Oregon State Bar Business Law 
Section. In addition to his law practice, Mr. Kopilak is the president and cofounder of ClayTablet, a 
company that provides legal document templates to Oregon and Washington attorneys. 

Marco Materazzi, Emerge Law Group, Portland, OR. Mr. Materazzi is a general business lawyer with 
a practice focused on emerging growth companies, mergers and acquisitions, corporate finance, and a 
range of other business matters. He has significant experience advising clients with respect to corporate 
governance, intellectual property protection, regulatory compliance, entity structure, shareholder 
agreements, and general contract negotiation. He is a member of the Oregon State Bar Securities 
Regulation Section Executive Committee.

Erin Schneider, Associate Regional Director, Enforcement, Securities and Exchange Commission, 
San Francisco, CA. Ms. Schneider is the Co–Acting Regional Director and Associate Regional Director 
for Enforcement in the SEC’s San Francisco office. In her role as Associate Regional Director, Ms. 
Schneider oversees the San Francisco office’s enforcement efforts for northern California and the Pacific 
Northwest. She began working in the San Francisco office in 2005 as a staff attorney and became 
an Assistant Regional Director in 2012. She served as a member of the Division of Enforcement’s 
Asset Management Unit since its inception in 2010 until January 2015. Prior to joining the SEC staff, 
Ms. Schneider worked as a litigation associate in the Washington, D.C., and San Francisco offices of 
Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP and as an auditor at PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Michael Schrader, Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Portland, OR. Mr. Schrader is a member of Orrick’s 
Public Finance Department and a founding member of the firm’s Portland office. He works with state 
agencies, special districts and other local governments, tribal entities, nonprofit organizations, and 
private companies in structuring, negotiating and documenting bond issues, loans, and other financing 
arrangements. He also represents banks and underwriters in connection with the purchase and sale of 
bonds and other financing and credit-related matters. He serves as special counsel (pro bono) to Mercy 
Corps in connection with its Community Investment Trust (CIT) Program. Mr. Schrader is admitted to 
practice in Oregon and Washington.

Joseph Skocilich, Foundry Law Group PLLC, Seattle, WA. Mr. Skocilich serves as the firm’s Chief 
Legal Officer. He represents early- and growth-stage companies with everything from formation and 
raising seed capital to corporate governance and day-to-day business transactions. He is a member of 
the Washington State Bar Association Securities Law Committee.

Steven White, Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Portland, OR. Mr. White is a public finance lawyer who 
represents local and state government issuers, tribal governments, eligible borrowers, and underwriters 
in connection with general obligation bond financings, revenue bond financings, and lease financings. 
His practice includes serving as bond counsel to several Oregon municipalities, Oregon Housing and 
Community Services, the Oregon Facilities Authority, and the Oregon Department of Transportation. He 
serves as special counsel (pro bono) to Mercy Corps in connection with its CIT Program. Mr. White is 
coauthor of the chapter on “Doing Business with Indian Tribes,” 3 Advising Oregon Businesses (OSB 
Legal Pubs 2018).
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Chapter 1A

Compendium of Rulemaking and 
Public Statements (2018–2019)

Tamara BrighTwell
Deputy Chief Counsel, Division of Corporation Finance

Securities and Exchange Commission
Washington, DC
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39th Annual Northwest Securities Institute 
Division of Corporation Finance 

 
 

Final Rules 
 

• Treatment of Certain Communications Involving Security-Based Swaps That May Be 
Purchased Only By Eligible Contract Participants (Release No. 33-10450; January 5, 
2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2018/33-10450.pdf. 

 
• Amendments to Smaller Reporting Company Definition (Release No. 33-10513; June 28, 

2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2018/33-10513.pdf. 
 

• Inline XBRL Filing of Tagged Data (Release No. 33-10514; June 28, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2018/33-10514.pdf. 

 
• Rule 701 – Exempt Offerings Pursuant to Compensatory Arrangements (Release No. 33-

10520; July 18, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2018/33-10520.pdf. 
 

• Disclosure Update and Simplification (Release No. 33-10532; August 17, 2018), 
available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2018/33-10532.pdf. 

 
• Modernization of Property Disclosures for Mining Registrants (Release No. 33-10570; 

October 31, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2018/33-10570.pdf. 
 

• Amendments to Regulation A (Release No. 33-10591; December 19, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2018/33-10591.pdf. 

 
• Disclosure of Hedging by Employees, Officers and Directors (Release No. 33-10593; 

December 20, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2018/33-10593.pdf. 
 

• FAST Act Modernization and Simplification of Regulation S-K (Release No. 33-10618; 
March 20, 2019), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2019/33-10618.pdf. 

 
 

Interim Final Temporary Rules 
 

• Regulation Crowdfunding and Regulation A Relief and Assistance for Victims of 
Hurricane Florence (Release No. 33-10556; September 19, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/rules/interim/2018/33-10556.pdf. 

 
• Regulation Crowdfunding and Regulation A Relief and Assistance for Victims of 

Hurricane Michael (Release No. 33-10567; October 16, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/rules/interim/2018/33-10567.pdf. 
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Proposed Rules 
 

• Financial Disclosures About Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Securities and 
Affiliates Whose Securities Collateralize a Registrant’s Securities (Release No. 33-
10526; July 24, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/proposed/2018/33-
10526.pdf. 
 

• Solicitations of Interest Prior to a Registered Public Offering (Release No. 33-10607; 
February 19, 2019), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/proposed/2019/33-10607.pdf. 

 
 

Concept Releases 
 

• Concept Release on Compensatory Securities Offerings and Sales (Release No. 33-
10521; July 18, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/concept/2018/33-
10521.pdf. 

 
 

Requests for Comment 
 

• Request for Comment on Earnings Releases and Quarterly Reports (Release No. 33-
10588; December 18, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/other/2018/33-
10588.pdf. 

 
 

Interpretive Releases 
 

• Commission Statement and Guidance on Public Company Cybersecurity Disclosures 
(Release No. 33-10459; February 21, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/rules/interp/2018/33-10459.pdf. 

 
 

Speeches 
 

• William Hinman, Keynote Address at the PLI’s Seventeenth Annual Institute on 
Securities Regulation in Europe (February 1, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/speech-hinman-020118. 

 
• William Hinman, Digital Asset Transactions: When Howey Met Gary (Plastic), Remarks 

at the Yahoo Finance All Markets Summit: Crypto (June 14, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/speech-hinman-061418. 
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• Chairman Jay Clayton, Remarks on Capital Formation at the Nashville 36|86 
Entrepreneurship Festival (August 29, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/speech-clayton-082918. 
 

• William Hinman, Remarks at the PLI’s Eighteenth Annual Institute on Securities 
Regulation in Europe (March 15, 2019), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/hinman-applying-principles-based-approach-
disclosure-031519. 

 
 

Public Statements 
 

• Chairman Jay Clayton, Statement Announcing SEC Staff Roundtable on the Proxy 
Process (July 30, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/public-
statement/statement-announcing-sec-staff-roundtable-proxy-process. 

 
• Chairman Jay Clayton, Statement on Investing in America for the Long Term (August 

17, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/public-statement/statement-clayton-
081718. 

 
• Division of Trading and Markets and Division of Corporation Finance, Statement on 

Order of Suspension of Trading of Certain Bitcoin/Ether Tracking Certificates 
(September 20, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/public-
statement/suspension-trading-certain-bitcoinether-tracking-certificates. 

 
• Division of Corporation Finance, Division of Investment Management and Division of 

Trading and Markets, Statement on Digital Asset Securities Issuance and Trading 
(November 16, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/public-statement/digital-
asset-securites-issuuance-and-trading. 
 

• William Hinman and Valerie Szczepanik, Statement on “Framework for ‘Investment 
Contract’ Analysis of Digital Assets” (April 3, 2019), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/public-statement/statement-framework-investment-contract-
analysis-digital-assets. 

 
 

Press Releases 
 

• SEC and NYU to Host Jan. 19 Forum on Relationship Between Companies and 
Shareholders (Press Release No. 2018-3; January 11, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-3. 

 
• Karen Garnett, Associate Director of Division of Corporation Finance, to Leave Agency 

After 23 Years of Service (Press Release No. 2018-18; February 15, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-18. 
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• Kyle Moffatt Named Chief Accountant in Division of Corporation Finance (Press 
Release No. 2018-19; February 15, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2018-19. 

 
• SEC Adopts Statement and Interpretive Guidance on Public Company Cybersecurity 

Disclosures (Press Release No. 2018-22; February 21, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-22. 

 
• The SEC Has an Opportunity You Won’t Want to Miss: Act Now! (Press Release No. 

2018-88; May 16, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-88. 
 

• SEC Names Valerie A. Szczepanik Senior Advisor for Digital Assets and Innovation 
(Press Release No. 2018-102; June 4, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-102. 

 
• SEC Expands the Scope of Smaller Public Companies that Qualify for Scaled Disclosures 

(Press Release No. 2018-116; June 28, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-116. 

 
• SEC Adopts Inline XBRL for Tagged Data (Press Release No. 2018-117; June 28, 2018), 

available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-117. 
 

• SEC Approves Final and Proposed Rules in Latest Open Meeting (Press Release No. 
2018-121; June 28, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-121. 

 
• SEC Adopts Final Rules and Solicits Public Comment on Ways to Modernize Offerings 

Pursuant to Compensatory Arrangements (Press Release No. 2018-135; July 18, 2018), 
available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-135. 

 
• SEC Proposes Rules to Simplify and Streamline Disclosures in Certain Registered Debt 

Offerings (Press Release No. 2018-143; July 24, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-143. 

 
• SEC Adopts Amendments to Simplify and Update Disclosure Requirements (Press 

Release No. 2018-156; August 17, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2018-156. 

 
• SEC Provides Regulatory Relief and Assistance for Hurricane Victims (Press Release 

No. 2018-202; September 19, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2018-202. 

 
• SEC Staff to Hold Nov. 15 Roundtable on the Proxy Process (Press Release No. 2018-

206; September 21, 2018) available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-206. 
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• SEC Investigative Report: Public Companies Should Consider Cyber Threats When 
Implementing Internal Accounting Controls (Press Release No. 2018-236; October 16, 
2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-236. 

 
• SEC Provides Regulatory Relief and Assistance for Hurricane Victims (Press Release 

No. 2018-237; October 16, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2018-237. 

 
• SEC Announces 2018 Government-Business Forum to Be Held at The Ohio State 

University (Press Release No. 2018-239; October 18, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-239. 

 
• SEC Launches New Strategic Hub for Innovation and Financial Technology (Press 

Release No. 2018-240; October 18, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2018-240. 

 
• SEC Adopts Rules to Modernize Property Disclosures Required for Mining Registrants 

(Press Release No. 2018-248; October 31, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-248. 

 
• SEC Announces Agenda, Panelists for Staff Roundtable on the Proxy Process (Press 

Release No. 2018-260; November 8, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2018-260. 

 
• SEC Announces Agenda and Panelists for the 37th Annual Small Business Forum (Press 

Release No. 2018-274; December 7, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2018-274. 

 
• SEC Solicits Public Comment on Earnings Releases and Quarterly Reports (Press 

Release No. 2018-287; December 18, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-287. 

 
• SEC Adopts Final Rules for Disclosure of Hedging Policies (Press Release No. 2018-

291; December 18, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-291. 
 

• SEC Adopts Final Rules to Allow Exchange Act Reporting Companies to Use Regulation 
A (Press Release No. 2018-297; December 19, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-297. 
 

• SEC Proposes to Expand “Test-the-Waters” Modernization Reform to All Issuers (Press 
Release No. 2019-14), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2019-14. 
 

• SEC Staff to Hold Fintech Forum to Discuss Distributed Ledger Technology and Digital 
Assets (Press Release No. 2019-35), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2019-35. 
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• SEC Adopts Rules to Implement FAST Act Mandate to Modernize and Simplify 
Disclosure (Press Release No. 2019-38), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2019-38.  

 
 

Other Materials 
 

• Division to Release through EDGAR Serious Deficiencies Letters (June 12, 2018), 
available at https://www.sec.gov/corpfin/announcement/division-release-through-edgar-
serious-deficiencies-letters. 

 
• Division of Corporation Finance Staff to Continue to Enhance Transparency of Staff 

Actions (August 20, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/corpfin/announcement/division-staff-enhance-transparency-of-staff-
actions. 
 

• Division Announcement, New Rules and Procedures for Exhibits Containing Immaterial, 
Competitively Harmful Information (April 1, 2019), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/corpfin/announcement/new-rules-and-procedures-exhibits-
containing-immaterial. 

 
• Report of Investigation Pursuant to Section 21(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

Regarding Certain Cyber-Related Frauds Perpetrated Against Public Companies and 
Related Internal Accounting Controls Requirements (Release No. 34-84429; October 16, 
2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/litigation/investreport/34-84429.pdf. 

 
• Shareholder Proposals: Staff Legal Bulletin No. 14J (October 23, 2018), available at 

https://www.sec.gov/corpfin/staff-legal-bulletin-14j-shareholder-proposals. 
 

• Order Concerning Hurricane Florence (Release No. 34-84210; September 19, 2018), 
available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/other/2018/34-84210.pdf. 

 
• Order Concerning Hurricane Michael (Release No. 34-84440; October 16, 2018), 

available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/other/2018/34-84440.pdf. 
 

• Amendments to the Smaller Reporting Company Definition: A Small Entity Compliance 
Guide for Issuers (August 10, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/corpfin/amendments-smaller-reporting-company-definition. 

 
• Operating Company Inline XBRL Filing of Tagged Data: A Small Entity Compliance 

Guide for Issuers (September 14, 2018), available at 
https://www.sec.gov/corpfin/operating-company-inline-xbrl-filing-tagged-dataoperating-
company-inline-xbrl-filing. 

 

https://www.sec.gov/corpfin/announcement/division-staff-enhance-transparency-of-staff-actions
https://www.sec.gov/corpfin/announcement/division-staff-enhance-transparency-of-staff-actions
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• Disclosure Update and Simplification: A Small Entity Compliance Guide (November 5, 
2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/corpfin/disclosure-update-simplification-small-
entity-compliance-guide. 

 
• Division of Corporation Finance Financial Reporting Manual (updated periodically), 

available at: http://www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/cffinancialreportingmanual.shtml. 
 

• Division of Corporation Finance Compliance and Disclosure Interpretations (updated 
periodically), available at: http://www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/cfguidance.shtml. 

 
• Division of Corporation Finance No-Action, Interpretive and Exemptive Letters (updated 

periodically), available at: http://www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/cf-noaction.shtml. 
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION: 

Resources 

Securities and Exchange Commission, Division of Enforcement, Enforcement Manual: 
https://www.sec.gov/divisions/enforce/enforcementmanual.pdf  

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, Commission Rules of Practice, June 2018 
https://www.sec.gov/about/rules-of-practice-2018.pdf  

Securities and Exchange Commission, Division of Enforcement, Annual Report 2018 
https://www.sec.gov/files/enforcement-annual-report-2018.pdf  

Notable Recent Decisions  

Lorenzo v. SEC, 139 S. Ct. 1094 (2019)  

Gupta v. United States, 913 F.3d 81 (2d Cir. 2019) 

SEC v. Scoville, 913 F.3d 1204 (10th Cir. 2019) 

SEC v. Blockvest, LLC, No. 18CV2287, 2019 WL 625163 (S.D. Cal. Feb. 14, 2019) 

Notable Cases 

Elon Musk Charged With Securities Fraud for Misleading Tweets https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2018-219  

Theranos, CEO Holmes, and Former President Balwani Charged With Massive Fraud 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-41  

Altaba, Formerly Known as Yahoo!, Charged With Failing to Disclose Massive Cybersecurity Breach; 
Agrees To Pay $35 Million https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-71  

SEC Share Class Initiative Returning More Than $125 Million to Investors 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2019-28  

Investment Adviser Charged With Stealing Millions From Private Fund https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2019-45  

SEC Charges LendingClub Asset Management and Former Executives With Misleading Investors and 
Breaching Fiduciary Duty https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-223  

SEC Charges Technology Fund Adviser, Founder in Fraudulent Scheme https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2018-160  

SEC Charges Former CEO of Silicon Valley Startup With Defrauding Investors 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2019-50  

SEC Bars Perpetrator of Initial Coin Offering Fraud https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-152  
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SEC Charges Technology Fund Adviser, Founder in Fraudulent Scheme https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2018-160  

SEC Detects Silicon Valley Executive’s Insider Trading https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-142  

Commission Guidance on Cybersecurity:  https://www.sec.gov/rules/interp/2018/33-10459.pdf  

Report of Investigation Pursuant to Section 21(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934  Regarding 
Certain Cyber-Related Frauds Perpetrated Against Public Companies and Related Internal Accounting 
Controls Requirements  https://www.sec.gov/litigation/investreport/34-84429.pdf  

SEC Charges Firm With Deficient Cybersecurity Procedures https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-
213  

SEC Brings Charges in EDGAR Hacking Case https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2019-1  

Two Celebrities Charged With Unlawfully Touting Coin Offerings https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2018-268  

Two ICO Issuers Settle SEC Registration Charges, Agree to Register Tokens as Securities 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-264 

SEC Charges EtherDelta Founder With Operating an Unregistered Exchange 
https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2018-258 

The SEC Has an Opportunity You Won’t Want to Miss: Act Now! https://www.sec.gov/news/press-
release/2018-88 
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Introduction & General Overview 

The Oregon Department of Business and Consumer Services (DCBS), Division of Financial Regulation (DFR), 
administers and enforces regulations related to the Oregon Securities Law (ORS Chapter 59) and many 
other programs, including;  

• Insurance (ORS Chapters 731 to 752, 646A, 806, 819, 823, and 825) 
o Pharmacy Benefit Managers (New) (OAR 836-200-0406, et seq.) 
o Prescription Drug Price Transparency Reporting (New) (HB 4005) (OAR 836-200-0500, et 

seq.) 
• Banks and Trusts (ORS Chapters 705 to 716)  
• Credit Unions (ORS Chapter 723) 
• Mortgage Brokers and Mortgage Loan Originators (ORS Chapter 86A) 
• Mortgage Services (ORS 86A.300 to 86A.339) 
• Commodities (ORS Chapter 645) 
• Franchises (ORS Chapter 650) 
• Manufactured Structure Dealers (ORS Chapter 446) 
• Consumer Finance Lenders (ORS Chapter 725) 
• Pawnbrokers (ORS Chapter 726) 
• Payday and Title Lenders (ORS Chapter 725A) 
• Collection Agencies (ORS 697.005 to 697.095) 
• Debt Management Service Providers (ORS Chapter 697) 
• Debt Buyers (ORS 646A.640 to 646A.673) 
• Money Transmitters (ORS Chapter 717) 
• Check Cashers (ORS 697.500 to 697.555) 
• Pre-Need Funeral Services (ORS Chapter 97) 
• ID Theft Protection Act (ORS 646A.600 to 646A.628) 

DCBS has a dual mandate of protecting Oregon consumers and workers while supporting a positive 
business climate.  

Enforcement Updates 
Below are summaries of a few select administrative actions taken by DFR, and criminal and civil cases 
involving DFR in 2018 and 2019. All of the administrative orders issued by DFR are public and can be found 
on the DFR website at https://dfr.oregon.gov/laws-rules/Pages/notices-orders.aspx.  

I. Recent Enforcement Cases of Interest:   

William J. Kuhn, dba Invest/O – Registered Investment Advisors, S-18-0111 – On April 1, 2019, and 
following a contested-case hearing, DFR canceled the investment adviser representative license of William 
J. Kuhn and canceled the state investment adviser license of Invest/O – Registered Investment Advisors. 
Mr. Kuhn was the sole owner of Invest/O Registered Investment Advisors, based in Bend, Oregon. Mr. 
Kuhn failed to comply with new requirements for state investment advisers and certain broker-dealers to 
maintain an errors and omissions insurance policy of at least $1 million, and to provide DFR with proof of 
such coverage.  At hearing, Kuhn argued that he should be entitled to an exemption from the E&O 

https://dfr.oregon.gov/AdminOrders/enf-orders-2019/ORD_190401_InvestO_FinalOrder SSIG.pdf
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coverage requirements because he was a long-standing licensee that had been subject to minimal 
complaints and therefore coverage should not apply to him and his firm. The administrative law judge 
declined Kuhn’s argument and ruled in favor of DFR.  

Charles L. “Jack” Frost, dba Bowls4Life and Acre, S-18-0040 – On March 18, 2019, DFR issued an order 
against Charles “Jack” Frost and his businesses for selling unregistered securities without a license, and 
for making material misstatements and omissions in connection with the sale of convertible promissory 
notes in Frost’s “fast casual” restaurant concept. Frost provided prospective investors with grossly inflated 
revenue projections, spent a significant portion of the $343,000 raised from Oregon investors on travel 
and meal expenses, and used investor money to make interest payments back to them and to other 
investors. Frost failed to open the planned restaurant and failed to repay the investors. Through a Consent 
Order, DFR assessed $60,000 in civil penalties against Frost, but the penalty will be suspended, and 
ultimately waived, if Frost makes restitution payments to investors. Frost is also denied the use of 
securities registration exemptions, and permanently prohibited from seeking securities and/or insurance 
licensure in Oregon.   

LPL Financial LLC, S-18-0034 – On January 31, 2019, DFR issued an order against LPL Financial, assessing a 
civil penalty of $499,000 for sales of unregistered, non-exempt securities in Oregon and failing to maintain 
adequate systems to reasonably supervise agents, staff, and employees to prevent the sale of 
unregistered, non-exempt securities. DFR’s order stems from a multi-state settlement of $26 million that 
followed a multi-state investigation of LPL, coordinated by NASAA.  The order requires a comprehensive 
review of certain customer transactions effected in Oregon between October 1, 2006 and May 1, 2018, 
to assess compliance with all applicable state securities registration requirements. LPL is ordered to offer 
to repurchase securities from, or offer to pay damages to, the Oregon investors who bought certain 
unregistered, non-exempt securities from LPL. DFR also ordered a comprehensive review of LPL’s 
operations, policies, procedures and practices relating to compliance with and supervision of state 
securities registration requirements. 

Laura O. Shean, S-17-0156 – On January 17, 2019, DFR revoked the investment adviser representative, 
securities salesperson, and insurance producer licenses of Laura O. Shean of Medford, Oregon and 
permanently barred Shean from engaging in certain financial services business activities in Oregon. Shean 
misappropriated a total of $124,402.38 from an elderly client’s account by transferring funds through a 
series of ACH transfers between March 2017 and October 2017. The funds were transferred to the IRS to 
pay Shean’s tax debts. Upon discovering her actions, the firm where Shean worked opened an internal 
review and reported the matter to DFR and other authorities. When interviewed by the firm, Shean said 
she borrowed the funds from the client, but the victim provided a statement that he had never loaned 
any funds to Shean and he was not aware of the ACH transfers to the IRS. Shean eventually admitted that 
she misappropriated the victim’s money in order to pay a tax debt. The firm terminated Shean’s 
employment on November 2, 2017. 

Following its investigation, DFR issued an order against Shean for fraud; unauthorized transactions; 
misappropriation of a client’s funds; and using fraudulent, coercive or dishonest practices, or 
demonstrated incompetence, untrustworthiness or financial irresponsibility in the conduct of business in 
Oregon. DFR assessed civil penalties against Shean totaling $30,000, and the funds misappropriated from 
the victim have been returned to him. The Consent Order signed by Shean orders her to cease and desist 
from violating the Oregon Securities Law and the Oregon Insurance Code, denies Shean the use of 

https://dfr.oregon.gov/AdminOrders/enf-orders-2019/Frost Consent Order - SIGG.pdf
https://dfr.oregon.gov/AdminOrders/enf-orders-2019/LPL Financial LLC Consent Order SIGG.pdf
https://dfr.oregon.gov/AdminOrders/enf-orders-2019/Shean Consent Order SSIG.pdf
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securities exemptions, and permanently bars Shean from financial services business activities in Oregon, 
including holding any license or registration as an investment adviser, investment adviser representative, 
broker-dealer, securities salesperson, or insurance producer.  Shean is further barred from holding any 
other license or registration required by the Director in Oregon, including but not limited to consumer 
finance or mortgage lending. 

Lisa L. Scott, S-18-0098 – On January 3, 2019, DFR issued an order against Oregon resident Lisa L. Scott, 
who facilitated raising money to fund an unregistered and unlawful Bitcoin investment company. The 
order assesses $15,000 in civil penalties against Scott and bars her from the Oregon securities industry for 
three years. Scott funneled investor money through her individual bank account, and then transferred the 
funds to the unlawful investment company in exchange for a commission. DFR has also initiated a related 
action against the investment company, Platinum Trading Company, S-18-0067, alleging securities fraud 
and other violations of the Oregon Securities Law.  

Woodbridge Group of Companies, LLC, et al., S-17-0129 – On May 7, 2018, DFR issued an order against 
the Woodbridge Group of Companies and a number of its affiliated companies for selling unregistered 
securities to approximately 70 Oregonians between 2014 and 2017 and engaging in securities fraud. 
Woodbridge, using unlicensed salespersons, sold investments in its Woodbridge Mortgage Investment 
Funds, which used investor money to make hard money loans to third-party borrowers, and the third-
party borrowers used the funds to purchase real property. Woodbridge promised investors that it would 
make regular interest payments on the investments ranging from 5% to 13% per annum, that their 
investment would be secured by a first position mortgage on the real property, and that the principal 
investment would be fully repaid within one to five years. Woodbridge misrepresented to investors that 
the investment program did not constitute a security, and therefore that it did not need to be registered 
with DFR. Woodbridge failed to mention that beginning in May of 2015 a number of state securities 
regulators had initiated actions against Woodbridge for violation of securities laws, including the sale of 
unregistered securities and securities fraud.  

In December 2017, Woodbridge stopped making interest payments and filed for chapter 11 bankruptcy. 
Because Woodbridge failed to record mortgages on the real estate, investors were treated as general 
unsecured creditors in the bankruptcy case. Also in December 2017, the SEC filed a lawsuit against 
Woodbridge alleging a $1.2 billion Ponzi scheme, and several other states have since taken similar action 
against Woodbridge. While investors will be paid through the bankruptcy proceeding, it appears that such 
recovery will be significantly less than the investors’ principal investments. DFR’s order includes a cease 
and desist from further violations of the Oregon Securities Law, and denies respondents the use of 
securities exemptions for a period of five years.  

Wellington Sports Club LLC; Wellscorp, Inc.; Thomas J. Becker; and Francesca A. Horbay, S-17-0103 – On 
April 13, 2018, DFR issued an order against Thomas J. Becker and his companies, Wellington Sports Club 
and Wellscorp, and Francesca A. Horbay, for the unlicensed sale of unregistered investments in a Nevada-
based sports betting program to Oregon consumers, and assessing $35,000 in civil penalties against 
respondents. Investors would deposit investment funds with Wellington for a period of 12 months, and 
Wellington would use the funds to place wagers on the outcome of sporting events, and ultimately share 
payouts from those wagers with investors. DFR ordered the respondents to cease and desist from offering 
or selling unregistered securities in Oregon and from engaging in unlicensed salesperson activity in 
Oregon, and denied respondents the use of securities exemptions. The order further prohibits 

https://dfr.oregon.gov/AdminOrders/enf-orders-2019/ScottLL-20190103-S-18-0098.pdf
https://dfr.oregon.gov/AdminOrders/enf-orders-2018/Woodbridge Wealth Consent Order sigg.pdf
https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2018-11-01/ceo-in-real-estate-ponzi-scheme-fined-120-million-by-sec
https://dfr.oregon.gov/AdminOrders/enf-orders-2018/Wellington Final Consent Order_Conformed.pdf
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respondents from applying for any license under the Oregon Securities Law in Oregon, or from serving as 
an officer or director of, employed by, or contracted with any individual or entity issued a license under 
the Oregon Securities Law.  

II. Recent Civil & Criminal Cases of Interest:  

James Frackowiak  (Administrative and Criminal) 
On March 28, 2019, James Frackowiak pleaded guilty to four counts of Aggravated Theft I and four counts 
of Securities Fraud in Clackamas County Circuit Court, Oregon. Frackowiak bilked investors out of 
approximately $283,800.  He sold interests in one of his companies, the Frack Income Fund, LLC, to four 
elderly victims from 2013-2016.  Frackowiak failed to adequately disclose the risks of the investment and 
mislead the victims on other aspects of the transaction.   
 
DFR began investigating Frackowiak, previously licensed with DFR as an insurance agent, after receiving a 
complaint from one of the victims about Frackowiak’s insurance practices. DFR’s investigation of the 
insurance violations lead to the discovery of this investment scheme, which he pitched to his insurance 
clients.  DFR revoked the license of Frackowiak and his insurance business, Plan-It Financial, in 2017 for 
withholding and comingling insurance premium payments. See INS-16-0186.  Frackowiak was prosecuted 
by the Clackamas County District Attorney’s Office with assistance from the Division and the Clackamas 
County Sheriff's Office.  The plea agreement includes 60 months in prison, 36 months of post prison 
supervision, and restitution to victims.   
 
Shayne M. Kniss  (Administrative and Criminal) 
On February 25, 2019, Shayne M. Kniss, owner of Iris Capital Management Group, LLC, was sentenced in 
the U.S. District Court for the District of Oregon to serve three years in federal prison for his role in 
operating a fraudulent investment company that resulted in millions of dollars of losses to victims. 
Between 2011 and 2013, Kniss, a former investment adviser representative, used his investment adviser 
firm, Iris Capital Management, to sell approximately $5 million dollars in limited partnerships and 
promissory notes to 47 investors. Kniss promised he would use the money to buy homes in the Portland 
and Eugene areas, rehabilitate them and sell them at a profit, providing investors with a guaranteed rate 
of return between 8 and 12 percent. However as properties sold, investors were not getting their money 
back. And it was later discovered that Kniss embezzled over $500,000 in investor funds, using the money 
to fund his marijuana business.   

Prior to the indictment, in November 2015, DFR (formerly the Division of Finance and Corporate 
Securities) took administrative action against Kniss, Iris Capital Management, and a number of Kniss’ 
affiliated companies, for selling unsuitable, unregistered securities, securities fraud, breach of fiduciary 
duty, and unethical business practices. See S-15-0048. The order, entered by consent, assessed $350,000 
in civil penalties against Kniss and his companies, but suspended that amount if Kniss stipulated to the 
appointment of a receiver that would liquidate company assets, dissolve the companies, and evaluate and 
pay claims of investors and creditors. The order also barred Kniss from getting licensed in the securities 
industry in Oregon, denied Kniss the use of any securities exemptions, and ordered Kniss and his 
companies to cease and desist from violating the Oregon Securities Law. The receiver was successful in 
recovering approximately $4 million for investors, or nearly 80 percent of the $5 million invested, in large 
part from private settlements with others involved in the investment scheme. Following an indictment by 
the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of Oregon, Kniss pleaded guilty to one count of wire fraud in 

https://dfr.oregon.gov/AdminOrders/enf-orders-2017/INS-16-0186.pdf
https://dfr.oregon.gov/AdminOrders/enf-orders2015/S-15-0048.pdf
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2018. The federal District Court judge ordered Kniss to repay the $529,000 he embezzled for his personal 
use and to help fund his marijuana business. 

Scott Kohn  (Civil and Criminal) 
DFR and the Oregon Department of Justice were awarded a $5.9 million judgement against Future Income 
Payments LLC (FIP), owned by Scott Kohn, for executing a lending scheme on approximately 240 Oregon 
veterans and retirees. Kohn and FIP targeted low income Oregonians by providing them with illegal loans 
charging interest up to 200 percent. The scheme required borrowers to authorize Future Income to make 
electronic withdrawals from the borrower’s pension or retirement accounts to repay the loans. This 
provided Future Income the ability to remove money from victim’s accounts despite violating multiple 
Oregon and federal laws.  In addition to the judgment, the court declared all the loans void, saving victims 
more than $5 million in principal, interest, and fees. Since the judgement, a number of other states and 
the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau have taken similar action against Kohn and Future Income. The 
U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of South Carolina indicted Kohn and Future Income for conspiracy to 
engage in mail and wire fraud.  

Recent Rulemaking and Legislation 

I. Suspected Financial Exploitation Mandatory Reporting:  

Senate Bill 95 (2017), codified at ORS 59.480 to 59.505 
Effective: January 1, 2018 
 
SB 95 requires broker-dealers and investment advisers to report suspected financial exploitation of 
vulnerable persons to DFR, which in turn must forward the report to the Oregon Department of 
Human Services. The bill allows covered persons to contact a trusted third party on the account and 
delay disbursements. Broker-dealers and investment advisers may delay disbursements for up to 15 
days if they suspect the disbursement will result in financial exploitation of a vulnerable person. The 
bill contains immunities for good faith actions authorized under the bill.  
 
This bill, the passage of which involved extensive stakeholder involvement, was adopted from the 
NASAA Model Senior Financial Protection Act. While it is substantially similar to the NASAA model, 
there are some differences. DFR has engaged in significant outreach to broker-dealer and investment 
adviser firms to educate them on the requirements of the bill and the process for complying with the 
mandatory reporting requirements.  
 
The reporting page is located at: 
https://dfr.oregon.gov/business/licensing/financial/securities/Pages/suspected-financial-
exploitation.aspx  

II. Errors and Omissions Coverage:   

Senate Bill 96 (2017), codified at ORS 59.175(5), ORS 59.225(1), OAR 441-175-0185 
Effective: January 1, 2018, Operative: July 31, 2018 
 
SB 96 amended ORS Chapter 59 to require certain broker-dealers and investment advisers with their 
principal place of business in Oregon obtain, and maintain, an errors and omissions insurance policy in 
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amount of at least $1 million as condition of state licensure. Broker-dealers that are covered by the federal 
Securities Exchange Act, and registered investment advisors with their principal office in another state are 
not required to obtain this E&O coverage. There are no other exemptions to the E&O coverage 
requirements.  
 
Following the effective date of the new law, DFR sent multiple written notifications to all licensee firms, 
followed-up with telephone contacts as needed.  Seven firm licenses were cancelled due to the failure to 
obtain and provide evidence of the E&O coverage to DFR, of which two firms have subsequently applied 
to become licensed again. As discussed above, DFR took one enforcement action to cancel the license of 
an investment adviser and investment adviser representative for failing to comply with the E&O 
requirements. See William J. Kuhn, dba Invest/O – Registered Investment Advisors, S-18-0111.  
 

III. Other Rule Changes:  
Broker-Dealer Salesperson Renewal Fee Raised: OAR 441-175-0002 was amended to increase the broker-
dealer salesperson license renewal fee from $50 to $60, which raises the fee to the national midpoint. All 
other investment adviser and broker-dealer fees remained the same in 2019. Effective: April 1, 2019.  

Reference to FINRA Series 66 Examinations: OAR 441-175-0120 and 0130 were amended to include 
reference to the new FINRA Series 66 exam, which allows a person to be licensed both as an investment 
adviser representative and a broker-dealer salesperson affiliated with a brokerage firm. While DFR was 
previously recognizing the Series 66 exam in issuing dual licenses, pursuant to OAR 441-175-0120(8) which 
allows consideration of an alternate equivalent examination, that rule requires an applicant to make a 
written request to the Director. The rule amendments remove that additional requirement and clarify 
DFR’s recognition of the Series 66 exam.  Effective: October 10, 2018.  

Securities Licensing & Examinations 
I. Licensing Statistics:   

 Oregon 
Resident 

Oregon Licenses 
Total 

Oregon Resident 
Percentage 

Broker-Dealer firms 18 1,565 1.2% 

Representatives 4,916 154,972 3.2% 

Investment Adviser firms 265 368 72.0% 

Representatives   3,452   5,721   60.3% 

Investment Adviser firms 
Notice Filed 

  123   1,608  7.6% 

  Source:  Central Registration Depository, “Jurisdiction Location Statistics Download” as of April 7, 2019. 

II. Examination Updates:  
Financial Reporting: 

In order to address the statutory obligation of reviewing the solvency of firms, financial reports are 
reviewed annually.  As a result of continued concerns about inconsistency in the reports, DFR created 
financial reporting forms to consistently collect information from firms.  The forms consist of a firm 
Balance Sheet and a Profit and Loss Statement.  The use of the DFR form eliminates the need for the firm 

https://dfr.oregon.gov/AdminOrders/enf-orders-2019/ORD_190401_InvestO_FinalOrder SSIG.pdf
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to hire a certified public accountant to provide compiled financial statements (which remains an option if 
the firm desires to hire a CPA).  Most firms have chosen to use the new form.  For the limited number of 
firms that have custody of customer cash or securities, an audit of firm financial documents is still required 
to be submitted to DFR. 

Desk Examinations: 

The desk exam is intended to resemble a field exam in the evaluation of the adviser firm, except that DFR 
staff do not visit the business location of the firm.  A review of custodian information to verify the practices 
of the adviser is also completed.  DFR Examiners use multiple factors to determine the appropriateness 
of a desk exam, including whether the firm is a new licensee, prior exam results and the time period since 
the most recent exam. 

Examination Common Issues & Deficiencies: 

1. Compliance with E&O Coverage Requirements 
2. Financial Reporting 
3. Advertising / Testimonials 
4. Registrations and Disclosures 
5. Suitability 
6. Fees and Compensation 

Securities Registration Updates  
Securities Registration Staff:  

Jason Ambers, Senior Securities Registration Analyst 
Jason.e.ambers@oregon.gov 
(503) 947-7059 
 
Heather Chase, Securities Registration Analyst 
Heather.a.chase@oregon.gov 
(503) 400-4820 
 
Sarah Dickey-LoBue, Securities Registration Support 
Sarah.k.dickey@oregon.gov 
(503) 947-7472 

I. Electronic Filings:   
In the last few years, DFR has begun accept securities registrations and other filings electronically, 
including 506, UIT, and Mutual Fund filings. Mutual Fund electronic submissions are currently accepted 
through Blue Express. DFR is also increasing its ability to accept large filings electronically, and is currently 
exploring options to utilizing a secure portal for this purpose. Questions regarding electronic filing options 
should be directed to the Securities Registration Support personnel identified above.  
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II. Rule 701 Compensatory Benefit Plan Exemption: 

OAR 441-035-0300, Effective: February 1, 2017 

Background and Federal Rule 701 

A compensatory benefit plan is any purchase, savings, option, bonus, stock appreciation, profit sharing, 
thrift, incentive, deferred compensation, pension, or similar plan. Under Rule 701 of the Securities Act of 
1933 (17 CFR § 230.701), certain compensatory benefit plans are exempt from registration with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission. That federal rule exempts from registration compensatory benefit 
plans established by certain issuers for the participation of their employees, including directors, partners, 
their family members, and – in some situations – the issuers’ advisors and consultants. Offers and sales 
to former employees are also exempt if those individuals were employed at the time the securities were 
offered. There are limits on the amount of securities that may be sold under Rule 701 (any amount of 
securities may be offered). Note that issuers subject to the reporting requirements of section 13 or 15(d) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are generally unable to rely on the exemption under Rule 701. 

Oregon previously required compensatory benefit plans to be registered in this state even if the securities 
were exempt under Rule 701. As of February 1, 2017, Oregon now exempts from registration the offer 
and sale of securities by an issuer pursuant to a compensatory benefit plan that is exempt under Rule 701. 
The issuer is required to notice file and pay a fee. See OAR 441-035-0300. 

Oregon notice filing and sales requirements 

Issuers selling securities pursuant to compensatory benefit plans under Rule 701 must submit a notice 
filing no later than 30 days after the initial offer and sale in Oregon. The Division created a form (number 
440-5180) for issuers to complete for purposes of notice filing.1 Issuers must also pay a fee of 1/10 of 1% 
of the amount offered in Oregon, with a minimum fee of $200 and maximum fee of $1,500. No license is 
required to sell securities sold under this exemption. 

The notice filing is effective upon filing, provided the filing and fee requirements are satisfied. The Division 
generally issues a written acknowledgement of receipt of the filing. Failure to file the notice timely does 
not preclude reliance on the exemption as long as the issuer files a notice and pays the maximum fee 
($1,500). Such a late filing must take place within 15 business days after the discovery of the failure to file 
or after the demand by the Director, whichever occurs first. 

Issuers must file an amended notice if there are material changes in the terms and conditions of the 
original notice or plan, including an increase in the aggregate amount of securities to be offered in Oregon, 
change in the type of securities, or change in the identity of the issuer or owner. Amended notices require 
the payment of a fee calculated as indicated above, less any amounts previously paid. The minimum 
amendment fee is $100. Antifraud, civil liability, and other provisions of the Oregon Securities Law apply 
to offers and sales under this exemption. 

                                                            
1 Available at https://dfr.oregon.gov/business/licensing/financial/Documents/5180.pdf. 
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Practical considerations and common questions 

Issuers should be aware of other Oregon exemptions on which they may rely instead of the compensatory 
benefit plan exemption. For example, some employers who have only a limited number of employees in 
Oregon may explore the exemption under ORS 59.035(12). Under that exemption, issuers who make sales 
to 10 or fewer Oregon employees in any consecutive 12-month period may be exempt from registration, 
provided no commissions are charged, no advertising is conducted, and the issuer does not have an 
application for registration or an effective registration of securities that is part of the same offering. Such 
issuers may rely on that exemption and thus avoid notice filing (and paying the fee) under OAR 441-035-
0300. Likewise, sales to accredited investors may be exempt under ORS 59.035(5), and those sales would 
not count toward the 10-person limitation under ORS 59.035(12). Most exemptions other than the 
compensatory benefit plan and a handful of others are self-executing and require no notice filing or 
payment of fees. See OAR 441-035-0005. 

The notice filing and fee are a one-time requirement. The notice filing does not expire. As noted, if there 
are material changes in the terms and conditions of the original notice or to the compensatory benefit 
plan, then the filing must be amended.  

When issuers do amend their notice filings, they need to pay a minimum fee of $100. The Division will 
subtract from the required fee any amounts previously paid, but a minimum payment of at least $100 is 
required. For example, if an issuer paid the maximum fee of $1,500 when it originally filed and 
subsequently amends the filing to increase the offering amount, then that issuer would need to pay a fee 
of $100 regardless of the amount by which the offering is increased.  

Issuers must list the maximum offering amount on their notice filing. Some issuers may indicate an 
amount higher than they expect to sell in order to avoid having to amend the filing and pay an additional 
fee in the future. Issuers may choose to file any amount and grant options at any time. Issuers should be 
sure to track the amount they sell and amend the filing as needed.  

Some issuers have expressed confusion about the maximum offering amount that they must list on the 
notice filing. For example, this can happen if the issuer is a start-up company and is compensating its 
employees with options. The employer may state that the options are currently worth nothing and 
indicate a maximum offering amount of $0. The Division has not accepted such filings. Securities have a 
value2 and that value must be calculated (or estimated) and indicated on the filing. Because federal Rule 
701 places limitations on the amount of securities that may be offered and sold under that exemption, 
issuers should have in place some method for calculating the value of the securities. Indeed, Rule 701(d)(3) 
includes rules regarding how issuers should calculate prices and amounts. The value should not be zero 
or treated as a gift. The securities have some intrinsic worth, such as book value or multiple of book value. 
See Securities Act Release No. 33-7645. If calculating the value is overly burdensome, the issuer may make 
a good faith estimate of the value. Options should be valued at the exercise price. 

                                                            
2 The SEC provides that all securities have an intrinsic value, even though for tax purposes they may be valued at $0. 
See Sec Act Rel 33-7645. The shares are given to an employee for compensatory purposes and not as a gift. See Loss 
& Seligman, Fundamentals of Securities Regulation, 4th Ed., page 279. Until we receive further guidance from the 
SEC, the shares should be valued based on the fair value based on an accepted standard or on a good faith estimate. 
See SEC Rule 703(d)(3).  
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The mere fact that an issuer is offering and selling securities under a compensatory benefit plan does not 
automatically mean the issuer may rely on OAR 441-035-0300. The plan must be exempt under Rule 701. 
Otherwise, the issuer must register its securities in Oregon (or rely on another exemption). Some issuers 
have registered their employee compensatory benefit plans with the Division because their plans are not 
exempt under Rule 701. 

Finally, it is worth noting that the employee benefit plan exemption under ORS 59.025(13) is wholly 
separate from the exemption under OAR 441-035-0300. ORS 59.025(13) exempts from registration: 

Any security issued in connection with an employee stock purchase, savings, pension, profit 
sharing or similar employee benefit plan, provided that: 

(a) The plan meets the requirements for qualification under section 401 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986; and 

(b) The terms of the plan are fair, just and equitable to employees under rules of the 
director. 

Some issuers may only look at the above language and believe their employee benefit plan is exempt 
under that statute. However, under OAR 441-025-0025, the Division has promulgated a rule clarifying that 
the terms of an employee benefit plan are only “fair, just, and equitable for the purposes of ORS 
59.025(13)(b) if it is a plan of an employee-owned enterprise.” Unless the issuer is an employee-owned 
enterprises, this exemption is not available. 

III. Oregon Intrastate Offering Exemption:  

Adopted in 2015, the Oregon Intrastate Offering (OIO) Exemption, exempts intrastate offerings from a 
merit review process if certain requirements are met. Individual investments were limited to $2,500, and 
the total offering was not to exceed $250,000. At the time the division’s goal was to establish a “ladder” 
for capital formation. The OIO was envisioned as the first rung in a “ladder” for capital formation. However 
in 2018, in response to the SEC’s adoption of Rule 147A,3 DFR amended it’s intrastate offering exemption 
to include greater protections for investors (such as escrow requirements) and more flexibility for issuers 
(greater investment limits with documentation of income and net worth). The rules relating to Oregon 
Intrastate Offerings can be found at OAR 441-065-0080 through 441-065-0190.  
 
The specific amendments, which were effective January 1, 2018, include:  

• All OIO offerings must be exempt under Rule 147A instead of Section 3(a)(11) and/or Rule 147 
thereunder. See OAR 441-035-0090(2). Offers can be made to anyone outside of Oregon. Sales 
must be made to persons in Oregon. See OAR 441-035-0090(3). 

• The duration of the offering is limited to 12 months from the date of the first sale. The offering 
may be extended for an additional 12 month period. See OAR 441-035-0090(4). 

• The total sold during any 12 month period is limited to $250,000. The maximum amount sold in 
reliance on the exemption is limited to $500,000. See OAR 441-035-0090(5). 

                                                            
3 Rule 147A allows for issuers with a principal place of business in a state to offer securities to out of state residents so long as 
sales are made only to in-state residents. See 17 CFR 230.147A. 
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• The amendments also increased the individual investor limits from $2,500 to $5,000. Allows for 
sales up to $10,000 per investor provided that the investor’s income exceeded $100,000 for the 
past two consecutive years and who reasonably expects their income exceed $100,000 for the 
current year, and who has a net worth not including their principal residence of $200,000. See 
OAR 441-035-0090(6). 

• OIO continues to be exempt under ORS 59.035. A filing must be made and a $200 must fee paid 
prior to the use of any advertisement, offer, or sale (whichever comes first.) See OAR 441-035-
0110(3). 

IV. Small Offering Abbreviated Registration (SOAR):  
 
As the second rung in the intrastate offering “ladder,” DFR further amended its rules to adopt a Small 
Offering Abbreviated Registration (SOAR), allowing for a quick registration – without audited financials – 
for Rule 504 offerings up to $1 million. The SOAR rules, effective May 1, 2018, are summarized as follows:  

• New registration for offerings less than $1,000,000. See OAR 441-065-0220(2). 

• Securities may be sold to accredited investors, permitted Oregon purchasers, or to natural 
persons that purchases not more than $5,000 in the offering. See OAR 441-065-0220(4). 

• New rule was designed to allow issuers that are relying on SEC Rule 504 to sell securities in 
Oregon. Rule 504 can in certain circumstances give greater flexibility to sellers than Rule 147A. 

• Unlike OIO, the securities must be registered before they can be offered and sold. Issuers are not 
required to meet with a Business Technical Service Provider. 

• Unlike the SCOR offering below, there is no prescribed form for the disclosure materials, but the 
Form U-7 is a good starting point. Insufficient disclosures could extend the review and comment 
period. See OAR 441-065-0220(1). 

• Audited financials are not required for equity offerings. See OAR 441-011-0040(3). Instead issuer 
should submit pro forma financial statements documenting when the issuer expects to be 
profitable. See OAR 441-065-0221(1)(f). 

• At least one person must be licensed as a salesperson to sell the securities. See OAR 441-065-
0180, OAR 441-065-0221(1)(d). 

• By the terms of the new rules, the Division will conduct its review of the completed application 
within 15 days of receipt of the application. See OAR 441-065-0223(2). 

• Merit review will be limited to the NASAA SOPs, with a particular focus on: 

Unequal voting rights (OAR 441-065-0220(4)) 

Flexibility regarding use of proceeds (OAR 441-065-0222(4)) 
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Sufficiency regarding sufficiency of funds (OAR 441-065-0222(5)) 

Selling Expenses (OAR 441-065-0140) 

• The rules allow for the solicitation of interests, the use of a red herring prospectus, and the use 
of general advertising. Permission of the Director is usually required. Contents of the advertising 
materials are limited. See OAR 441-065-0110. 

V. Small Corporate Offering Registration (SCOR): 
 

Additionally, DFR updated its SCOR Offerings, effective May 1, 2018, to:  

• Increase the aggregate offering limit to $5 million. See OAR 441-065-0225. 

• Only require audited financials for offerings greater than $1 million. OAR 441-011-0040.  

VI. Federal Crowdfunding Offering:  

OAR 441-065-1061, effective February 1, 2018, provides that issuers with a principal place of business in 
Oregon, or that sell a majority of the aggregate offering amount in Oregon in reliance on the federal 
crowdfunding exemption must file a Uniform Notice of Federal Crowdfunding Offering and a filing fee 
with the Director. OAR 441-065-1061.  

Oregon Innovation Hub  
DFR has created a framework for helping insurance, financial, and technology companies bring innovative 
products, services, and tools that DFR regulates to Oregonians.  

Insurance, financial, and technology companies are encouraged to connect with our Innovation Liaison to 
identify how new innovations can flourish within the state’s regulatory guidelines.  

Information and resources: https://dfr.oregon.gov/innovation    

I. Innovation Liaison:  
Aeron Teverbaugh, Senior Policy Advisor 
Aeron.Teverbaugh@oregon.gov 
(503) 947-7844 
 
The Innovation Liaison brings together stakeholders, experts, and thought leaders to improve the state’s 
ability to regulate insurance and financial products in a way that allows innovation to flourish in Oregon. 
The liaison: 

• Reviews innovation and regulatory requirements to balance risks with benefits, and understand how 
new innovations can be applied. 

• Connects fintech and insuretech firms – companies that leverage technology to create new business 
models, delivery channels, and automated decisions for financial services and insurance companies 
– to the division. 

• Encourages collaboration between businesses, innovators, licensees, and consumers. 
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• Identifies areas where the legal framework needs to be modernized to keep up with changes in 
technology. 

This helps DFR develop and maintain a regulatory structure that can adapt to innovation both now and in 
the future. 

***Upcoming event*** 

Oregon Innovation Forum 

June 7, 2019, Oregon Convention Center (Salem, OR) 

II. The Regulatory Sandbox:  

DFR encourages responsible testing of new business models, delivery channels, automated decisions, and 
partnerships. The regulatory sandbox: 

• Allows businesses to test products, services, and tools within a well-defined space for a limited 
duration. 

• Includes safeguards to minimize the results of failure and maintain the safety and soundness of 
Oregon’s financial system. 

• Provides support through collaborative regulatory requirements, approved by DFR. 

Sandbox guidelines detail the objective and principles, and provide guidance to the business entity about 
the application process. Once the trial period is complete, the business will be required to comply with all 
relevant regulatory requirements. 

If you have questions about Oregon’s innovation hub or sandbox, contact the Innovation Liaison (contact 
information above, or contact through https://dfr.oregon.gov/innovation). 

Education & Outreach  
Senior Safe: DFR partnered with a number of state and federal agencies, as well as other consumer 
protection groups, to present to Investment Adviser Representatives and Financial Planners about senior 
financial exploitation. The focus was on spotting the red flags and how to report suspected financial elder 
abuse. This is one of a number of outreach events that DFR has participated in relating to the new 
suspected elder abuse reporting requirements for securities professionals.   
 
Scam Jam: DFR continues to partner with the Oregon Department of Justice and Oregon AARP to present 
an ongoing series of events hosted throughout the state aimed at educating consumers, particularly 
seniors, about common scams and how to avoid them. Given the prior success of these events, they have 
recently increased in frequency and location.  
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I. SELECTED RECENT SECURITIES ENFORCEMENT CASES 
 

The following represent some of the larger, more significant or representative enforcement 
cases brought by or involving the Securities Division in 2018 and early 2019. PDF versions of 
these and other enforcement actions are available at: https://dfi.wa.gov/securities-enforcement-
actions/securities2018 and https://dfi.wa.gov/securities-enforcement-actions/securities2019. 

 
A. Cases Relating to Industry Professionals 

 
S-16-2093-17-CO01 – VI Capital Management, LLC and David Pointer – Consent Order 
 

On March 12, 2018, the Securities Division entered a Consent Order S-16-2093-17-CO01 
with VI Capital Management and David Pointer (“Consent Order”).  VI Capital Management 
(CRD # 145310) is registered as an investment adviser and David Pointer (CRD # 3275105) is 
registered as an investment adviser representative of VI Capital Management.  The Consent Order 
states that the Respondents failed to act in accordance with their fiduciary duty when they failed 
to fully and fairly disclose conflicts of interest and outside business activities and failed to timely 
distribute VI Capital’s year-end audited financial statements. The Consent Order further states that 
these acts violated RCW 21.20.020, RCW 21.20.110(1), WAC 460-24A-107(1), WAC 460-24A-
205, WAC 460-24A-220.   The Consent Order includes a $10,000 fine and costs of $2,500.  The 
Securities Division and Respondents agreed to a revocation of VI Capital’s investment adviser 
registration and Dave Pointer’s investment adviser representative registration and restriction of 
future registrations.  Respondents waived their right to request judicial review of the matter. 
 
S-16-2044-18-TO01 – Myung Ro – Final Order 
 

On May 2, 2018, the Securities Division entered an Entry of Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law and Final Order to Cease and Desist, to Impose a Fine, and to Charge Costs 
(“Final Order”) against Respondent Myung Ro. The Securities Division had previously issued a 
combined Summary Order against Respondent Myung Ro and his son Daeil Ro, a Washington-
based financial advisor. In 2002, Daeil and Myung Ro convinced one of Daeil Ro’s clients to 
invest $2 million in commercial properties in South Korea. Myung Ro diverted approximately 
$320,000 of the client’s $2 million to purchase a house in Kent for himself and Daeil Ro, and 
Daeil and Myung Ro conspired to hide the misappropriation of funds from the client until the 
client filed a lawsuit in 2014. The Final Order orders Myung Ro to cease and desist from violating 
RCW 21.20.010 and to pay a fine and costs. Myung Ro has a right to request judicial review of 
the Final Order. 
 
S-15-1675-18-FO01 - Kathleen Rapp; RealizedEquityServices LLC – Final Order 
 

On May 17, 2018, the Director of the Washington Department of Financial Institutions 
entered a Final Order against Kathleen Rapp and RealizedEquityServices LLC (“Respondents”). 
The Securities Division had previously alleged in Statement of Charges S-15-1675-16-SC01 that 
Respondents provided unregistered investment advice to multiple investors while residing in 
Washington State. The Securities Division further alleged that Respondents failed to enter into an 
advisory contract with investors which provided the amount of prepaid fees to be returned if the 
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contract were terminated and alleged that Respondents failed to deliver a brochure detailing all 
the fees that could be charged to a client and whether the fees were negotiable. The Final Order 
ordered Respondents to cease and desist from violations of RCW 21.20.020. The Final Order 
further ordered Respondents to pay a fine of $10,000 and to pay investigative costs of $22,500. 
The Respondents have the right to petition the superior court for judicial review of the Final Order.  
 
S-17-2305-17-CO01 – Lawson Financial Corporation and Robert Warren Lawson – Consent 
Order 
 

On June 20, 2018, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with Lawson 
Financial Corporation (“LFC”) and Robert Warren Lawson (“Lawson”). The Securities Division 
previously entered a Statement of Charges and Notice of Intent to Enter Order to Revoke 
Registration, and Deny Future Registrations (“Statement of Charges”) against LFC and Lawson 
on November 9, 2017. The Securities Division alleged in the Statement of Charges that the 
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) expelled LFC and Lawson from FINRA 
membership for committing securities fraud when they sold millions of dollars of municipal 
revenue bonds to LFC customers. The Statement of Charges further alleged that the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) censured LFC and barred Lawson from associations with any 
broker, dealer, and investment adviser for failing to conduct reasonable due diligence when 
underwriting bond offerings. Without admitting or denying the Securities Division’s allegations, 
LFC and Lawson have agreed that any broker-dealer, securities salesperson, investment adviser, 
or investment adviser representative registration applications LFC or Lawson may file in the future 
will be denied. LFC and Lawson waived their rights to a hearing and judicial review of this matter.  
 
S-17-2242-18-CO01 – Fan Kam Yip – Consent Order 
 

On June 25, 2018, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with Respondent 
Fan Kam Yip (CRD#4775948). The Securities Division alleged that, between April and November 
2013, Respondent engaged in dishonest or unethical business practices by selling away, concealing 
from his firm that he was selling away, and failing to disclose an outside business activity to his 
firm. Without admitting or denying the allegations, Respondent agreed to not apply for registration 
as a securities salesperson or investment adviser representative for six months from the date of the 
Consent Order, to pay a fine of $1,000, and to pay investigative costs of $500. Respondent waived 
his right to a hearing and judicial review of this matter.  
 
S-17-2327-18-CO01 -Mitchell R. Johnson – Consent Order 
 

On July 24, 2018, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with Respondent 
Mitchell R. Johnson.  

The Securities Division had previously entered a Statement of Charges against Mitchell R. 
Johnson, which alleges that Mitchell R. Johnson submitted false Form U4 filings with the 
Securities Division by failing to document the full scope of his work with CLA USA as well as a 
past regulatory action as a result of his work with CLA USA. The Statement of Charges further 
alleged that Mitchell R. Johnson failed to file an updated or amended Form U4 to document his 
ongoing work with CLA USA.   
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Without admitting or denying the Securities Division’s allegations, Mitchell R. Johnson 
agreed to cease and desist from violating the Securities Act of Washington, pay $1,500 in 
investigative costs, and pay $1,500 in fines. Mitchell R. Johnson further agreed to not apply to 
register as a securities broker-dealer, securities salesperson, investment adviser, or investment 
adviser representative in Washington. Mitchell R. Johnson waived his right to a hearing and 
judicial review of this matter.  
 
S-16-2092-17-CO01 - Moore Wealth Management, L.L.C. –Consent Order 
 

On August 1, 2018, the Securities Division entered a Consent Order S-16-2092-17-CO01 
with Moore Wealth Management, L.L.C. (“Consent Order”).  Moore Wealth Management (CRD 
# 143378) is registered as an investment adviser and Karl Moore (CRD # 274907) is its principal. 
The Consent Order states that Respondent failed to adopt and implement written policies and 
procedures reasonably designed to prevent violations of the Securities Act, the investment 
advisory rules, and the federal securities laws. The Consent Order further states that Respondent 
employed an unregistered investment adviser representative.  The Consent Order further states 
that these acts violated RCW 21.20.040 and WAC 460-24A-120. The Consent Order includes a 
$5,000 fine and costs of $1,500.  Respondent waived its right to request judicial review of the 
matter. 
 
S-16-2066-18-CO01 – Jack T. Jarrell and OAG Wealth Management, LLC, - Consent 
Order 
 

On August 31, 2018, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with 
Respondents Jack T. Jarrell and OAG Wealth Management, LLC. In the Consent Order, the 
Securities Division alleged that Jack T. Jarrell and OAG Wealth Management, LLC violated the 
Securities Act by offering and selling unregistered securities in the form of Providence Financial, 
Inc. and Providence Fixed Income Fund, LLC promissory notes, acted as a broker dealer or 
securities salesperson while not registered to do so, and omitted to state material facts in 
connection with the offer and sale of securities. Without admitting or denying the Securities 
Division’s allegations, Respondents agreed to cease and desist from violations of RCW 21.20.140, 
the registration of securities provision, RCW 21.20.040, the salesperson and broker-dealer 
registration provision, and RCW 21.20.010 the anti-fraud provision of the Securities Act. 
Respondents are permanently barred from registering as a broker-dealer and investment adviser. 
Respondent Jack Jarrell is permanently barred from registering as securities salesperson and 
investment adviser representative. Respondents waived their right to a hearing and judicial review 
of the matter. 
 
S-17-2216-18-CO01 - James Parker Billington, Forte Investment Advisors LLC – Consent 
Order 
 

On December 4, 2018, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with James 
Parker Billington (“Billington”) and Forte Investment Advisors LLC (“Forte”) (collectively 
“Respondents”). In the Consent Order, the Securities Division alleged that Billington sold 
unregistered securities, acted as an unregistered securities salesperson, and made material 
misrepresentations or omissions in connection with the offer and sale of three private placements. 
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The Securities Division also alleged that Forte, a registered investment adviser, and Billington, a 
registered investment adviser representative, made false filings with the Securities Division and 
Billington failed to file amendments to required filings with the Securities Division. Without 
admitting or denying the allegations, Respondents agreed to cease and desist from violating the 
Securities Act of Washington. Respondents also agreed that their registrations would be revoked 
and that any future applications for registrations would be denied. Billington agreed to pay a fine 
of $20,000 and investigative costs of $5,000. The Respondents each waived their right to a hearing 
and judicial review of this matter.  

 
S-17-2209-18-CO01 -Rennaisat Capital, Inc f/k/a Total Asset Management and Total Asset 
Performance and David Roskoph – Consent Order 
 

On December 4, 2018, the Securities Division entered Consent Order S-17-2209-18-CO01 
with Rennaisat Capital, Inc (CRD 117289) and David Roskoph (CRD 1692269) (“Consent 
Order”).  The Consent Order stated that Rennaisat violated the Securities Act by failing to maintain 
its minimum financial requirement of $35,000; failing to keep a GAAP compliant balance sheet; 
and failing to deliver its 2015, 2016, and 2017 fund audits for the private fund it managed, Horse 
Head LP, within 120 days of year-end. In the Consent Order Respondents agreed that they would 
maintain the required minimum financial requirements, would maintain a bond, and would 
maintain and prepare all financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principals.  Respondents agreed that their registrations should be limited such that they may not 
be an officer, director, owner, manager, or general partner of any private offerings.  Respondents 
further agreed that for ten years from the entry of the Consent Order they would not to have 
custody of client funds or securities except that Respondents may directly deduct its fees from 
client accounts.  Respondents agreed to pay a fine and costs.  The fine and costs were reduced due 
to their financial condition.  Respondents waived their right to a hearing and judicial review of the 
matter. 
 
S-18-2474-18-CO01 - LPL Financial LLC – Consent Order 
 

On March 4, 2019, the Securities Division entered a Consent Order with LPL Financial 
LLC (“LPL Financial”). In connection with an investigation conducted by a multi-state task force 
coordinated among members of the North American Securities Administrators Association, the 
Securities Division alleged that from 2006 to 2018, LPL Financial offered and sold unregistered, 
non-exempt securities in violation of RCW 21.20.140; failed to reasonably supervise its agents, 
staff, and employees to prevent the sale of unregistered, non-exempt securities; and failed to 
maintain books and records necessary to ensure full and proper compliance with state securities 
laws, rules, and regulations in violation of RCW 21.20.100. LPL Financial has agreed to make 
customer remediation, perform a comprehensive review of its policies and procedures, and 
authorize the Securities Division to conduct audits, inspections, or examinations of LPL Financial 
to ensure compliance with this order. LPL Financial neither admitted nor denied the allegations, 
but agreed to cease and desist from violations of RCW 21.20.140 and 21.20.100. LPL Financial 
agreed to pay a fine of $499,000. LPL Financial waived its right to a hearing and to judicial review 
of the matter. 
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S-15-1626-16-CO01 - Josh J. Murakami; GoTradeSignals, – Consent Order 
 
On March 7, 2019, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with Josh J. Murakami 
and GoTradeSignals (collectively “Respondents”).  The Securities Division had previously 
entered a Statement of Charges and Notice of Intent to Issue an Order to Cease and Desist, Impose 
Fines, and Charge Costs against the Respondents.  The Statement of Charges alleged that the 
Respondents disseminated a subscription-based newsletter with specific options trading 
instructions to investors with auto-traded accounts.  The Statement of Charges further alleged that 
Murakami failed to fully disclose his history of prior enforcement actions to all newsletter 
subscribers.  The Statement of Charges alleged that the Respondents acted as an unregistered 
investment adviser and investment adviser representative and violated the investment adviser anti-
fraud provision of the Securities Act of Washington.  The Respondents neither admitted nor denied 
the allegations, but agreed to cease and desist from violating the Securities Act of Washington and 
to pay $3,000 in investigative costs.  The Respondents waived their right to a hearing and to 
judicial review of the matter.   

 
B. Cases Relating to Offerings 

 
S-14-1479-17-CO01 - Robert Thomas Kelly; Better Fuel Group NW, Inc. – Consent Order 
 
S-14-1479-18-FO01 -Timothy Dion Wetzel; Wetzel Oil Inc.; Wetzel Energy Technology 
Company Inc.; and Better Fuel North West, A WETCO Company, Inc.;  – Final Order 

 
On May 9, 2018, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with Robert Thomas 

Kelly and Better Fuel Group NW, Inc. (“Respondents”). The Securities Division had previously 
entered a Statement of Charges and Notice of Intent to Enter Order to Cease and Desist and To 
Impose Civil Penalties against Respondents on June 1, 2017 (“Statement of Charges”). In the 
Statement of Charges, the Securities Division alleged that Robert Thomas Kelly sold at least 
$229,750 in stock and promissory notes in two other respondent entities. Furthermore, the 
Statement of Charges alleged that Respondents sold at least $422,000 in business opportunities. 
The Statement of Charges alleged that Respondents sold these investments touting a purported 
renewable fuel that another respondent, Timothy Dion Wetzel, claimed to have invented as a 
means of attracting investors. Almost all, if not all, of these investors have lost their investments. 
The Securities Division alleged that the offer and sale of these investments were in violation of 
the registration and anti-fraud sections of the Securities Act of Washington and the Business 
Opportunity Fraud Act of Washington (collectively, the “Acts”). Without admitting or denying 
the Securities Divisions’ allegations, Respondents have agreed to cease and desist from violating 
the Acts.  In addition, Robert Thomas Kelly has agreed to pay a fine of $3,500 and investigative 
costs of $1,500. Respondents waived their right to a hearing and judicial review of this matter. 

On August 1, 2018, the Director of the Washington Department of Financial Institutions 
entered a Final Order against Timothy Dion Wetzel (“Wetzel”); Wetzel Oil Inc. (“WOI”); Wetzel 
Energy Technology Company Inc. (“WETCO”); and Better Fuel North West, A WETCO 
Company, Inc. (“BFNW”) (collectively, “Respondents”). In the Final Order, the Securities 
Division found that Respondents violated RCW 21.20.010 and RCW 21.20.140, the anti-fraud and 
registration sections, respectively, of the Securities Act of Washington. It also found that Wetzel 
violated RCW 21.20.040 by selling securities while unregistered as a securities salesperson or 
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broker-dealer in Washington. It further found that Wetzel and WETCO violated RCW 19.110.050, 
RCW 19.110.070, and RCW 19.110.120, the registration, disclosure, and anti-fraud sections, 
respectively, of the Business Opportunity Fraud Act of Washington. The Final Order ordered 
Respondents to cease and desist from any further violations of these provisions of the Securities 
Act and Business Opportunity Fraud Act.  

The Final Order also ordered Respondents to pay the following fines and costs: (1) Wetzel 
and WETCO are jointly and severally liable for a fine of $140,000 for violating the Securities Act 
in connection with the offer and sale of WETCO stock and promissory notes, and for $20,000 in  
investigative costs; (2) Wetzel and BFNW are jointly and severally liable for a fine of $80,000 in 
connection with the offer and sale of BFNW stock, and for $10,000 in investigative costs; and (3) 
Wetzel is liable for an additional fine of $80,000 for violating the Securities Act in connection 
with the offer and sale of WOI stock, and for $20,000 in investigative costs. The Respondents 
have the right to petition the superior court for judicial review of the Final Order. 
 
S-15-1783-18-FO01 - Roanan Corporation, Walter A. Moa Jr., James E. Fritz – Final 
Order 
 

On May 17, 2018, the Department of Financial Institutions entered a Final Decision & 
Order (“Order”) against Respondents, Walter A. Moa Jr. (“Moa”), James E. Fritz (“Fritz”), and 
Roanan Corporation.  The Order found that Respondents offered and sold approximately $775,000 
worth of promissory note investments to approximately 40 investors.  The Order found that Moa 
and Fritz violated RCW 21.20.040, the securities salesperson registration section of the Securities 
Act of Washington.  The Order found that each of the Respondents violated RCW 21.20.140, the 
securities registration section, and RCW 21.20.010, the anti-fraud section.  The Order imposed a 
fine of $25,000 and costs of $5,000 on Moa and a fine of $5,000 and costs of $2,500 on Fritz.  The 
Respondents each have the right to petition the superior court for judicial review of the order. 
 
S-16-1868-18-CO01 – Sells, Robin – Consent Order 
 
S-16-1868-18-CO02 – Anderson, Scott – Consent Order 
 
S-16-1868-18-CO03 – Pacific Watercraft Group, Inc – Consent Order 
 

On August 6, 2018, the Securities Division entered into Consent Orders with Respondents 
Pacific Watercraft Group, Inc., Scott E. Anderson, and Robin Lynn Sells (“Respondents”). The 
Securities Division had previously entered a Statement of Charges against Respondents alleging 
that they offered and sold $90,000 of shares in Pacific Watercraft Group, Inc. to three investors in 
violation of the Securities Act of Washington (“the Act”). Without admitting or denying the 
allegations, Pacific Watercraft Group, Inc. agreed to cease and desist from violating a registration 
provision of the Act, to pay a fine of $2,500, and to pay investigative costs of $3,000; Scott E. 
Anderson agreed to cease and desist from violating registration provisions of the Act, and to pay 
a fine of $2,500; and Robin Lynn Sells agreed to cease and desist from violating registration and 
anti-fraud provisions of the Act, and to pay a fine of $5,000. Respondents each waived their right 
to a hearing and judicial review of this matter.   
 



Chapter 2B—Washington Securities Developments

 2B–739th Annual Northwest Securities Institute: New Adventures in Securities Law

S-16-2106-18-FO01 – Advisory Services Group, Inc, Julia Williams – Final Order 
 

On August 8, 2018, the Department of Financial Institutions entered a Final Decision & 
Order (“Order”) against Respondents, Advisory Services Group, Inc. and Julia Williams 
(“Respondents”).  The Order found that the Respondents offered and sold more than $150,000 of 
investments to three investors.  The Order found that the Respondents violated RCW 21.20.010, 
the anti-fraud section of the Securities Act of Washington. The Order imposed a fine of $20,000 
and costs of $2,500.  The Respondents each have the right to petition the superior court for judicial 
review of the order. 

 
S-17-2359-18-CO01 – Somatika Inc; William Enersen – Consent Order 
 

On September 13, 2018, the Securities Division entered a Consent Order with Somatika 
Incorporated (“Somatika”) and William D. Enersen (“Enersen”).  The Securities Division had 
previously entered a Statement of Charges against Somatika and Enersen.  In the Statement of 
Charges, the Securities Division alleged that from 2014 to 2016, Somatika, Enersen, and Laura E. 
Davidson (“Davidson”) had sold approximately $470,000 worth of unregistered Somatika stock 
to approximately 20 investors, including at least 3 Washington investors.  The Statement of 
Charges alleged that Enersen and Davidson were both unregistered broker-dealers and/or 
securities salespersons and that Somatika, Enersen, and Davidson had violated the anti-fraud 
provision of the Securities Act of Washington.  

Without admitting or denying the Securities Division’s allegations, Somatika and Enersen 
agreed to cease and desist from violating the Securities Act.  Enersen paid $1,000 in fines and 
$500 of investigative costs.  Somatika and Enersen waived their right to a hearing and to judicial 
review of the matter. 
 
S-16-2105-18-FO01 - Mark Allan Miller – Final Order 
 

On October 22, 2018, the Securities Division entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 
Law and a Final Order to Cease and Desist, to Deny Future Registrations, to Impose a Fine, and 
to Charge Costs (“Final Order”) against Respondent Mark Allan Miller (“Miller”), CRD 
#4260127. The Securities Division previously entered a Statement of Charges against Miller on 
January 23, 2018. Miller requested a hearing on the Statement of Charges, but withdrew his request 
after he was convicted of first-degree theft for defrauding an elderly client. The Securities Division 
will therefore adopt as final its Tentative Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as detailed in 
the Statement of Charges, will permanently prohibit Miller from registration with the Securities 
Division as an investment adviser, investment adviser representative, securities salesperson, or 
broker-dealer, and will impose a fine and charge Miller the costs of investigation. Miller has a 
right to request judicial review of the Final Order. 
 
S-17-2185-18-CO01 - Gregory D. Mrachek, - Consent Order 
 

On October 23, 2018, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with Gregory 
Mrachek.  The Securities Division had previously entered a Statement of Charges and Notice of 
Intent to Issue an Order to Cease and Desist, Impose Fines, and Charge Costs against InfoScape 
Corporation and Gregory D. Mrachek.  The Statement of Charges alleged that the Respondents 
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raised over $650,000 from selling a fourth series of convertible promissory notes, including to at 
least 12 Washington residents.  The Statement of Charges further alleged that Respondent 
Mrachek acted as an unregistered broker-dealer and/or securities salesperson, and that the offer 
and sale of securities by the Respondents violated the anti-fraud provision of the Securities Act of 
Washington.  Respondent Mrachek neither admitted nor denied the allegations, but agreed to cease 
and desist from violating the Securities Act of Washington.  Respondent Mrachek agreed to pay a 
$2,000 fine and $1,000 in investigative costs.  Respondent Mrachek waived his right to a hearing 
and to judicial review of the matter.   
 
S-17-2224-18-CO01 – Jerry A. Scholten, ICON Organics Inc.  – Consent Order 
 

On November 13, 2018, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with Jerry 
A. Scholten (“Scholten”) and ICON Organics Inc. (collectively “Respondents”).  The Securities 
Division previously entered a Statement of Charges and Notice of Intent to Enter Order to Cease 
and Desist, to Impose a Fine, and to Charge Costs against the Respondents and others.  The 
Statement of Charges alleged that the Respondents offered and sold investments relating to the 
sale of an organic fungicide and fertilizer.  The Statement of Charges alleged that the Respondents 
violated RCW 21.20.010, the anti-fraud provision of the Securities Act of Washington.  Without 
admitting or denying the allegations, the Respondents agreed to cease and desist from violating 
RCW 21.20.010.  The Consent Order included a $5,000 fine against Scholten.  The Respondents 
each waived their right to a hearing and to judicial review of this matter. 

 
S-16-2045-18-FO02 – Capital Energy Group LLC; Cap E Oil Fund 1, LLP; Cap E Oil 
Fund II, LLC; Cap E Oil Fund III, LLC; and Cap E Oil Fund V, LLC – Final Order 
 
S-16-2045-18-FO01 - Frank August - Final Order 
 

On November 13, 2018, the Securities Division entered a Final Order against Capital 
Energy Group LLC; Cap E Oil Fund 1, LLP; Cap E Oil Fund II, LLC; Cap E Oil Fund III, LLC; 
and Cap E Oil Fund V, LLC (collectively, “Respondents”). The Securities Division had previously 
entered a Statement of Charges against the Respondents alleging that the Respondents violated the 
anti-fraud provisions of the Securities Act of Washington when they offered and sold more than 
$400,000 worth of oil and gas investments to three Washington investors. The Final Order orders 
the Respondents to cease and desist from violating the Securities Act of Washington, to reimburse 
the Securities Division for its investigative costs, and to pay a fine. The Respondents have a right 
to seek judicial review of the Final Order.  

On November 13, 2018, 2018, the Securities Division entered a Final Order against Frank 
August (“August”) in the same matter. The Final Order orders August to cease and desist from 
violating the Securities Act of Washington, to reimburse the Securities Division for its 
investigative costs, and to pay a fine.  August has a right to seek judicial review of the Final Order. 
 
S-17-2224-18-SC01 - Kerry L. SimsHauser, Aardvark Organics Inc., Aqua Vita, LLC – 
Final Order  
 

On November 9, 2018, the Securities Division entered a Final Order against Kerry L. 
SimsHauser (“SimsHauser”), Aardvark Organics Inc., and Aqua Vita, LLC (collectively 
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“Respondents”).  The Securities Division previously entered a Statement of Charges and Notice 
of Intent to Enter Order to Cease and Desist, to Impose a Fine, and to Charge Costs against the 
Respondents and others.  The Statement of Charges alleged that the Respondents offered and sold 
investments relating to the sale of an organic antibiotic and an organic fungicide and fertilizer.  
The Statement of Charges alleged that the Respondents violated RCW 21.20.010, the anti-fraud 
provision, and RCW 21.20.140, the securities registration provision, of the Securities Act of 
Washington.  Because SimsHauser did not request a hearing, the Securities Division entered a 
Final Order against Respondents to cease and desist from violating RCW 21.20.010, RCW 
21.20.040, and RCW 21.20.140.  The Final Order also imposed a $50,000 fine and $10,000 of 
investigative costs against SimsHauser.  The Respondents each waived their right to a hearing and 
to judicial review of this matter. 
 
S-18-2404-18-CO01 - Bayhill Advisors, Inc. and Michael Tumer – Consent Order 
 

On November 9, 2018, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with 
Respondents Bayhill Advisors, Inc. and Michael Tumer. In the Consent Order, the Securities 
Division alleged that the Respondents violated the Securities Act by acting as an investment 
adviser and/or an investment adviser representative while not registered to do so. Without 
admitting or denying the Securities Division’s allegations, Respondents agreed to cease and desist 
from violations of RCW 21.20.040, the registration provisions of the Securities Act. Respondents 
Bayhill Advisors, Inc. and Michael Tumer agreed to pay a fine of $20,000. Respondents Bayhill 
Advisors, Inc. and Michael Tumer waived their right to a hearing and judicial review of the matter. 

 
S-16-2066-18-CO02 - David Stryzewski – Consent Order 
 

On December 6, 2018, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with 
Respondent David Stryzewski. In the Consent Order, the Securities Division alleged that David 
Stryzewski violated the Securities Act by offering and selling unregistered securities in the form 
of Providence Financial, Inc. and Providence Fixed Income Fund, LLC promissory notes, acted 
as a broker dealer or securities salesperson while not registered to do so, and omitted to state 
material facts in connection with the offer and sale of securities. Without admitting or denying the 
Securities Division’s allegations, Respondent agreed to cease and desist from violations of RCW 
21.20.140, the registration of securities provision, RCW 21.20.040, the salesperson and broker-
dealer registration provision, and RCW 21.20.010 the anti-fraud provision of the Securities Act. 
Respondent David Stryzewski paid a fine of $10,000 and investigative costs of $7,000. 
Respondent David Stryzewski waived his right to a hearing and judicial review of the matter. 
 
S-17-2257-19-FO01 - AlderEgo Holdings, Inc.; Carfield Family, Inc. d/b/a AlderEgo 
Wholesale; Jonathan R. Carfield- Final Order 
 

On January 17, 2019, the Securities Division entered a Final Order to Cease and Desist, 
Impose Fines, and Charge Costs against AlderEgo Holdings, Inc., Carfield Family, Inc. d/b/a 
AlderEgo Wholesale, and Jonathan R. Carfield (collectively “Respondents”).  The Securities 
Division previously entered a Statement of Charges against the Respondents on October 3, 2018.  
The Statement of Charges alleged that Respondent Carfield raised over $150,000 from selling a 
promissory note and stock in his marijuana businesses to five investors, including four Washington 
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residents.  The Statement of Charges further alleged that Respondent Carfield acted as an 
unregistered broker-dealer and/or securities salesperson, and that the offer and sale of securities 
by the Respondents violated the anti-fraud provision of the Securities Act of Washington.  The 
Securities Division orders the Respondents to cease and desist from violating the Securities Act 
of Washington, and to pay fines and investigative costs.  The Respondents have the right to request 
judicial review of this matter. 
 
S-17-2137-18-CO01 - Shaun Brog; Ryan Brog; Kenyon Capital Investment Holdings LLC 
– Consent Order 
 

On January 30, 2019, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with 
Respondents Shaun Brog (CRD #5000205), Ryan Brog (CRD #5798126), and Kenyon Capital 
Investment Holdings LLC (“Kenyon Capital”). The Securities Division had previously entered a 
Statement of Charges against Shaun Brog, Ryan Brog, and Kenyon Capital. In the Statement of 
Charges, the Securities Division alleges that Shaun Brog, Ryan Brog, and Kenyon Capital 
(collectively “the Respondents”) violated the Securities Act of Washington and regulations 
thereunder in the course of the offer and sale of interests in Kenyon Capital, and subsequently in 
the administration of Kenyon Capital. Without admitting or denying the Securities Division’s 
allegations, Shaun Brog, Ryan Brog, and Kenyon Capital agreed to cease and desist from violating 
the Securities Act, and to pay a fine of $20,000 and investigative costs of $5,000. Shaun Brog, 
Ryan Brog, and Kenyon Capital waived their rights to a hearing and to judicial review of this 
matter. 

 
S-17-2185-18-CO02 - InfoScape- Consent Order 
 

On February 5, 2019, the Securities Division entered into a Consent Order with InfoScape 
Corporation.  The Securities Division had previously entered a Statement of Charges and Notice 
of Intent to Issue an Order to Cease and Desist, Impose Fines, and Charge Costs against InfoScape 
Corporation and Gregory D. Mrachek.  The Statement of Charges alleged that the Respondents 
raised over $650,000 from selling a fourth series of convertible promissory notes, including to at 
least 12 Washington residents.  The Statement of Charges further alleged that Respondent 
Mrachek acted as an unregistered broker-dealer and/or securities salesperson, and that the offer 
and sale of securities by the Respondents violated the anti-fraud provision of the Securities Act of 
Washington.  InfoScape Corporation neither admitted nor denied the allegations, but agreed to 
cease and desist from violating the Securities Act of Washington.  InfoScape Corporation waived 
its right to a hearing and to judicial review of the matter.   
 
S-18-2540-19-FO01 - Choice E-Credit LLC – Final Order 
 

On March 13, 2019, the Securities Division entered a Final Order against the Respondent, 
Choice E-Credit LLC (“Choice”).  The Securities Division had previously entered a Statement of 
Charges against Choice, alleging that from May 2018 to October 2018, Choice solicited 
investments by operating an online lending platform that would supposedly match investors with 
borrowers.  The investments were promoted in the United States and in foreign countries through 
online videos and social media.  The Final Order orders Choice to cease and desist from violating 
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the securities registration and the anti-fraud provisions of the Securities Act of Washington.  The 
Respondent has the right to request judicial review of the Final Order. 

 
C. Criminal Cases 

 
Richard Zieske 
 

On May 14, 2018, U.S. District Court Judge James Robart in Seattle sentenced Richard 
Zieske to 8 years imprisonment, after he was convicted by a jury of five counts of wire fraud, one 
count of securities fraud, and two counts of aggravated identity theft.   

Zieske lied to investors about his criminal past and stole a disabled man’s retirement 
savings.  In July 2002, DFI entered a cease and desist order against Zieske for violations of the 
Securities Act of Washington.  In 2005, Zieske was sentenced to 41 months after pleading guilty 
to mail fraud, securities fraud, and wire fraud charges for a scheme in which he defrauded members 
of his church out of over $1.2 million by posing as an investment adviser.   

According to records filed in the case and testimony at his February 2018 trial, Zieske 
overheard a member of his Renton martial arts studio talking about his 401k account. The victim 
had been forced to retire and limit his martial arts due to a degenerative neck condition. Zieske 
convinced the victim to allow him to manage more than $95,000 in retirement funds, promising 
big returns. Instead, Zieske used the money to purchase a limited edition Harley Davidson 
motorcycle, pay for liposuction surgery, and finance a luxury SUV.  The Securities Division 
provided assistance to the FBI, who investigated the case.   
 
Chad Smith 
 

On November 7, 2018, Chad Christopher Smith (“Smith”) of Seattle, Washington was 
sentenced in King County Superior Court to 55 months imprisonment.  On February 22, 2018, 
Smith pleaded guilty to 15 counts of securities fraud.  Between 2011 and 2016, Smith raised 
$600,000 from 20 friends and acquaintances by telling them that he had access to a senior member 
of Goldman Sachs who could sell him pre-IPO shares in well-known public companies including 
GoPro, Uber, and Alibaba at prices that were significantly less than they would sell for on the 
market.  Bank records revealed that Smith used the funds raised to repay early investors and pay 
his personal expenses, including his rent, and for travel, entertainment, and restaurants.   Smith 
was ordered to pay restitution of $401,900.  The case was investigated by the Securities Division 
and prosecuted by the King County Prosecuting Attorney’s Office.   
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II. RECENT RULE MAKING INITIATIVES 
 

Recent rulemaking activity by the Securities Division is summarized below. Rulemaking 
documents may be found on our website at: https://dfi.wa.gov/securities/rulemaking. 

 
A. Rule Makings in Progress 

 
1. Proposed Amendments to the Municipal Securities Ratings Exemption 

 
On March 19, 2019, the Securities Division filed a Notice of Proposed Rule Making (Form 

CR-102), proposing to amend WAC 460-42A-030, which provides that certain municipal 
securities are exempt from registration under RCW 21.20.310(1) if they receive requisite ratings 
from designated ratings agencies, to correct an inadvertent drafting error. See Wash. St. Reg. 19-
07-075. 

In 2014, the Securities Division amended WAC 460-10A-160 to update references to 
securities manuals for the purpose of the “manual exemption.” As part of this update, Moody’s 
Investors Service was replaced with a reference to Mergent’s Investor Service to reflect current 
publishers of securities manuals. In a later update to our rules in 2017 to remove references to 
discontinued securities manuals, the Securities Division inadvertently replaced a reference to 
Moody’s Investors Service with a reference to Mergent, Inc. in WAC 460-42A-030, the exemption 
for municipal securities that receive requisite ratings from designated ratings agencies. However, 
Mergent, Inc. does not publish such municipal securities ratings, while Moody’s Investors Service, 
Inc. is a well-known ratings organization.  

The Securities Division had no intent to disqualify offerings with the requisite rating from 
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. from relying on the municipal securities exemption in WAC 460-
42A-030.  The Securities Division has proposed to amend the exemption accordingly.  

Beyond the 2017 drafting error, WAC 460-42A-030 has not been significantly amended 
since 1989. Accordingly, the Securities Division has also proposed to amend WAC 460-42A-030 
to recognize equivalent ratings by Fitch Ratings, a nationally recognized statistical rating 
organization that also issues credit ratings to municipal securities. 

 
2. Preproposal Statement of Inquiry Concerning Electronic Filing of Rule 506 

Notices Through EFD 
 

On March 6, 2018, the Securities Division filed a Preproposal Statement of Inquiry (Form 
CR-101) to begin the process to mandate that notice filings concerning securities offerings exempt 
under Rule 506 of federal Regulation D be made through the North American Securities 
Administrators Association’s online Electronic Filing Depository (“EFD”) system. See Wash. St. 
Reg. 18-06-076. 

Rule 506 of Regulation D provides an exemption from securities registration under the 
federal Securities Act of 1933. Federal law preempts state laws that would otherwise require 
registration of these securities offerings, but states are permitted to require notice filings in 
connection with offerings in their own jurisdiction. Notice filings on Form D are required for these 
offerings in Washington pursuant to RCW 21.20.327(2) and WAC 460-44-503. 

EFD, an online system developed by NASAA, allows an issuer to submit electronic notices 
on Form D concerning Rule 506 offerings to state securities regulators and pay related fees. EFD 
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also enables the public to search and view, free of charge, Form D filings made with state securities 
regulators thorough EFD. In 2017, the EFD System processed 69,812 total Form D notice filings 
on behalf of all NASAA jurisdictions utilizing the system. 

Although the Securities Division currently accepts notice filings through EFD as well as 
paper submission, paper submission require the Securities Division to manually process and scan 
the notice filings, which may result in delays to the issuers in receiving an acknowledgement of 
its filing or any follow-up correspondence. Requiring issuers to use the EFD system to file Rule 
506 notice filings would eliminate inefficiencies and result in a streamlined process for both 
issuers and the Securities Division. 

As part of the rulemaking process, the Securities Division conducted a survey to determine 
the economic impact of the rulemaking on businesses that may submit or assist with these filings. 
The small business economic impact survey was circulated on March 5, 2019, with responses due 
April 4, 2019. The Securities Division is currently assessing the results of the survey.  

 
B. Adopted Rules 

 
1. Adoption of Rule Concerning Investment Adviser and Broker-Dealer Fees 

 
On August 13, 2018, the Securities Division filed a Rule-Making Order (Form CR-103) 

adopting a final rule in new Chapter 460-05A WAC to implement a $10 fee increase for initial 
and renewal applications for registration as an investment adviser, broker-dealer, investment 
adviser representative, and securities salesperson, in addition to the initial and renewal notice filing 
fees for federal covered advisers, to defray the costs of administering the Securities Act of 
Washington, Chapter 21.20 RCW. See Wash. St. Reg. 18-17-078. 

On March 22, 2018, Governor Jay Inslee signed into law Senate Bill 6024, which 
authorizes the Director of the Department of Financial Institutions to increase the fees set forth in 
RCW 21.20.340 upward by no more than fifteen dollars upon a finding that a fee increase is 
necessary to defray the costs of administering the Securities Act of Washington. The Securities 
Division’s annual expenditures have exceeded its revenues cumulatively by approximately $14.4 
million since fiscal year 2004. The Securities Division’s yearly deficits are projected to continue 
through fiscal year 2019, resulting in an approximate $7.5 million deficit in fund balance for the 
Division, far below the recommended minimum fund balance of $1.6 million.  

The fee increase will correct the deficiencies in revenues that have persisted since fiscal 
year 2004 and the full amount of the fee increase will be allocated to the Securities Division. The 
rule became effective on January 1, 2019. 

 
2. Amendments to Investment Adviser Rules 

 
On January 18, 2019, the Securities Division filed a Rule-Making Order (Form CR-103) 

adopting final amendments to the investment adviser rules in Chapter 460-24A WAC. See 19-03-
133.  
 The amendments update various provisions of the investment adviser rules, including the 
rules regarding examination and registration requirements, advertisements, custody, advisory 
contracts, performance compensation arrangements, books and records, and unethical business 
practices. The amendments add new rule sections or subsections addressing physical and 
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cybersecurity policies and procedures, code of ethics, business continuity and succession plans, 
and material nonpublic information policies and procedures. Notably, the adopted rules: 
 

• Amend the definitions section at WAC 460-24A-005 to alphabetize the section; add 
definitions for “assignment,” “chief compliance officer,” and “supervised person”; and 
revise the definitions of “advertisement,” “custody,” “CRD,” “IARD,” “qualified 
custodian,” and “qualifying private fund”; 

 
• Revise WAC 460-24A-040 to clarify that additional combinations of terms may be deemed 

similar to “financial planner” and “investment counselor” for the purposes of 
RCW 21.20.040(4); 

 
• Revise WAC 460-24A-047, -060, and -205 to specify that certain application materials 

must be filed by email or through a future state electronic filing system; 
 

• Revise the examination requirements at WAC 460-24A-050 to incorporate FINRA’s new 
Securities Industry Essentials Exam; 

 
• Revise the registration requirements at WAC 460-24A-050 and -205 to require investment 

advisers to file a complete list of all custodians of the adviser’s separately managed 
accounts; 

 
• Revise the renewal application provisions at WAC 460-24A-057 to specify that the 

deadline for renewal applications is the deadline set by FINRA; 
 

• Revise the private fund adviser exemption at WAC 460-24A-071 and the venture capital 
fund adviser exemption at WAC 460-24A-072 to remove a reference to disqualification 
under Rule 505 and replace it with a reference to disqualification under Rule 506; 

 
• Revise the advertising rule at WAC 460-24A-100 to specify that it applies to written client 

communications, and to codify Securities Act Interpretive Statement 21, which concerned 
advertising of past performance results; 

 
• Revise the custody requirements at WAC 460-24A-105 to prohibit advisers from making 

recommendations of independent representatives to clients; 
 

• Revise the additional custody requirements at WAC 460-24A-106 to require additional 
information to be disclosed on the fee invoice; 

 
• Revise the compliance policies and procedures rule at WAC 460-24A-120 to clarify which 

policies the chief compliance officer must administer;  
 

• Add a new section at WAC 460-24A-122 regarding policies and procedures to prevent the 
misuse of material non-public information; 
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• Add a new section at WAC 460-24A-126 to adopt the NASAA Model Rule on Business 
Continuity and Succession Planning; 

 
• Revise the advisory contracts rule at WAC 460-24A-130 consistent with current agency 

practices; 
 

• Create a new section at WAC 460-24A-135 to codify Securities Act Policy Statement 21, 
which concerned advisory fee billing information; 

 
• Revise the brochure rule at WAC 460-24A-145 to reflect current SEC rules and guidance; 

 
• Revise the performance fee rule at WAC 460-24A-150 to update the definition of 

“qualified client” and revise the requirements for the compensation formula; 
 

• Add a new section at WAC 460-24A-190 to remind advisers of the requirement under 
RCW 74.34.220 to train employees regarding the financial exploitation of vulnerable 
adults; 

 
• Add a new subsection at WAC 460-24A-200(1)(aa) to require a code of ethics; 

 
• Add a new subsection at WAC 460-24A-200(1)(bb) to require physical and cybersecurity 

policies and procedures; 
 

• Revise the books and records requirements at WAC 460-24A-200 to require advisers to 
retain documentation of client authorization for non-discretionary transactions; to require 
advisers to attempt to update client profile information annually; and to clarify 
recordkeeping requirements; 

 
• Revise the unethical business practices rule at WAC 460-24A-220 to add new items; and 

 
• Make Plain English updates, such as eliminating the use of the word “shall” in the Chapter.  

 
3. Amendments to Update Adopted Versions of NASAA Statements of Policy  

 
On February 4, 2019, the Securities Division filed a Rule-Making Order (Form CR-103) 

adopting final amendments to WAC 460-16A-205 to update its adoption of various statements of 
policy promulgated by the North American Securities Administrators Association (“NASAA”) 
that are applied to securities offerings sought to be registered under RCW 21.20.180 or 21.20.210. 
See Wash. St. Reg. 19-04-083.  

These statements of policy do not apply to offerings of federal covered securities or 
offerings that are exempt from registration under the Securities Act of Washington, chapter 21.20 
RCW. The amendments adopt updated versions of the following statements of policy: Corporate 
Securities Definitions; Loans and Other Material Transactions; Preferred Stock; Promoters’ 
Equity Investment; Specificity in Use of Proceed; Underwriting and Selling Expenses, 
Underwriter’s Warrants and Selling Security Holders; Unsound Financial Condition; Voting 
Rights, Registration of Asset-Backed Securities; Registration of Commodity Pool Programs; 
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Registration of Equipment Programs; and Registration of Oil and Gas Programs. In addition, the 
amendments adopt the new Statement of Policy Regarding Use of Electronic Offering Documents 
and Electronic Signatures. Moreover, the amendments repeal the adoption of the Statement of 
Policy Regarding Healthcare Facility Offerings, which was repealed by NASAA when it became 
obsolete as a result of the fact that healthcare facility offerings are now structured as municipal 
bonds and exemptions from registration apply. 

 
4. Ministerial Amendments to Exempt Transaction Rules 

 
The Securities Division filed a Rule-Making Order (Form CR-103) adopting final 

amendments to the exempt transaction rules contained in WAC 460-44A-300, 460-44A-503, and 
460-44A-504 to make ministerial updates in light of changes in federal law. See Wash. St. Reg. 
19-04-084. 

WAC 460-44A-300 follows NASAA’s Model Accredited Investor Exemption and 
exempts from securities registration offerings made pursuant to Section 3(b) of the Securities Act 
of 1933. It had not been updated since Section 3(b) was amended by the JOBS Act of 2012 and 
the SEC amended its rules thereunder in Regulation A. The amendments correct the reference in 
the exemption to Section 3(b)(1) of the amended Securities Act of 1933. In addition, WAC 460-
44A-504 exempts small offerings that are made pursuant to SEC Rules 147 or 504 and has not 
been updated since the SEC created a new intrastate offering exemption in Rule 147A. The 
amendments add references to Rule 147A in the exemption. Finally, while the SEC repealed Rule 
505 of Regulation D in 2017 and the Division previously repealed its own corresponding 
exemption in WAC 460-44A-505, the filing requirements set forth in WAC 460-44A-503 and the 
disqualification provision in WAC 460-44A-504 continued to reference WAC 460-44A-505. The 
updates remove all references to Rule 505 and WAC 460-44A-505. 

 
III. AMICUS BRIEFS 

 
A. Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle Litigation 

 
On August 23, 2018, the Department of Financial Institutions filed amicus curiae briefs in 

support of the petitions for review filed by the Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle in litigation 
concerning the sale of residential mortgage-backed securities by investment banks.  The petitioner 
is seeking review of two decisions by Division One of the Court of Appeals in which the court 
held that “reasonable reliance is an essential element of a claim under RCW 21.20.010(2)” of the 
Securities Act of Washington, chapter 21.20 RCW.  Fed. Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Barclays 
Capital, Inc., 1 Wn. App. 2d 551 (2017) (published) and Fed. Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Credit 
Suisse Sec. (USA) LLC, 1 Wn. App. 2d 1039 (2017) (unpublished).  Federal Home Loan Bank of 
Seattle ceded a portion of its time to the Department of Financial Institutions at oral argument on 
October 9, 2018. 

It is the position of the Department of Financial Institutions that proof of a material 
misrepresentation or omission in connection with the offer, sale or purchase of a security alone is 
enough to establish a cause of action under RCW 21.20.430 of the Securities Act of Washington.  
In its amicus curiae briefs, the Department points out that RCW 21.20.010 does not create a cause 
of action by itself.  Rather, this provision establishes unlawful conduct that is subject to 
administrative, civil, and criminal actions under other sections of the Act that provide express 
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remedies.  Civil liability under the Act results from the joint operation of RCW 21.20.010 and 
RCW 21.20.430, which provides an express cause of action for violations to private parties.  
Neither of these provisions contain a reliance element, and Department argued that the Court 
should not add an element of reliance where the Legislature declined to do so.  Moreover, the 
Department pointed out that the drafters of the Uniform Securities Act of 1956, upon which the 
Securities Act of Washington was modeled, clearly indicated in the Draftsmen’s Commentary that 
reliance was not an element of a claim.  Finally, the Department noted that imputing a reliance 
element harms investors and undermines the deterrent effect of the Act, noting that the Division 
One’s decision would “thwart the [Act’s] purpose of protecting investors from issuers or other 
persons making blatant misrepresentation until an investor has demonstrably and reasonably relied 
on those statements.”  The Department further noted that this result would be at odds with the 
Department’s authorization under the Act to issue injunctions or orders at the offer stage of a 
securities transaction without waiting for investor to rely on an issuer’s misrepresentation.   

The decision of the Washington Supreme Court is pending.   
 

IV. SIGNIFICANT SECURITIES CASES OF 2018 AND EARLY 20191 
 

The following cases arose under or reference the Securities Act of Washington, chapter 
21.20 RCW:  

 
A. Sun v. Advanced China Healthcare, Inc. 

 
In Sun v. Advanced China Healthcare, Inc., 901 F.3d 1081 (9th Cir. 2018), the plaintiffs 

invested $2.8 million in Advanced China Healthcare, signing two share purchase agreements. Both 
agreements contained a forum selection clause naming California state courts as the exclusive 
forum for adjudicating disputes. Several years later, the plaintiffs sued the defendant in the United 
States District Court for the Western District of Washington under RCW 21.20.430(1), claiming 
the defendant used fabricated financial statements in order to induce the plaintiffs to make an 
investment, and that their investment was misused for the purpose of “covering up her prior 
misappropriation of other investments.” The defendant filed a motion to dismiss on the grounds 
of forum non conveniens. The district court sustained the motion and the plaintiffs appealed. 

On appeal, the plaintiffs first argued that the forum-selection clause did not apply to their 
complaint. However, the court disagreed. The scope of the clause included “any disputes arising 
out of or related to [the] Agreement.” The court stated that “forum selection clauses covering 
disputes ‘relating to’ a particular agreement apply to any disputes that reference the agreement or 
have some ‘logical or causal connection’ to the agreement.” Because the plaintiff’s complaint was 
logically connected to the share purchase agreements, the court found that the forum-selection 
clause applied. 

The plaintiffs next argued that the forum selection clause was unenforceable because it 
“contravene[s] a strong public policy of Washington in preserving its citizens’ remedies under [the 
Securities Act of Washington].” In support of their argument, the plaintiffs cited to the anti-waiver 
provision of RCW 21.20.430(5) and two Washington appellate cases. The court, however, rejected 
this argument stating that “an anti-waiver provision, without more, does not supersede the strong 
federal policy of enforcing forum-selection clauses.”  

                                                 
1 Prepared by Dan Goodman, Esq., Registration & Regulatory Affairs Unit, Securities Division 
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The plaintiffs further argued that the forum selection clause should not apply because it 
would preclude relief. According to the plaintiffs, the California courts would refuse to hear the 
claim brought under the Securities Act of Washington because of the choice-of-law provision, and 
that any possibility of a claim against the defendant under California’s securities laws is futile 
because the transaction at issue took place outside of California’s jurisdiction. The court disagreed 
based on the fact that the defendant agreed not to challenge the applicability of the Securities Act 
of Washington or California securities laws. The Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit affirmed 
the district court’s ruling, finding it did not abuse its discretion. 

 
B. Meyer v. Washington 

 
In Meyer v. Washington, No. 3:18-CV-05383-RJB, 2018 WL 4613168 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 

26, 2018), the plaintiff sued the State of Washington, the Director of the Washington Department 
of Financial Institutions (DFI), and the Director of the Securities Division of the DFI for 
administrative enforcement action taken against him. On March 17, 2016, DFI filed a regulatory 
enforcement action against the plaintiff for violations of the Securities Act of Washington resulting 
from plaintiff’s sale of fractionalized interests in life settlements. On April 2, 2018, an 
Administrative Law Judge issued an Initial Order in favor of DFI. The plaintiff filed his suit shortly 
after the issuance of the Initial Order, alleging violations of the due process right to fair notice 
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, defamation, tortious interference with a business expectancy, and 
negligent infliction of emotional distress. DFI filed a motion for summary judgment on Younger 
abstention grounds. The court found that the Younger elements were met and stayed the case until 
the state proceedings are complete. Subsequently, DFI entered a Final Order for which the plaintiff 
did not seek further review.  As no further proceedings were pending and the parties had agreed 
to voluntary dismissal, the court entered an order on January 24, 2019 granting the parties’ joint 
motion to lift the stay and dismissed the case without prejudice. 

 
C. Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. RBS Securities 

 
In Fed. Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. RBS Sec., Inc., 418 P.3d 168 (Wash. Ct. App. 2018), 

Division I of the Washington Court of Appeals held yet again that “[u]nder [the Securities Act of 
Washington], an investor who sues for violation of this act must prove reasonable reliance on 
statements or omissions by a defendant.” The plaintiff had sued the defendant alleging material 
misrepresentations in the prospectus supplement for residential mortgage backed securities it 
purchased on June 29, 2006. However, it was found that the prospectus supplement was not filed 
with the SEC until the day after the plaintiff purchased the securities. As such, the court upheld 
the trial court’s dismissal of the action on the basis that the plaintiff could not prove reasonable 
reliance on the prospectus supplement. In addition, the court held that the plaintiff had not shown 
that the trial court erred in granting reconsideration of its prior denial of summary judgment and 
dismissing the action. The plaintiff had argued in response to the motion for reconsideration that 
it had “relied on ‘offering documents’ that it had received before settlement and ‘before the final 
supplement was received’” and that “market practice and the course of dealing between the parties 
about what was to be in the prospectus supplement supports its position.” The court held, however, 
that the trial court did not abuse its discretion where the amended complaint focused on the 
prospectus supplement itself, the plaintiff’s response to the motion for summary judgment focused 
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on its reliance on the prospectus supplement, and allowing the plaintiff to assert reliance on other 
documents six years into the litigation would be prejudicial to the defendant. 

 
D. Liu v. Great Ocean Capital Holding, LLC 

 
In Liu v. Great Ocean Capital Holding, LLC, No. 76576-1-I, 2018 WL 4960231 (Wash. 

Ct. App. Oct. 15, 2018) (unpublished), the defendant challenged the trial court’s award of 
summary judgment on a number of bases, including lack of subject matter jurisdiction and 
preemption, as well as asserting that the trial court erred in granting partial summary judgment on 
the plaintiff’s claim under the Securities Act of Washington. The plaintiff prevailed at the trial 
court in its suit against Great Ocean Capital Holding, LLC (“Great Ocean”) for misrepresentations 
in violation of RCW 21.20.010(2)  claiming that the private placement memorandum, on the basis 
of which the plaintiff invested $519,000, misrepresented that Great Ocean had procured an 80-
year lease with the Port of Longview for business operations.  

In its challenge to the award of partial summary judgment on the claim under the Securities 
Act of Washington, Great Ocean argued that the plaintiff was barred from recovering due to her 
own misrepresentations. First, Great Ocean argued that the plaintiff had actual knowledge that the 
lease had not been finalized, but the court found that Great Ocean failed to provide any supporting 
evidence. Second, Great Ocean argued that the plaintiff “misrepresented herself as a 
‘sophisticated’ and ‘accredited’ investor in the subscription agreement” because she had “’blindly 
invested $500,000.00 without conducting any due diligence.’” However, the court found that Great 
Ocean failed to cite to any evidence in the record demonstrating the existence of any 
misrepresentation and failed to provide any legal authority indicating that the plaintiff’s alleged 
misrepresentation would bar her from recovery. Lastly, Great Ocean argued that because the 
plaintiff failed to make a demand under RCW 21.20.430 to return her investment before filing 
suit, the plaintiff was not entitled to the rescission of her investment. RCW 21.20.430(4)(b) 
provides that “[n]o person may sue under this section if the buyer or seller receives a written 
rescission offer. . . .” The court found that not only did Great Ocean fail to show any evidence that 
it issued a written rescission offer to the plaintiff, but that it failed to provide any authority 
supporting its contention that a plaintiff must demand a return of her investment prior to initiating 
a lawsuit under RCW 21.20.430. 

 
E. Newcomer v. Cohen 

 
In Newcomer v. Cohen, No. 50247-0-II, 2018 WL 5617826 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 30, 2018) 

(unpublished), the plaintiff sued seeking recovery on a $600,000 promissory note made to finance 
a real estate investment. This lawsuit came after the plaintiff successfully sued the managing 
member of an LLC in a prior case (“Newcomer I”) for violations of the Securities Act of 
Washington, chapter 21.20 RCW, in connection with his equity investments in the real estate 
project. The defendants argued that because the plaintiff did not fulfill a capital call obligation that 
exceeded the amount of the promissory note, the $600,000 debt was effectively paid in full as a 
result of a setoff. The trial court granted the plaintiff’s motion for partial summary judgment 
holding (1) because the plaintiff was awarded damages equaling his total investment in Newcomer 
I, the operating agreements the plaintiff entered into were rescinded, thereby nullifying the 
defendant’s claimed outstanding capital call obligation, and (2) RCW 21.20.430(5) rendered the 
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operating agreements unenforceable due to the Newcomer I jury finding that the managing 
member violated the Securities Act of Washington. 

On appeal of summary judgment, the appellate court reversed the trial court’s order 
granting summary judgement. The court held that the trail court erred in granting partial summary 
judgement “because the trial court in Newcomer I did not grant [the plaintiff] the equitable remedy 
of rescission or otherwise void any contracts,” and therefore the operating agreements were not 
void. Although the plaintiff received a jury award in the amount of his investment, the plaintiff 
“argued only that a rescissionary measure of damages should be applied.” (emphasis in original). 
The plaintiff had not, however, sued specifically for rescission. The court further held that the trial 
court erred by granting partial summary judgement on the basis of RCW 21.20.430(5) because 
there was an issue of fact as to whether the defendants engaged in any violation of the Securities 
Act of Washington with regard to the operating agreements at issue. The court stated that “[t]he 
plain language of RCW 21.20.430(5) prevents a person from bringing suit if that person has 
engaged in a [Securities Act of Washington] violation or has knowledge of a violation with respect 
to a certain contract; it does not render an agreement ‘void.’” 

 
F. Graham v. Mascio 

 
In Graham v. Mascio, No. 76967-7-I, 2018 WL 6310114 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 3, 2018) 

(unpublished), the plaintiffs sued Jeffery Mascio, and his company, Meridian Capital Advisors 
LLC (“Meridian”), a registered investment adviser, for violating RCW 21.20.010. The plaintiffs 
signed an investment advisory agreement with Meridian in 2011, giving Meridian discretionary 
trading authority.  The plaintiffs had informed Mascio that they desired a “conservative, long-term 
investment strategy.” In 2015, Meridian pressed the plaintiffs to open accounts with Interactive 
Brokers, and the plaintiffs were asked to sign a new investment advisory agreement. The new 
agreement, however, permitted trading in risky securities. It also contained an arbitration provision 
that provided arbitration would be held in Denver, Colorado. Prior to signing the new agreement, 
the plaintiffs emailed Mascio requesting assurances that the plaintiffs’ assets would not be invested 
in “speculative or highly leveraged trading,” to which Mascio represented they would not.  
However, Meridian shortly thereafter “executed a series of highly speculative margin trades” that 
directly resulted in a portfolio loss of over $1 million in a span of less than a week. 

The plaintiffs initially filed suit in King County Superior Court in Washington, but the case 
was stayed after the plaintiffs later filed an arbitration demand with the American Arbitration 
Association (the “AAA”) requesting a hearing in Seattle, Washington. The AAA sent notice to 
Meridian indicating that Meridian must pay a fee in order for the dispute to be administered, and 
if Meridian refused to pay then AAA may decline to administer the dispute. Mascio testified that 
the firm did not respond to AAA’s requests because “he wanted to force the [plaintiffs] to arbitrate 
in Denver, Colorado.” After several attempts to collect, AAA gave notice of its refusal to hear the 
dispute. The plaintiffs then filed a motion to lift the stay and to proceed with litigation. The trial 
court found that Meridian waived the right to arbitrate and entered a summary judgment in favor 
of the plaintiffs as to the claim under the Securities Act of Washington. 

On appeal, the court upheld the trial court’s judgment, holding that the “trial court did not 
err in concluding that Meridian waived its right to arbitrate because it failed to pay arbitration fees 
and to take steps requested by the AAA.” The court further held that the trial court did not err in 
concluding on summary judgment that Mascio violated RCW 21.20.010 by misrepresenting to the 
plaintiffs that “he and Meridian would not be ‘venturing into high risk[,] high speculation 
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markets,’” and that the investments were the proximate cause of the plaintiffs’ losses. In reaching 
this conclusion, the court noted that the defendants had admitted the transactions were unsuitable 
and presented unlimited risk, as well as the fact that the plaintiffs had informed them that 
preservation of capital “was a top priority.” 

 
G. Hong v. Yoo 

 
In Hong v. Yoo, No. 77164-7-I, 2019 WL 182525 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 14, 2019) 

(unpublished), the plaintiff invested in a Ponzi scheme over the course of five years, leading to a 
lawsuit naming the leader of the Ponzi scheme, Chris Yoo, and three investment entities. After 
Yoo declared bankruptcy, she amended her complaint to add a claim of control person liability 
under RCW 21.20.430(3) against Michael Greiner, the former CEO of one of the entities named. 
The trial court granted a motion for summary judgment dismissing the plaintiff’s claim. 

On appeal, the court affirmed the trial court’s ruling, finding that the trial court did not err 
in holding that Greiner was not a control person for the two entities that sold the investments and 
that he could not be held liable as a “control person” of the entity for which he served as CEO 
because it was not a seller of the securities. In reaching this decision, the court noted that the 
plaintiff had not presented any evidence that Greiner was a control person for either of the entities 
that sold the investments. In addition, the court concluded that the plaintiff had failed to produce 
any evidence that Greiner’s employer was a seller of the investments at issue. The plaintiff had 
argued that the monthly account statements sent to her by Greiner’s employer showed that it was 
a seller of the securities, but the court held that the plaintiff had not sustained her burden of proof 
in light of the evidence presented that the statements were created after the sale, the statements 
themselves indicated that the investment holdings were with a different entity, and Greiner’s 
unchallenged assertion that the statements were fraudulently created by Yoo himself. 
 

V. WASHINGTON SECURITIES DIVISION STATISTICS 
 

A. Jurisdictional Areas and Regulated Entities as of 12/31/2018 
 
SECURITIES ACT – 21.20 RCW 
 

$101,861,213,692  Securities Permits, Notifications And Exemption Letters 
1,746  Registered Securities Broker-Dealers 

689  Registered Investment Advisers 
2,017  Investment Adviser Notifications 

175,542  Registered Securities Salespersons 
60  Exempt Reporting Advisers – Active Organizations 

12,824  Registered Investment Adviser Representatives  
3,669  Branch Offices Of Broker-Dealers 

172  Complaints 
78  Active Enforcement Cases 
63  Statement of Charges/Orders 
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FRANCHISE ACT – 19.100 RCW 
 

1,057  Registered Franchises 
365  Registered Franchise Brokers 

19  Complaints 
14  Active Enforcement Cases 
11  Statement of Charges/Orders 

 
BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY ACT – 19.110 RCW 
 

11  Registered Business Opportunities 
13  Complaints  

6  Active Enforcement Cases 
8  Statement of Charges/Orders 

 
COMMODITIES ACT 21.30 RCW 
 

3  Complaints  
2  Active Enforcement Cases 
0  Statement of Charges/Orders 

 
B. Registrations and Licensing Filing Activity Totals for Calendar Year 20182 

 
REGISTRATIONS, EXEMPTIONS & NOTIFICATIONS 
 

 NEW RENEW AMEND TOTAL 
Investment Companies 2,977 24,597 21,861 49,435 
S-1s 0 6 21 27 
Reg A – Tier 1 Registration Filings 0 0 0 0 
Other Coordination Filings 5 28 207 218 
Qualifications 16 1 3 20 
SCOR (Small Company Offering Reg.) 0 0 0 0 
Reg A – Tier 2 Notices 29 17 4 50 
Reg CF – Federal Crowdfunding Notices 8 0 0 8 
Franchises 307 817 169 1,293 
Exemptions 3,284 0 832 4,116 
Opinions 2 0 0 2 
Franchise Exemptions 57 199 0 256 
Business Opportunities 2 2 0 4 
Small Business Retirement Marketplace  2 0 2 4 

Total 6,689 25,667 23,099 55,455 
 

                                                 
2 This workload data does not include information on registrations or licenses that terminate or fail to renew 

during the year. 
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FIRMS & ENTITIES 
 

 NEW RENEW TOTAL 
Securities Broker-Dealers 83 1,741 1,824 
Investment Advisers  85 685 770 
Investment Advisers – Notice Filed 55 2,016 2,071 
ERA - exempt reporting advisers 12 60 72 
Franchise Brokers 161 246 407 

Total 396 4,748 5,144 
 

REPRESENTATIVES & SALESPERSONS 
 

 NEW RENEW TOTAL 
Investment Adviser Representatives  2,723 12,083 14,806 
Intrastate Securities Salespersons  0 1 1 
Agents of Issuers  34 9 43 
Salespersons w/ Disclosure History 3,939 0 3,939 
Securities Salespersons 36,989 176,294 213,283 

Total 43,685 188,378 232,071 
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GOVERNOR MICHAEL J. DUNLEAVY 

Alaska Securities Update
Northwest Securities Institute

DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, COMMUNITY,
AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

DIVISION OF BANKING AND SECURITIES

Leif Haugen
Chief of Enforcement

May 3, 2019

Amendments to AS 45.55

National Securities Markets Improvement Act

Elimination of Filing Requirements 

Crowdfunding 

Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act (ANCSA)

2

Old Alaska Securities Act (AS 45.55)
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Article 1. Fraudulent and Other Prohibited Practices

Article 2. Registration of Broker-Dealers, Agent, and Investment Advisors

Article 3. Registration of Securities

Article 4. Miscellaneous Provisions 
(ANCSA)

Article 5. General Provisions

3

Old Alaska Securities Act AS 45.55 

April 17, 2017                        Passed House 36-1

April 24, 2018                        Passed Senate 19-1

July 24, 2018                          Signed into law 

January 1, 2019                     H.B. 170 becomes effective 

4

H.B. 170 Legislative History
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Amendments to H.B. 170 by House Judiciary Committee

Registration by qualification—any pending or contemplated litigation must be 
disclosed.  

Protection of older and vulnerable adults from financial exploitation 

Removal of criminal penalties for violation of a regulation or order when person  
had no knowledge

5

H.B. 170 Legislative History (Cont.)

Separation of ANCSA from Securities
ANCSA remains in AS 45.55
Securities becomes new AS 45.56

Organization by Topic

Elimination of Filing Requirements for all in-state exemptions except crowdfunding

6

H.B. 170/AS 45.56 Changes
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Protection of vulnerable adults

Investor education initiatives

Facilitation of broker/adviser continuing education

Electronic records and signatures

7

AS 45.56 Changes

Administrative Enforcement

Increase civil penalties from $25,000 to $100,000 per violation

May be trebled when victim is 60 years old or older

Restitution 

Bad actors can be barred

8

AS 45.56 Changes
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Civil Enforcement

Injunctions, Asset Freezes, Receivership

Rescission, disgorgement and restitution

Treble Damages where victim is 60 years old or older or vulnerable adult

Salespeople are liable to their clients, who may recover damages 

9

AS 45.56 Changes

Criminal Enforcement

Five year statute of limitations

Felony for “intentional” violation

Felony for altering or destroying evidence 

10

AS 45.56 Changes
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Civil Liability

Seller and Purchaser Liability

Consideration
Interest
Costs and attorney’s fees

11

AS 45.56 Changes-Civil Liability and Rescission

Option #2

Actual Damages

Interest under AS 09.30.070 or 8%

12

AS 45.56 Changes-Civil Liability and Recission
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Rescission Offers

30 days to reject or accept offer

Demonstrate ability to pay and delivery

Offeror must pay as promised

13

AS 45.56 Changes-Rescission

Article 1. General Provisions
Article 2. Exemptions from the Registration of Securities
Article 3. Registration of Securities and Notice Filing of Federal Covered 

Securities
Article 4. Broker-dealers, Agents, Investment Advisers, Investment Adviser 

Representatives and Federal Covered Investment Advisers
Article 5. Fraud and Liabilities
Article 6. Administration and Judicial Review
Article 7. Miscellaneous and Additional General Provisions (includes 

definitions)
Full Text available at akleg.gov.

14

AS 45.56 
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Leif Haugen
Chief of Enforcement 

Alaska Division of Banking and Securities
(907) 269-8144

leif.haugen@alaska.gov

15

Questions 

16

DIVISION OF BANKING AND SECURITIES – NWSI MAY 2019
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Mercy Corps’ CIT – Facilitating Community Investment by 
Offering Shares in the Community to the Community

• Neighborhood investors in four zip codes

• Low monthly investment levels ($10, $25, $50 
or $100)

• Investor loss protection and liquidity

• Short-term dividend annually & long-term 
return from debt repayment and property 
value change

• Investor Education “Moving from Owing to 
Owning”

A FINANCIAL PRODUCT 
DESIGNED FOR EQUITY AND INCLUSION

PLAZA 122 Portland , Oregon
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PLAZA 122
• 95% Occupancy

• 26 commercial and 
non-profit tenants

• 28,972 square foot 
strip mall on 1.43 acres

• Built in 1962

• Retail/Commercial 

• SE 122nd and Market  
Portland, OR

WHO ARE THE TENANTS?

• Latina-owned nail and 
beauty salon

• Multi-lingual tax prep
• Affordable funeral planner
• Faith-based orgs
• Security training services

• Russian skin care importer
• Somali-American Council 
• Transportation companies
• Cuban-owned design firm
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To provide for the payment of the Purchase Price for shares of 
Common Stock purchased upon a Redemption Request or in 
other circumstances, the Corporation will, so long as shares of 
Common Stock are issued and outstanding, maintain a “CIT 
Letter of Credit.”  The initial CIT Letter of Credit is an 
Irrevocable Direct-Pay Letter of Credit issued by Northwest 
Bank in favor of CIT Services LLC in its capacity as letter of 
credit trustee. The CIT Letter of Credit will at all times be in a 
stated amount and available to be drawn upon in an amount 
that is not less than the aggregate Purchase Price for all 
outstanding shares of Common Stock.  The CIT Letter of 
Credit causes the Common Stock to be an “exempt security” –
exempt from registration under federal and Oregon securities 
laws under Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933.

LIQUIDITY
CIT Letter of Credit

PROGRESS

INVESTOR PROFILE 

• 113 investors today (200 by 12/31/19)
• 9.6% dividend declared in 2018; 8.9% in 2019
• Share price gain from $10 to $14.57 in 2019
• 54% of households make less than $40K 
• 49% were born outside of the U.S.
• 68% had never invested before
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Hypothetical for NW Securities Institute Ethics/Liability Presentation 
David J. Elkanich, Holland & Knight LLP 

Daniel L. Keppler, Garvey Schubert Barer, P.C. 
 
Enric “Hank” Mas is a 28-year-old biochemistry Ph.D. whose family hails from the small nation 
of Andorra (nestled in the between France and Spain).  Generations ago, Hank’s family began 
making cheese from the Pyrenean chamois, a small goat-antelope creature that thrives in the 
Pyrenees Mountains.  Hanks’ family has sold “Chamois Cheese” from a shop in the capital city, 
Andorra la Vella for nearly a century.  Chamois Cheese is so amazingly delicious, healthy, and 
rare, it sells for well over €200 per kilo.  
 
Production of chamois cheese is a closely-guarded family secret, but Hank developed a process 
to mass-produce Chamois Cheese, using milk from dairy goats found in the United States.  The 
process relies on the use of recombinant DNA and CRISPR technology to produce the rare 
bacteria strain and rennet enzymes needed to make Chamois Cheese.  Hank plans to rehab a 
defunct dairy in Oregon to manufacture and distribute Chamois Cheese in the U.S. and 
elsewhere. The new facility will include a high-tech biochemistry lab.  
 
Hank’s parents made their fortune developing real estate in Oregon and have loaned Hank 
$1MM to help him get started.  Hank needs a lot more money to get Chamois Cheese to market.  
Hank reaches out to his extended family in the U.S., telling them he has a plan to put Chamois 
Cheese on the shelves of local supermarkets.  
 
Hank hires his parents’ longtime real estate lawyer, Drew Dino.  Dino forms the company, 
Chamois Cheese Wiz Corp., and prepares a subscription agreement for family investors to sign.  
Dino doesn’t understand or worry about securities registration exemptions, and most of the 
family members are not accredited investors.    
 
Hank’s relatives respond enthusiastically to the offering and about 40 relatives send him 
$1.5MM to get started.  Hank repays his parents loan and starts working overtime in his new lab 
to address some technical challenges.  
 
Hank knows he will need more money to scale up production, so he approaches Drew Dino, to 
set up a Series A offering.  Dino realizes this requires more securities expertise and refers Hank 
to a securities lawyer, Annette Able.   
 
Able prepares a private placement memorandum, subscription agreement and other documents to 
support a Reg. D offering designed to comply with SEC Rule 506 and raise up to $5MM.  Able’s 
PPM discloses the usual investment risks, but says little about the Hank’s product.  
 
Meanwhile, word gets out among the tight knit Andorran communities in the U.S. that an 
Andorran biotech genius is about to make it big selling Chamois Cheese across the country.   
Response to his offering is again overwhelming, especially when Hank sends some of his new 
Chamois Cheese to the Andorran communities in major U.S. Cities.  Remembering the old Mas 
Family cheese shop in Andorra, people start just sending Hank money to invest.  He receives 
about $6 MM in new investments.   



Chapter 4A—Insecurity: The Interplay of Ethics and Liability for Securities Lawyers

 4A–239th Annual Northwest Securities Institute: New Adventures in Securities Law

Hank builds his production facility and manages to mass-produce Chamois Cheese.  He begins 
shipping it to grocery stores across the country.  One technical problem that Hank never quite 
solved is the limited shelf life of Chamois Cheese.  Although, he was aware of this problem, he 
assumed stores would sell Chamois Cheese immediately and consumers would not store it for 
long periods.  It turns out his mass-produced version of the project Chamois Cheese quickly 
develops a strange mold not present in his family’s original recipe.  
 
Several children are hospitalized after eating some of the mass-produced Chamois Cheese that 
contained mold, which results in bad publicity and in product liability litigation.  The FDA 
imposed a nationwide recall of Chamois Cheese.  Social media sites go viral with rumors that 
Chamois Cheese contained genetically engineered toxic mold and that its production requires the 
killing of Pyrenean chamois, a species that is both endangered and very cute.  Stores thereafter 
refuse to carry Chamois Cheese.  Faced with litigation and mounting bills, Chamois Cheese Wiz 
files for Chapter 7 bankruptcy.   
 
Investors thereafter file securities actions under the Oregon Securities Law against Hank 
personally and his management team. They claim Chamois Cheese Wiz Corp. failed to comply 
with the exemption requirements of the Oregon Securities Law and that Hank misrepresented 
material facts or failed to disclose material facts regarding the prospects for mass-marketed 
Chamois Cheese, the amount of the Series-A raise, and the repayment of Hank’s parents.  The 
investors also sue the lawyers, Drew Dino and Annette Able for participating or materially 
aiding in the unlawful sales of securities by Chamois Cheese Wiz Corp.  
 
The Oregon securities liability questions are:  (1) Does Oregon law apply?   (2) Were there 
unlawful sales of securities?  (3) Are Hank Mas and members of his management team liable? 
(4) Are Drew Dino and Annette Able liable for participation or materially aiding in the sale of 
securities?   
 
How does this come out under the Washington Securities Law?   
  
There are numerous ethical issues, including among others:  (1) Did Drew and/or Annette act 
competently? (2) Did Drew and/or Annette properly communicate with, and advise, their client?  
(3) Can Drew and/or Annette reveal confidential information to establish defenses to the 
securities allegations? (4) Do Drew and/or Annette know of the health concern and could that 
implicate reporting obligations? (5) Should Drew and/or Annette have further considered their 
client due diligence obligations? 
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Relevant Oregon and Washington RPCs and ABA Opinion 

OR and RPC 1.0(b) 

(b) "Confirmed in writing," when used in reference to the informed consent of a person, 
denotes informed consent that is given in writing by the person or a writing that a lawyer 
promptly transmits to the person confirming an oral informed consent. See paragraph (e) 
for the definition of "informed consent." If it is not feasible to obtain or transmit the writing 
at the time the person gives informed consent, then the lawyer must obtain or transmit it 
within a reasonable time thereafter. 

OR RPC 1.0(g) 

(g) "Informed consent" denotes the agreement by a person to a proposed course of 
conduct after the lawyer has communicated adequate information and explanation about 
the material risks of and reasonably available alternatives to the proposed course of 
conduct.  When informed consent is required by these Rules to be confirmed in writing or 
to be given in a writing signed by the client, the lawyer shall give and the writing shall 
reflect a recommendation that the client seek independent legal advice to determine if 
consent should be given. 

WA RPC 1.0(e) 

(e) "Informed consent" denotes the agreement by a person to a proposed course of 
conduct after the lawyer has communicated adequate information and explanation about 
the material risks of and reasonably available alternatives to the proposed course of 
conduct. 

OR RPC 1.0(h) 

(f) "Knowingly," "known," or "knows" denotes actual knowledge of the fact in question 
except that for purposes of determining a lawyer's knowledge of the existence of a conflict 
of interest, all facts which the lawyer knew, or by the exercise of reasonable care should 
have known, will be attributed to the lawyer.. A person's knowledge may be inferred from 
circumstances. 

WA RPC 1.0(f) 

(f) "Knowingly," "known," or "knows" denotes actual knowledge of the fact in question. A 
person's knowledge may be inferred from circumstances. 

OR and WA RPC 1.1: 

A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Competent representation 
requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary 
for the representation. 
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OR RPC 1.2 

(a) Subject to paragraphs (b) and (c), a lawyer shall abide by a client's decisions 
concerning the objectives of representation and, as required by Rule 1.4, shall consult 
with the client as to the means by which they are to be pursued. A lawyer may take 
such action on behalf of the client as is impliedly authorized to carry out the 
representation. A lawyer shall abide by a client's decision whether to settle a matter. In 
a criminal case, the lawyer shall abide by the client's decision, after consultation with the 
lawyer, as to a plea to be entered, whether to waive jury trial and whether the client will 
testify. 

(b) A lawyer may limit the scope of the representation if the limitation is reasonable 
under the circumstances and the client gives informed consent.  

(c) A lawyer shall not counsel a client to engage, or assist a client, in conduct that the 
lawyer knows is illegal or fraudulent, but a lawyer may discuss the legal consequences 
of any proposed course of conduct with a client and may counsel or assist a client to 
make a good faith effort to determine the validity, scope, meaning or application of the 
law. 

* * * 

WA RPC 1.2 

(a) Subject to paragraphs (c) and (d), a lawyer shall abide by a client's decisions 
concerning the objectives of representation and, as required by RPC 1.4, shall consult 
with the client as to the means by which they are to be pursued. A lawyer may take 
such action on behalf of the client as is impliedly authorized to carry out the 
representation. A lawyer shall abide by a client's decision whether to settle a matter. In 
a criminal case, the lawyer shall abide by the client's decision, after consultation with the 
lawyer, as to a plea to be entered, whether to waive jury trial and whether the client will 
testify.  

(b)  A lawyer's representation of a client, including representation by appointment, does 
not constitute an endorsement of the client's political, economic, social or moral views or 
activities. 

(c) A lawyer may limit the scope of the representation if the limitation is reasonable 
under the circumstances and the client gives informed consent. 

(d) A lawyer shall not counsel a client to engage, or assist a client, in conduct that the 
lawyer knows is criminal or fraudulent, but a lawyer may discuss the legal 
consequences of any proposed course of conduct with a client and may counsel or 
assist a client to make a good faith effort to determine the validity, scope, meaning or 
application of the law. 

* * * 
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(f) A lawyer shall not purport to act as a lawyer for any person or organization if the 
lawyer knows or reasonably should know that the lawyer is acting without the authority 
of that person or organization, unless the lawyer is authorized or required to so act by 
law or a court order. 

OR RPC 1.4: 

(a) A lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and 
promptly comply with reasonable requests for information. 

(b) A lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the 
client to make informed decisions regarding the representation. 

WA RPC 1.4: 

(a)  A lawyer shall: 
 
          (1)  promptly inform the client of any decision of circumstance with respect to 
which the client's informed consent, as defined in Rule 1.0A(e), is required by these 
Rules; 
 
          (2)  reasonably consult with the client about the means by which the client's 
objectives are to be accomplished; 
 
          (3)  keep the client reasonably informed about the status of the matter; 
 
          (4)  promptly comply with reasonable requests for information; and 
 
          (5)  consult with the client about any relevant limitation on the lawyer's conduct 
when the lawyer knows that the client expects assistance not permitted by the Rules of 
Professional Conduct or other law. 
 
     (b)  A lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the 
client to make informed decisions regarding the representation. 
 
OR RPC 1.6: 

(a) A lawyer shall not reveal information relating to the representation of a client unless 
the client gives informed consent, the disclosure is impliedly authorized in order to carry 
out the representation or the disclosure is permitted by paragraph (b). 

(b) A lawyer may reveal information relating to the representation of a client to the 
extent the lawyer reasonably believes necessary: 

(1) to disclose the intention of the lawyer's client to commit a crime and the 
information necessary to prevent the crime; 

(2) to prevent reasonably certain death or substantial bodily harm; 
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(3) to secure legal advice about the lawyer's compliance with these Rules; 

(4) to establish a claim or defense on behalf of the lawyer in a controversy 
between the lawyer and the client, to establish a defense to a criminal charge or 
civil claim against the lawyer based upon conduct in which the client was 
involved, or to respond to allegations in any proceeding concerning the lawyer's 
representation of the client; 

(5) to comply with other law, court order, or as permitted by these Rules; or 

(6) in connection with the sale of a law practice under Rule 1.17 or to detect and 
resolve conflicts of interest arising from the lawyer’s change of employment or 
from changes in the composition or ownership of a firm. In those circumstances, 
a lawyer may disclose with respect to each affected client the client's identity, the 
identities of any adverse parties, the nature and extent of the legal services 
involved, and fee and payment information, but only if the information revealed 
would not compromise the attorney-client privilege or otherwise prejudice any of 
the clients. The lawyer or lawyers receiving the information shall have the same 
responsibilities as the disclosing lawyer to preserve the information regardless of 
the outcome of the contemplated transaction. 

WA RPC 1.6: 

(a) A lawyer shall not reveal information relating to the representation of a client unless 
the client gives informed consent, the disclosure is impliedly authorized in order to carry 
out the representation or the disclosure is permitted by paragraph (b). 

(b) A lawyer to the extent the lawyer reasonably believes necessary: 

(1) shall reveal information relating to the representation of a client to prevent 
reasonably certain death or substantial bodily harm; 

(2) may reveal information relating to the representation of a client to prevent the 
client from committing a crime; 

(3) may reveal information relating to the representation of a client to prevent, 
mitigate or rectify substantial injury to the financial interests or property of 
another that is reasonably certain to result or has resulted from the client's 
commission of a crime or fraud in furtherance of which the client has used the 
lawyer's services; 

(4) may reveal information relating to the representation of a client to secure legal 
advice about the lawyer's compliance with these Rules; 

(5) may reveal information relating to the representation of a client to establish a 
claim or defense on behalf of the lawyer in a controversy between the lawyer and 
the client, to establish a defense to a criminal charge or civil claim against the 
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lawyer based upon conduct in which the client was involved, or to respond to 
allegations in any proceeding concerning the lawyer's representation of the client; 

(6) may reveal information relating to the representation of a client to comply with 
a court order; 

(7) may reveal information relating to the representation to detect and resolve 
conflicts of interest arising from the lawyer's change of employment or from 
changes in the composition or ownership of a firm, but only if the revealed 
information would not compromise the attorney-client privilege or otherwise 
prejudice the client; or 

(8) may reveal information relating to the representation of a client to inform a 
tribunal about any client's breach of fiduciary responsibility when the client is 
serving as a court appointed fiduciary such as a guardian, personal 
representative, or receiver. 

(c) A lawyer shall make reasonable efforts to prevent the inadvertent or unauthorized 
disclosure of, or unauthorized access to, information relating to the representation of a 
client. 

OR RPC 1.7: 

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (b), a lawyer shall not represent a client if the 
representation involves a current conflict of interest. A current conflict of interest 
exists if:  

(1) the representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client;  

(2) there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be 
materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client, a former client 
or a third person or by a personal interest of the lawyer; or  

(3) the lawyer is related to another lawyer, as parent, child, sibling, spouse or 
domestic partner, in a matter adverse to a person whom the lawyer knows is 
represented by the other lawyer in the same matter.  

(b) Notwithstanding the existence of a current conflict of interest under paragraph (a), a 
lawyer may represent a client if:  

(1) the lawyer reasonably believes that the lawyer will be able to provide 
competent and diligent representation to each affected client;  

(2) the representation is not prohibited by law;  

(3) the representation does not obligate the lawyer to contend for something on 
behalf of one client that the lawyer has a duty to oppose on behalf of another 
client; and  
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(4) each affected client. 

WA RPC 1.7: 

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (b), a lawyer shall not represent a client if the 
representation involves a concurrent conflict of interest. A concurrent conflict of interest 
exists if: 

(1) the representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client; or 

(2) there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be 
materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client, a former client 
or a third person or by a personal interest of the lawyer. 

(b) Notwithstanding the existence of a concurrent conflict of interest under paragraph 
(a), a lawyer may represent a client if: 

(1) the lawyer reasonably believes that the lawyer will be able to provide 
competent and diligent representation to each affected client; 

(2) the representation is not prohibited by law; 

(3) the representation does not involve the assertion of a claim by one client 
against another client represented by the lawyer in the same litigation or other 
proceeding before a tribunal; and 

(4) each affected client gives informed consent, confirmed in writing (following 
authorization from the other client to make any required disclosures). 

OR and WA RPC 1.13: 

(a) A lawyer employed or retained by an organization represents the organization acting 
through its duly authorized constituents. 

(b) If a lawyer for an organization knows that an officer, employee or other person 
associated with the organization is engaged in action, intends to act or refuses to act in 
a matter related to the representation that is a violation of a legal obligation to the 
organization, or a violation of law which reasonably might be imputed to the 
organization, and that is likely to result in substantial injury to the organization, then the 
lawyer shall proceed as is reasonably necessary in the best interest of the organization. 
Unless the lawyer reasonably believes that it is not necessary in the best interest of the 
organization to do so, the lawyer shall refer the matter to higher authority in the 
organization, including, if warranted by the circumstances, referral to the highest 
authority that can act on behalf of the organization as determined by applicable law. 
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OR and WA RPC 1.16 

(a) Except as stated in paragraph (c), a lawyer shall not represent a client or, where 
representation has commenced, shall withdraw from the representation of a client if: 

(1) the representation will result in violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct or 
other law;  

(2) the lawyer's physical or mental condition materially impairs the lawyer's ability to 
represent the client; or  

(3) the lawyer is discharged. 

(b) Except as stated in paragraph (c), a lawyer may withdraw from representing a 
client if:  

(1) withdrawal can be accomplished without material adverse effect on the interests of 
the client;  

(2) the client persists in a course of action involving the lawyer's services that the lawyer 
reasonably believes is criminal or fraudulent;  

(3) the client has used the lawyer's services to perpetrate a crime or fraud;  

(4) the client insists upon taking action that the lawyer considers repugnant or with 
which the lawyer has a fundamental disagreement;  

(5) the client fails substantially to fulfill an obligation to the lawyer regarding the lawyer's 
services and has been given reasonable warning that the lawyer will withdraw unless 
the obligation is fulfilled;  

(6) the representation will result in an unreasonable financial burden on the lawyer or 
has been rendered unreasonably difficult by the client; or  

(7) other good cause for withdrawal exists.  

(c) A lawyer must comply with applicable law requiring notice to or permission of a 
tribunal when terminating a representation. When ordered to do so by a tribunal, a 
lawyer shall continue representation notwithstanding good cause for terminating the 
representation.  

(d) Upon termination of representation, a lawyer shall take steps to the extent 
reasonably practicable to protect a client's interests, such as giving reasonable notice to 
the client, allowing time for employment of other counsel, surrendering papers and 
property to which the client is entitled and refunding any advance payment of fee or 
expense that has not been earned or incurred. The lawyer may retain papers, personal 
property and money of the client to the extent permitted by other law. 
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OR RPC 1.18: 

(a) A person who consults with a lawyer about the possibility of forming a client-lawyer 
relationship with respect to a matter is a prospective client. 

(b) Even when no client-lawyer relationship ensues, a lawyer who has learned 
information from a prospective client shall not use or reveal that information, except as 
Rule 1.9 would permit with respect to information of a former client. 

(c) A lawyer subject to paragraph (b) shall not represent a client with interests materially 
adverse to those of a prospective client in the same or a substantially related matter if 
the lawyer received information from the prospective client that could be significantly 
harmful to that person in the matter, except as provided in paragraph (d). If a lawyer is 
disqualified from representation under this paragraph, no lawyer in a firm with which that 
lawyer is associated may knowingly undertake or continue representation in such a 
matter, except as provided in paragraph (d). 

(d) When the lawyer has received disqualifying information as defined in paragraph (c), 
representation is permissible if: 

(1) both the affected client and the prospective client have given informed 
consent, confirmed in writing, or: 

(2) the lawyer who received the information took reasonable measures to avoid 
exposure to more disqualifying information than was reasonably necessary to 
determine whether to represent the prospective client; and 

(i) the disqualified lawyer is timely screened from any participation in the 
matter; and 

(ii) written notice is promptly given to the prospective client 

WA RPC 1.18: 

(a) A person who consults with a lawyer about the possibility of forming a client-lawyer 
relationship with respect to a matter is a prospective client.  

(b) Even when no client-lawyer relationship ensues, a lawyer who has learned 
information from a prospective client shall not use or reveal that information, except as 
Rule 1.9 would permit with respect to information of a former client or except as 
provided in paragraph (e). 

(c) A lawyer subject to paragraph (b) shall not represent a client with interests materially 
adverse to those of a prospective client in the same or a substantially related matter if 
the lawyer received information from the prospective client that could be significantly 
harmful to that person in the matter, except as provided in paragraphs (d) or (e). If a 
lawyer or LLLT is disqualified from representation under this paragraph or paragraph (c) 
of LLLT RPC 1.18, no lawyer in a firm with which that lawyer or LLLT is associated may 
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knowingly undertake or continue representation in such a matter, except as provided in 
paragraph (d). 

(d) When the lawyer has received disqualifying information as defined in paragraph (c), 
representation is permissible if: 

(1) both the affected client and the prospective client have given informed 
consent, confirmed in writing, or: 

(2) the lawyer who received the information took reasonable measures to avoid 
exposure to more disqualifying information than was reasonably necessary to 
determine whether to represent the prospective client; and 

(i) the disqualified lawyer is timely screened from any participation in the 
matter and is apportioned no part of the fee therefrom; and 

(ii) written notice is promptly given to the prospective client. 

(e) A lawyer may condition a consultation with a prospective client on the person's 
informed consent that no information disclosed during the consultation will prohibit the 
lawyer from representing a different client in the matter. The prospective client may also 
expressly consent to the lawyer's subsequent use of information received from the 
prospective client. 

OR and WA RPC 2.1: 

In representing a client, a lawyer shall exercise independent professional judgment and 
render candid advice. In rendering advice, a lawyer may refer not only to law but to 
other considerations such as moral, economic, social and political factors, that may be 
relevant to the client's situation. 
 
OR and WA RPC 5.4  

* * * 

(c) A lawyer shall not permit a person who recommends, employs, or pays the lawyer to 
render legal services for another to direct or regulate the lawyer's professional judgment 
in rendering such legal services. 

* * * 

OR and WA RPC 7.1: 
 
A lawyer shall not make a false or misleading communication about the lawyer or the 
lawyer's services. A communication is false or misleading if it contains a material 
misrepresentation of fact or law, or omits a fact necessary to make the statement 
considered as a whole not materially misleading. 
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OR RPC 8.4: 

(a) It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: 

(1) violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or induce another 
to do so, or do 

so through the acts of another;  

(2) commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, 
trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects; 

(3) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation 
that reflects adversely on the lawyer’s fitness to practice law; 

(4) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice; or 

(5) state or imply an ability to influence improperly a government agency or 
official or to achieve results by means that violate these Rules or other law, or 

(6) knowingly assist a judge or judicial officer in conduct that is a violation of 
applicable rules of judicial conduct or other law 

(7) in the course of representing a client, knowingly intimidate or harass a person 
because of that person’s race, color, national origin, religion, age, sex, gender 
identity, gender expression, sexual orientation, marital status, or disability. 

(b) Notwithstanding paragraphs (a)(1), (3) and (4) and Rule 3.3(a)(1), it shall not be 
professional misconduct for a lawyer to advise clients or others about or to supervise 
lawful covert activity in the investigation of violations of civil or criminal law or 
constitutional rights, provided the lawyer's conduct is otherwise in compliance with these 
Rules of Professional Conduct. "Covert activity," as used in this rule, means an effort to 
obtain information on unlawful activity through the use of misrepresentations or other 
subterfuge. "Covert activity" may be commenced by a lawyer or involve a lawyer as an 
advisor or supervisor only when the lawyer in good faith believes there is a reasonable 
possibility that unlawful activity has taken place, is taking place or will take place in the 
foreseeable future. 

(c) Notwithstanding paragraph (a)(7), a lawyer shall not be prohibited from engaging in 
legitimate advocacy with respect to the bases set forth therein. 

WA RPC 8.4: 

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: 

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or 
induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another;  
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(b) commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness 
or fitness as a lawyer in other respects; 

(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation; 

(d) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice; 

(e) state or imply an ability to influence improperly a government agency or official or to 
achieve results by means that violate the Rules of Professional Conduct or other law; 

(f) knowingly  

(1) assist a judge or judicial officer in conduct that is a violation of applicable 
rules of judicial conduct or other law, or  

(2) assist or induce an LLLT in conduct that is a violation of the applicable rules 
of professional conduct or other law; 

(g) commit a discriminatory act prohibited by state law on the basis of sex, race, age, 
creed, religion, color, national origin, disability, sexual orientation, honorably discharged 
veteran or military status, or marital status, where the act of discrimination is committed 
in connection with the lawyer's professional activities.  In addition, it is professional 
misconduct to commit a discriminatory act on the basis of sexual orientation if such an 
act would violate this Rule when committed on the basis of sex, race, age, creed, 
religion, color, national origin, disability, honorably discharged veteran or military status 
or marital status.  This Rule shall not limit the ability of a lawyer to accept, decline, or 
withdraw from the representation of a client in accordance with Rule 1.16;  

(h) in representing a client, engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of 
justice toward judges, lawyers, or LLLTs, other parties, witnesses, jurors, or court 
personnel or officers, that a reasonable person would interpret as manifesting prejudice 
or bias on the basis of sex, race, age, creed, religion, color, national origin, disability, 
sexual orientation, honorably discharged veteran or military status, or marital status.  
This Rule does not restrict a lawyer from representing a client by advancing material 
factual or legal issues or arguments. 

(i) commit any act involving moral turpitude, or corruption, or any unjustified act of 
assault or other act which reflects disregard for the rule of law, whether the same be 
committed in the course of his or her conduct as a lawyer, or otherwise, and whether 
the same constitutes a felony or misdemeanor or not; and if the act constitutes a felony 
or misdemeanor, conviction  thereof in a criminal proceeding shall not be a condition 
precedent to disciplinary action, nor shall acquittal or dismissal thereof preclude the 
commencement of a disciplinary proceeding; 

(j) willfully disobey or violate a court order directing him or her to do or cease doing an 
act which he or she ought in good faith to do or forbear; 

(k) violate his or her oath as an attorney; 
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(l) violate a duty or sanction imposed by or under the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer 
Conduct in connection with a disciplinary matter; including, but not limited to, the duties 
catalogued at ELC 1.5; 

(m) violate the Code of Judicial Conduct; or 

(n) engage in conduct demonstrating unfitness to practice law. 

 

ABA Formal Opinion 463 (May 23, 2013) [Client Due Diligence, Money Laundering, 
and Terrorist Financing]: 

“The Model Rules neither require a lawyer to fulfill a gatekeeper role, nor do they permit 
a lawyer to engage in the reporting that such a role could entail. It would be prudent for 
lawyers to undertake Client Due Diligence (“CDD”) in appropriate circumstances to 
avoid facilitating illegal activity or being drawn unwittingly into a criminal activity. This 
admonition is consistent with Informal Opinion 1470 (1981), where we stated that “[a] 
lawyer cannot escape responsibility by avoiding inquiry. A lawyer must be satisfied, on 
the facts before him and readily available to him, that he can perform the requested 
services without abetting fraudulent or criminal conduct and without relying on past 
client crime or fraud to achieve results the client now wants.” Further in that opinion we 
stated that, pursuant to a lawyer's ethical obligation to act competently, a duty to inquire 
further may also arise. 

“An appropriate assessment of the client and the client’s objectives, and the means for 
obtaining those objectives, are essential prerequisites for accepting a new matter or 
continuing a representation as new facts unfold. 

“The level of appropriate CDD varies depending on the risk profile of the client, the 
country or geographic area of origin, or the legal services involved.” 

“When in a lawyer’s professional judgment aspects of the contemplated representation 
raise suspicions about its propriety, that lawyer’s familiarity with risk-based measures 
and controls will assist in avoiding unwitting assistance to unlawful activities. Indeed, the 
usefulness of the Good Practices Guidance is an example of the declaration in the 
Model Rules that “[t]he Rules do not … exhaust the moral and ethical considerations 
that should inform a lawyer….” 

(Footnotes removed.) 
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I. What’s the big deal? 
 
Under the Oregon Securities Law, a lawyer who prepares documents to  
enable an unlawful sale of securities may be liable for participating or 
material aiding in the sale—even if the lawyer didn’t know about the 
unlawful conduct. See Prince v. Brydon, 307 Or. 146, 149, 764 P.2d 1370 
(1988). 
 
The statue provides that if a seller of securities is primarily liable, then 
“every person who participates or materially aids in the sale” is 
secondarily liable to the same extent as the seller. ORS 59.115(3). 
 
This isn’t merely a liability risk for Oregon securities lawyers.  It’s a trap for 
lawyers from any state who represent an Oregon issuer or who represent 
an issuer selling securities to Oregon investors. See ORS 59.335, 59.345.   
 
By contrast, the blue sky laws of Washington, Idaho, and Alaska (and 
nearly every other state) impose secondary liability only on officers, 
directors and similar control persons. Compare ORS 59.115(3) with RCW 
21.20.430 (3), IC § 30-14-509(g), and AS § 45.56.710 (g).  Similarly, 
federal securities actions based on § 10(b) of the Exchange Act and SEC 
Rule 10b-5 do not encompass claims against a person who aids and abets 
the sale of securities. Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Sci.-Atlanta, 552 
U.S. 148, 158 (2008). 
 
II. Does the Oregon Securities Law apply? 
 

A. When does the Oregon Securities Law apply to a particular 
sale of securities? 
• An offer to sell is made in or directed to Oregon. 
• An offer to buy is made and accepted in Oregon. 
• The offer to sell or buy originates in Oregon. 
• The offer to buy or sell is communicated in Oregon. 
• See ORS 59.335 and 59.345.  

 Practically any Oregon connection is enough! 
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B. In case you wondered, what is a security? 
• All-encompassing definition in ORS 59.015 (19). 
• The usual stuff:  stocks, bonds, debentures, notes. 

o Beware:  stock sale of a small business is a sale of 
securities.  

o Asset sales of a business may avoid securities 
problems. 

 
 Wait . . . did you say notes?    
 Promissory notes are often securities. 
 See Lahn v. Vaisbort, 276 Or. App. 468, 369 P.3d 85 

(2016) (holding that promissory notes in private loans 
could be securities).  

 Certain commercial loans or mortgage loans might not 
be securities if Oregon adopted the federal “family 
resemblance test” under Reves v. Ernst & Young, 494 
U.S. 56, 63–64 (1990) (involving the federal Securities 
Exchange Act).  

 May also meet the definition of investment contracts. 
 

 Catchall:  “investment contracts” are defined as 
securities. 
 Four-part test for investment contracts: 

(1) investment of money (or money’s worth) 
(2) in a common enterprise,  
(3) with the expectations of a profit,  
(4) to be made through the management and control 
of others.  

o Pratt v. Kross, 276 Or. 483, 497, 555 P.2d 765 (1976) 
(holding that limited partnership interest was a 
security); see also Computer Concepts, Inc. v. Brandt, 
310 Or. 706, 714–15, 801 P.2d 800 (1990) (discussing 
contours of Pratt test). 

• Common investment contracts 
o Limited Liability Company membership 

interests — especially in a manager-managed LLC, 
but can be any LLC that meets the test. 

o Limited Partnerships — or any partnership that 
meets the test.  
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o Tenant-in-Common or other joint ownership 
interests in real estate. See Bergquist v. Int'l Realty, 
Ltd., 272 Or. 416, 427, 537 P.2d 553 (1975) 
(undivided fractional interests in a sale and 
leaseback transaction was investment contract).  

o Other jointly-owned assets, e.g., a racehorse! 
Marshall v. Harris, 276 Or. 447, 455, 555 P.2d 756 
(1976) (sale of a fractional interest in a racehorse is 
an investment contract). 
 

 C. What is a “sale” of a security? 
• Includes virtually any “disposition” of a security for value.   
• Towery v. Lucas, 128 Or. App. 555, 560, 876 P.2d 814, 817 

(1994) (“disposition of” stock in settlement agreement 
constituted a sale of security). 

• See definition in ORS 59.015 (17)(a). 
 

III. What makes the sale of a security unlawful and actionable? 
 
 A. Untrue statements and misleading omissions 

• The most common seller liability allegation in Oregon 
securities litigation. 

• Security sold “by means of” untrue statement of material fact.  
• Or “by means of” omission to state a material fact necessary 

to make statements made not misleading (i.e. half-truths).  
• Purchaser does not know the truth. 
• Seller has burden to prove affirmative defense that the 

person did not know, and in the exercise of reasonable care 
could not have known, of the untruth or omission. 

• ORS 59.115 (1)(b). 
 

B. Securities Fraud  
• To employ any device, scheme or artifice to defraud. 
• To engage in any act, practice or course of business which 

operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any 
person. 

• ORS 59.115 (1)(b) and ORS 59.135 (1) and (3). 
• Note:  Fraud claims may also be asserted under  

ORS 59.137, which can be more difficult to prove. See State 
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ex rel. Oregon State Treasurer v. Marsh & McLennan 
Companies, Inc., 269 Or. App. 31, 50, 346 P.3d 504 (2015). 
 

 C. Technical violation of the Oregon Securities Law 
• Failure to register or to qualify for registration exemption 

o Registration unrealistic in many small business deals. 
o Commonly-used state-law exemptions: 
 Accredited investors under state law—  
o individual or joint net worth with spouse, exceeds 

$1,000,000, excluding the value of the natural 
investor's primary residence, or 

o individual income in excess of $200,000 in 
each of the two most recent years or joint 
income with spouse in excess of $300,000 in 
each of those years and has a reasonable 
expectation of reaching the same income level in 
the current year. 

o No public advertising/solicitation. 
o ORS 59.035 (5); OAR 441-035-0010. 
o See also 15 USC § 77b (15).  

 Under 10 purchasers of securities 
o For last 12 months. 
o No commissions or remuneration for sale. 
o No public advertising. 
o ORS 59.035 (12). 

 Note:  exemption analysis is a lot more 
complicated than this!   

• Other technical violations, e.g, unlicensed brokers. 
 
IV.   Statutory Damages for Seller Liability 
 

• Amount investor paid for security minus amount received on 
security — sometimes called a rescissionary remedy.  
Bottom line:  a $5 million investment deal = $5 million base 
damages.  ORS 59.115(2). 

• Plus interest at 9% or at the rate stated in the security — whichever 
is higher.  

• Plus discretionary court-awarded attorney fees.  ORS 59.115 (10). 
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V. A little bit about Washington seller liability  
 

• Washington imposes seller liability for:  
o Registration violation or other technical violations of the 

Securities Act of Washington. RCW 21.20.430, 21.20.140. 
o Fraud or deceit. RCW 21.20.430, 21.20.010(1) and (3). 
o Untrue statements of a material fact or misleading omissions 

RCW 21.20.430, 21.20.010(2) 
• Seller liability has two essential elements: (1) a fraudulent or 

deceitful act committed and (2) in connection with the offer, 
sale or purchase of any security. Kinney v. Cook, 159 Wn. 
2d 837, 842, 154 P.3d 206 (2007). 

• For now (mid-April 2019) all fraud or misrepresentation claims 
require the investor to prove reliance. See Fed. Home Loan Bank 
of Seattle v. Barclays Capital, Inc., 1 Wn.App.2d 551, 564, 406 
P.3d 686 (2017) rev. granted, 190 Wash. 2d 1018, 420 P.3d 706 
(2018).  However, reliance is the issue on review at the 
Washington Supreme Court, so stay tuned . . . . 

 
• Washington takes a broad view of who can be liable as a seller 

(Oregon doesn’t need to, because of broad secondary liability for 
participating or materially aiding): 
o A defendant is liable as a seller if its acts were a substantial 

contributive factor in the sales transaction. This turns on three 
considerations: 
 The number of other factors which contribute to the sale 

and the extent of the effect which they have in producing 
the sale. 

 Whether the defendant's conduct has created a force or 
series of forces which are in continuous and active 
operation up to the time of the sale, or has created a 
situation harmless unless acted upon by other forces for 
which the actor is not responsible. 

 The lapse of time. 
 Haberman v. Washington Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 

Wn.2d 107, 131–32, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987), amended, 
109 Wn.2d 107, 750 P.2d 254 (1988). 
 

o A law firm that performed routine securities offering work 
did not constitute a seller.  Hines v. Data Line Sys., Inc., 114 
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Wn.2d 127, 149, 787 P.2d 8 (1990) (“there is no evidence to 
indicate Perkins Coie had any personal contact with any of the 
investors or was in any way involved in the solicitation process. 
Instead, the actions of [others] had the predominant effect of 
bringing about the sale.”). 
 

VI. Oregon Nonseller or Secondary Liability — The Scariest Part.   
 

A. These nonsellers are jointly and severally liable with and to 
same extent as the seller of securities under ORS 59.115(3): 
 Any person who directly or indirectly controlled the seller. 
 Every partner, LLC manager, officer, director, manager, or 

person who occupied a similar role. 
 Any person who participated or materially aided in the 

sale — including professionals just doing their jobs such as:  
• Attorneys  

o Especially if prepared prospectus, private 
placement memorandum, offering circular or similar 
offering documents. See Prince, 307 Or. at 148 
(preparing partnership agreement and offering 
circular sufficient to give rise to liability for materially 
aiding).  

 
 Don’t like it?  Stay north of the Columbia River:  

 Compare Washington vs. Oregon securities law:   
 Hines v. Data Line Sys., Inc., 114 Wn. 2d 127, 

150, 787 P.2d 8 (1990) (affirming summary 
judgment in favor of law firm that prepared 
offering documents). — Lawyers win!   

 Ainslie v. Spolyar, 144 Or. App. 134, 145, 926 
P.2d 822, 828 (1996) (affirming summary 
judgment in favor of investors against lawyer 
who prepared securities documents) — Lawyer 
loses. (Ouch!)  

o Doubtful whether mere business formation and 
basic entity documentation is material aid in the sale 
— but there are no safe harbors. 

o It’s going to be a case-by-case analysis of the 
importance of the attorney’s work to the transaction. 
Prince, 307 Or. at 149 (“it is a drafter's knowledge, 
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judgment, and assertions reflected in the contents 
of the documents that are ‘material’ to the sale.”). 

• Accountants 
o Doubtful whether audits or tax work materially aids 

sale of securities, but there are no safe harbors. 
o Preparation of financial projections or pro formas 

provided to investors might increase risk of liability 
for material aiding.  

• Brokers / Finders 
o Recommending or promoting investment is risky. 
o Bringing in investors is probably enough, but 

depends on circumstances. 
• Financial Advisors 

o Recommending or promoting investment is risky. 
o Bringing in investors is probably enough, but 

depends on circumstances. 
• Banks / Financial Institutions  

o Loans to facilitate investor financing may be risky. 
o Doubtful whether merely acting as a lender or 

custodian materially aids in security. 
o Recommending investments to customers is 

probably risky. 
 

 Note:  Nonsellers can also be liable in securities fraud claims 
brought under ORS 59.137.  But in contrast with ORS 
59.115(3) to prove material aiding liability, the investor must 
prove that the person materially aided in the violation of 
the anti-fraud provisions of ORS 59.135 (i.e. not merely 
materially aid in the sale of securities). 
 

VII. Affirmative Defenses 
 
 A. “Due diligence” defense to nonseller liability: 

 
“[E]very person who participates or materially aids in the sale is also 
liable jointly and severally with and to the same extent as the seller, 
unless the nonseller sustains the burden of proof that the 
nonseller did not know, and, in the exercise of reasonable care, 
could not have known, of the existence of facts on which the 
liability is based.”  ORS 59.115(3).  This means:  
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• By itself, lack of knowledge of unlawful conduct is not a 
defense the nonseller can use to avoid secondary liability. 

• Instead, to avoid secondary liability, the nonsellers must 
prove they could not have known about bad facts giving 
rise to investor liability.  ORS 59.115(3). 

• For lawyers, this can be difficult if the lawyer has a close 
relationship with the client. 

• Also requires the nonseller to prove a negative “could not 
have known.” 

• This must be evaluated on a case-by-case basis. 
 

B. Statutes of Limitation Defense  
• For claims alleging untrue statements, material omissions or 

securities fraud under ORS 59.115(1)(b) (or under ORS 
59.137):  three years from the sale of securities or two 
years from discovery of the facts giving rise to liability.  
ORS 59.115(6). See also Anderson v. Carden, 146 Or. App. 
675, 934 P.2d 562 (1997) (construing earlier version of the 
statute of limitation). 

• For registration or other technical violations, the statute of 
limitations for private rights of action is three years from the 
sale.  ORS 59.115(6). 

 
VIII. What can I do as a securities lawyer to manage these risks? 
 

 The remainder of this outline contains tips and general 
suggestions, but they are not “litigation tested” or supported by 
specific legal authorities:  

 
 Unfortunately, there are no safe harbors — and no established 

best practices and no clear standards.  
o Even if your legal work is perfect, you can still be sued 

and taken to trial under ORS 59.115 (3).  
o Securities law is not for beginners—make sure the 

client’s private offering squarely meets the exemptions. 
o But don’t assume you will be protected from claims just 

because the investors are accredited. 
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o If the deal loses money, disgruntled investors and their 
lawyers may take advantage of any minor problem they 
can find with the deal or with the offering documents and 
allege a material misrepresentation or misleading 
omission.   

 
 Choose your transactions carefully:  

o Avoid handling offerings for businesses that seem unlikely 
to succeed or are poorly conceived. 

o Beware of deals that depend heavily on existing market 
conditions, market bubbles, or overly optimistic views of 
reality.  

o Consider having a business or investment consultant or 
similar professional conduct an analysis of the deal.  

o Avoid deals involving investors using self-directed IRAs or 
that rely heavily on tax avoidance strategies. 

o Be skeptical of businesses lacking in financial controls.  
 

 Choose your clients carefully: 
o Good business clients should have a solid business plan 

and financial controls in place. 
o Avoid clients who will oversell or puff about their project. 
o Emphasize the need for transparency with investors. 
o Beware of clients who intend to solicit investors from their 

religious congregation or social organization in which trust 
among members is unquestioned.  
 

 Try to persuade your client to choose investors carefully: 
o Ideally, investors should be wealthy, accredited, 

experienced, cognizant of risks and maybe even 
represented by their own counsel before investing. 

o Avoid investors who plan to invest their retirement 
savings, are inexperienced, uneducated or vulnerable. 

o Avoid investors who will place unearned trust in 
promoters regardless of the merits of the business idea, 
business strategy or business risks. 

 
 Tips for preparing offering documents and disclosures: 

 Reminder:  These are not safe harbors, standards of care 
or best practices — they are only suggestions that are 
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untested in litigation.  Every situation requires judgment 
and a fact-specific approach.   

o Don’t do securities offering documents unless you know 
what you are doing.  Have another lawyer scrutinize your 
work. 

o Assume your documents will be scrutinized for accuracy 
and completeness in litigation by counsel representing the 
investors as plaintiffs. 

o Avoid having the offering circular or private placement 
memo read like a marketing brochure — it should be a 
risk disclosure document.  

o Try to identify all obvious and nonobvious investment and 
business risk factors.  Consider adding risk factors that 
are specific to this particular deal.  

o Beware of forms and boilerplate.  
o Consider using a detailed questionnaire or other method 

to discover and disclose potentially “bad facts” including 
any black marks against your clients.  

o Consider using management (client) representation 
letters or similar documents for having your clients “sign 
off” on all disclosures and certify that they cannot think of 
any other risks or material matters to disclose. 

o Consider having a business financial or investment 
professional analyze the deal and potential risks. 

o Recommend your client use financial projections or pro 
formas that are conservative, realistic, and based on the 
most reliable information available.  

o If possible, try to make two registration exemptions apply.  
o Make sure you are adequately insured.  
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Framework for “Investment Contract” Analysis
of Digital Assets
[1]

I. Introduction
If you are considering an Initial Coin Offering, sometimes referred to as an "ICO," or otherwise engaging in the
offer, sale, or distribution of a digital asset,[2] you need to consider whether the U.S. federal securities laws apply. 
A threshold issue is whether the digital asset is a "security" under those laws.[3]  The term "security" includes an
"investment contract," as well as other instruments such as stocks, bonds, and transferable shares.  A digital asset
should be analyzed to determine whether it has the characteristics of any product that meets the definition of
"security" under the federal securities laws.  In this guidance, we provide a framework for analyzing whether a
digital asset has the characteristics of one particular type of security – an "investment contract."[4]  Both the
Commission and the federal courts frequently use the "investment contract" analysis to determine whether unique
or novel instruments or arrangements, such as digital assets, are securities subject to the federal securities laws.

The U.S. Supreme Court's Howey case and subsequent case law have found that an "investment contract" exists
when there is the investment of money in a common enterprise with a reasonable expectation of profits to be
derived from the efforts of others.[5]  The so-called "Howey test" applies to any contract, scheme, or transaction,
regardless of whether it has any of the characteristics of typical securities.[6]  The focus of the Howey analysis is
not only on the form and terms of the instrument itself (in this case, the digital asset) but also on the circumstances
surrounding the digital asset and the manner in which it is offered, sold, or resold (which includes secondary
market sales).  Therefore, issuers and other persons and entities engaged in the marketing, offer, sale, resale, or
distribution of any digital asset will need to analyze the relevant transactions to determine if the federal securities
laws apply.

The federal securities laws require all offers and sales of securities, including those involving a digital asset, to
either be registered under its provisions or to qualify for an exemption from registration.  The registration provisions
require persons to disclose certain information to investors, and that information must be complete and not
materially misleading.  This requirement for disclosure furthers the federal securities laws' goal of providing
investors with the information necessary to make informed investment decisions.  Among the information that must
be disclosed is information relating to the essential managerial efforts that affect the success of the enterprise.[7]
 This is true in the case of a corporation, for example, but also may be true for other types of enterprises
regardless of their organizational structure or form.[8]  Absent the disclosures required by law about those efforts
and the progress and prospects of the enterprise, significant informational asymmetries may exist between the
management and promoters of the enterprise on the one hand, and investors and prospective investors on the
other hand.  The reduction of these information asymmetries through required disclosures protects investors and is
one of the primary purposes of the federal securities laws. 

II. Application of Howey to Digital Assets
In this guidance, we provide a framework for analyzing whether a digital asset is an investment contract and
whether offers and sales of a digital asset are securities transactions.  As noted above, under the Howey test, an
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"investment contract" exists when there is the investment of money in a common enterprise with a reasonable
expectation of profits to be derived from the efforts of others.  Whether a particular digital asset at the time of its
offer or sale satisfies the Howey test depends on the specific facts and circumstances.  We address each of the
elements of the Howey test below. 

A. The Investment of Money    
The first prong of the Howey test is typically satisfied in an offer and sale of a digital asset because the digital
asset is purchased or otherwise acquired in exchange for value, whether in the form of real (or fiat) currency,
another digital asset, or other type of consideration.[9] 

B. Common Enterprise
Courts generally have analyzed a "common enterprise" as a distinct element of an investment contract.[10]  In
evaluating digital assets, we have found that a "common enterprise" typically exists.[11] 

C. Reasonable Expectation of Profits Derived from Efforts of Others
Usually, the main issue in analyzing a digital asset under the Howey test is whether a purchaser has a reasonable
expectation of profits (or other financial returns) derived from the efforts of others.  A purchaser may expect to
realize a return through participating in distributions or through other methods of realizing appreciation on the
asset, such as selling at a gain in a secondary market.  When a promoter, sponsor, or other third party (or affiliated
group of third parties) (each, an "Active Participant" or "AP") provides essential managerial efforts that affect the
success of the enterprise, and investors reasonably expect to derive profit from those efforts, then this prong of the
test is met.  Relevant to this inquiry is the "economic reality"[12] of the transaction and "what character the
instrument is given in commerce by the terms of the offer, the plan of distribution, and the economic inducements
held out to the prospect."[13]  The inquiry, therefore, is an objective one, focused on the transaction itself and the
manner in which the digital asset is offered and sold.   

The following characteristics are especially relevant in an analysis of whether the third prong of the Howey test is
satisfied.

1. Reliance on the Efforts of Others
The inquiry into whether a purchaser is relying on the efforts of others focuses on two key issues:

Does the purchaser reasonably expect to rely on the efforts of an AP?

Are those efforts "the undeniably significant ones, those essential managerial efforts which affect the failure
or success of the enterprise,"[14] as opposed to efforts that are more ministerial in nature?

Although no one of the following characteristics is necessarily determinative, the stronger their presence, the more
likely it is that a purchaser of a digital asset is relying on the "efforts of others":

An AP is responsible for the development, improvement (or enhancement), operation, or promotion of the
network,[15] particularly if purchasers of the digital asset expect an AP to be performing or overseeing tasks
that are necessary for the network or digital asset to achieve or retain its intended purpose or functionality.
[16]

Where the network or the digital asset is still in development and the network or digital asset is not
fully functional at the time of the offer or sale, purchasers would reasonably expect an AP to further
develop the functionality of the network or digital asset (directly or indirectly).  This particularly would
be the case where an AP promises further developmental efforts in order for the digital asset to
attain or grow in value.

There are essential tasks or responsibilities performed and expected to be performed by an AP, rather than
an unaffiliated, dispersed community of network users (commonly known as a "decentralized" network).
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An AP creates or supports a market for,[17] or the price of, the digital asset.  This can include, for example,
an AP that:  (1) controls the creation and issuance of the digital asset; or (2) takes other actions to support a
market price of the digital asset, such as by limiting supply or ensuring scarcity, through, for example,
buybacks, "burning," or other activities.

An AP has a lead or central role in the direction of the ongoing development of the network or the digital
asset.  In particular, an AP plays a lead or central role in deciding governance issues, code updates, or how
third parties participate in the validation of transactions that occur with respect to the digital asset.

An AP has a continuing managerial role in making decisions about or exercising judgment concerning the
network or the characteristics or rights the digital asset represents including, for example:

Determining whether and how to compensate persons providing services to the network or to the
entity or entities charged with oversight of the network.

Determining whether and where the digital asset will trade.  For example, purchasers may
reasonably rely on an AP for liquidity, such as where the AP has arranged, or promised to arrange
for, the trading of the digital asset on a secondary market or platform.

Determining who will receive additional digital assets and under what conditions.

Making or contributing to managerial level business decisions, such as how to deploy funds raised
from sales of the digital asset.

Playing a leading role in the validation or confirmation of transactions on the network, or in some
other way having responsibility for the ongoing security of the network. 

Making other managerial judgements or decisions that will directly or indirectly impact the success of
the network or the value of the digital asset generally.

Purchasers would reasonably expect the AP to undertake efforts to promote its own interests and enhance
the value of the network or digital asset, such as where:

The AP has the ability to realize capital appreciation from the value of the digital asset.  This can be
demonstrated, for example, if the AP retains a stake or interest in the digital asset.  In these
instances, purchasers would reasonably expect the AP to undertake efforts to promote its own
interests and enhance the value of the network or digital asset.

The AP distributes the digital asset as compensation to management or the AP's compensation is
tied to the price of the digital asset in the secondary market.  To the extent these facts are present,
the compensated individuals can be expected to take steps to build the value of the digital asset.

The AP owns or controls ownership of intellectual property rights of the network or digital asset,
directly or indirectly.

The AP monetizes the value of the digital asset, especially where the digital asset has limited
functionality.

In evaluating whether a digital asset previously sold as a security should be reevaluated at the time of later offers
or sales, there would be additional considerations as they relate to the "efforts of others," including but not limited
to:

Whether or not the efforts of an AP, including any successor AP, continue to be important to the value of an
investment in the digital asset.

Whether the network on which the digital asset is to function operates in such a manner that purchasers
would no longer reasonably expect an AP to carry out essential managerial or entrepreneurial efforts.

Whether the efforts of an AP are no longer affecting the enterprise's success.

2. Reasonable Expectation of Profits
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An evaluation of the digital asset should also consider whether there is a reasonable expectation of profits.  Profits
can be, among other things, capital appreciation resulting from the development of the initial investment or
business enterprise or a participation in earnings resulting from the use of purchasers' funds.[18]  Price
appreciation resulting solely from external market forces (such as general inflationary trends or the economy)
impacting the supply and demand for an underlying asset generally is not considered "profit" under the Howey test.

The more the following characteristics are present, the more likely it is that there is a reasonable expectation of
profit:

The digital asset gives the holder rights to share in the enterprise's income or profits or to realize gain from
capital appreciation of the digital asset.

The opportunity may result from appreciation in the value of the digital asset that comes, at least in
part, from the operation, promotion, improvement, or other positive developments in the network,
particularly if there is a secondary trading market that enables digital asset holders to resell their
digital assets and realize gains.

This also can be the case where the digital asset gives the holder rights to dividends or distributions.

The digital asset is transferable or traded on or through a secondary market or platform, or is expected to
be in the future.[19]

Purchasers reasonably would expect that an AP's efforts will result in capital appreciation of the digital
asset and therefore be able to earn a return on their purchase. 

The digital asset is offered broadly to potential purchasers as compared to being targeted to expected users
of the goods or services or those who have a need for the functionality of the network.

The digital asset is offered and purchased in quantities indicative of investment intent instead of
quantities indicative of a user of the network.  For example, it is offered and purchased in quantities
significantly greater than any likely user would reasonably need, or so small as to make actual use of
the asset in the network impractical.

There is little apparent correlation between the purchase/offering price of the digital asset and the market
price of the particular goods or services that can be acquired in exchange for the digital asset.

There is little apparent correlation between quantities the digital asset typically trades in (or the amounts
that purchasers typically purchase) and the amount of the underlying goods or services a typical consumer
would purchase for use or consumption.

The AP has raised an amount of funds in excess of what may be needed to establish a functional network
or digital asset. 

The AP is able to benefit from its efforts as a result of holding the same class of digital assets as those
being distributed to the public. 

The AP continues to expend funds from proceeds or operations to enhance the functionality or value of the
network or digital asset.

The digital asset is marketed, directly or indirectly, using any of the following:

The expertise of an AP or its ability to build or grow the value of the network or digital asset.

The digital asset is marketed in terms that indicate it is an investment or that the solicited holders are
investors.

The intended use of the proceeds from the sale of the digital asset is to develop the network or
digital asset.

The future (and not present) functionality of the network or digital asset, and the prospect that an AP
will deliver that functionality.
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The promise (implied or explicit) to build a business or operation as opposed to delivering currently
available goods or services for use on an existing network.

The ready transferability of the digital asset is a key selling feature.  

The potential profitability of the operations of the network, or the potential appreciation in the value of
the digital asset, is emphasized in marketing or other promotional materials.

The availability of a market for the trading of the digital asset, particularly where the AP implicitly or
explicitly promises to create or otherwise support a trading market for the digital asset.

In evaluating whether a digital asset previously sold as a security should be reevaluated at the time of later offers
or sales, there would be additional considerations as they relate to the "reasonable expectation of profits,"
including but not limited to:

Purchasers of the digital asset no longer reasonably expect that continued development efforts of an AP will
be a key factor for determining the value of the digital asset.

The value of the digital asset has shown a direct and stable correlation to the value of the good or service
for which it may be exchanged or redeemed.

The trading volume for the digital asset corresponds to the level of demand for the good or service for which
it may be exchanged or redeemed.

Whether holders are then able to use the digital asset for its intended functionality, such as to acquire goods
and services on or through the network or platform.

Whether any economic benefit that may be derived from appreciation in the value of the digital asset is
incidental to obtaining the right to use it for its intended functionality.

No AP has access to material, non-public information or could otherwise be deemed to hold material inside
information about the digital asset.

3. Other Relevant Considerations
When assessing whether there is a reasonable expectation of profit derived from the efforts of others, federal
courts look to the economic reality of the transaction.[20]  In doing so, the courts also have considered whether the
instrument is offered and sold for use or consumption by purchasers.[21]  

Although no one of the following characteristics of use or consumption is necessarily determinative, the stronger
their presence, the less likely the Howey test is met:

The distributed ledger network and digital asset are fully developed and operational.

Holders of the digital asset are immediately able to use it for its intended functionality on the network,
particularly where there are built-in incentives to encourage such use.

The digital assets' creation and structure is designed and implemented to meet the needs of its users,
rather than to feed speculation as to its value or development of its network.  For example, the digital asset
can only be used on the network and generally can be held or transferred only in amounts that correspond
to a purchaser's expected use.

Prospects for appreciation in the value of the digital asset are limited.  For example, the design of the digital
asset provides that its value will remain constant or even degrade over time, and, therefore, a reasonable
purchaser would not be expected to hold the digital asset for extended periods as an investment.

With respect to a digital asset referred to as a virtual currency, it can immediately be used to make
payments in a wide variety of contexts, or acts as a substitute for real (or fiat) currency. 

This means that it is possible to pay for goods or services with the digital asset without first having to
convert it to another digital asset or real currency.

If it is characterized as a virtual currency, the digital asset actually operates as a store of value that
can be saved, retrieved, and exchanged for something of value at a later time.
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With respect to a digital asset that represents rights to a good or service, it currently can be redeemed
within a developed network or platform to acquire or otherwise use those goods or services.  Relevant
factors may include: 

There is a correlation between the purchase price of the digital asset and a market price of the
particular good or service for which it may be redeemed or exchanged. 

The digital asset is available in increments that correlate with a consumptive intent versus an
investment or speculative purpose.

An intent to consume the digital asset may also be more evident if the good or service underlying the
digital asset can only be acquired, or more efficiently acquired, through the use of the digital asset on
the network.

Any economic benefit that may be derived from appreciation in the value of the digital asset is incidental to
obtaining the right to use it for its intended functionality.

The digital asset is marketed in a manner that emphasizes the functionality of the digital asset, and not the
potential for the increase in market value of the digital asset.

Potential purchasers have the ability to use the network and use (or have used) the digital asset for its
intended functionality.

Restrictions on the transferability of the digital asset are consistent with the asset's use and not facilitating a
speculative market.

If the AP facilitates the creation of a secondary market, transfers of the digital asset may only be made by
and among users of the platform.

Digital assets with these types of use or consumption characteristics are less likely to be investment contracts.  For
example, take the case of an online retailer with a fully-developed operating business.  The retailer creates a
digital asset to be used by consumers to purchase products only on the retailer's network, offers the digital asset
for sale in exchange for real currency, and the digital asset is redeemable for products commensurately priced in
that real currency.  The retailer continues to market its products to its existing customer base, advertises its digital
asset payment method as part of those efforts, and may "reward" customers with digital assets based on product
purchases.  Upon receipt of the digital asset, consumers immediately are able to purchase products on the
network using the digital asset.  The digital assets are not transferable; rather, consumers can only use them to
purchase products from the retailer or sell them back to the retailer at a discount to the original purchase price. 
Under these facts, the digital asset would not be an investment contract.

Even in cases where a digital asset can be used to purchase goods or services on a network, where that network's
or digital asset's functionality is being developed or improved, there may be securities transactions if, among other
factors, the following is present:  the digital asset is offered or sold to purchasers at a discount to the value of the
goods or services; the digital asset is offered or sold to purchasers in quantities that exceed reasonable use;
and/or there are limited or no restrictions on reselling those digital assets, particularly where an AP is continuing in
its efforts to increase the value of the digital assets or has facilitated a secondary market.  

III. Conclusion
The discussion above identifies some of the factors market participants should consider in assessing whether a
digital asset is offered or sold as an investment contract and, therefore, is a security.  It also identifies some of the
factors to be considered in determining whether and when a digital asset may no longer be a security.  These
factors are not intended to be exhaustive in evaluating whether a digital asset is an investment contract or any
other type of security, and no single factor is determinative; rather, we are providing them to assist those engaging
in the offer, sale, or distribution of a digital asset, and their counsel, as they consider these issues.  We encourage
market participants to seek the advice of securities counsel and engage with the Staff through
www.sec.gov/finhub.



Chapter 5—Cryptocurrency: ICOs, Enforcement, and Beyond

 5–739th Annual Northwest Securities Institute: New Adventures in Securities Law

4/23/2019 SEC.gov | Framework for “Investment Contract” Analysis of Digital Assets

https://www.sec.gov/corpfin/framework-investment-contract-analysis-digital-assets 7/9

 

[1] This framework represents the views of the Strategic Hub for Innovation and Financial Technology ("FinHub,"
the "Staff," or "we") of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission").  It is not a rule, regulation, or
statement of the Commission, and the Commission has neither approved nor disapproved its content.  Further, this
framework does not replace or supersede existing case law, legal requirements, or statements or guidance from
the Commission or Staff.  Rather, the framework provides additional guidance in the areas that the Commission or
Staff has previously addressed.  See, e.g., Report of Investigation Pursuant to Section 21(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934: The DAO (Exchange Act Rel. No. 81207) (July 25, 2017) ("The DAO Report"); William
Hinman, Digital Asset Transactions: When Howey Met Gary (Plastic), Remarks at the Yahoo Finance All Markets
Summit: Crypto (June 14, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/speech-hinman-061418.

[2] The term "digital asset," as used in this framework, refers to an asset that is issued and transferred using
distributed ledger or blockchain technology, including, but not limited to, so-called "virtual currencies," "coins," and
"tokens."

[3] The term "security" is defined in Section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act"), Section 3(a)
(10) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Section 2(a)(36) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, and Section
202(a)(18) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.

[4] This framework is intended to be instructive and is based on the Staff's experiences to date and relevant law
and legal precedent.  It is not an exhaustive treatment of the legal and regulatory issues relevant to conducting an
analysis of whether a product is a security, including an investment contract analysis with respect to digital assets
generally.  We expect that analysis concerning digital assets as securities may evolve over time as the digital asset
market matures.  Also, no one factor is necessarily dispositive as to whether or not an investment contract exists.

[5] SEC v. W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293 (1946) ("Howey").  See also United Housing Found., Inc. v. Forman, 421
U.S. 837 (1975) ("Forman"); Tcherepnin v. Knight, 389 U.S. 332 (1967) ("Tcherepnin"); SEC v. C. M. Joiner
Leasing Corp., 320 U.S. 344 (1943) ("Joiner").

[6] Whether a contract, scheme, or transaction is an investment contract is a matter of federal, not state, law and
does not turn on whether there is a formal contract between parties.  Rather, under the Howey test, "form [is]
disregarded for substance and the emphasis [is] on economic reality."  Howey, 328 U.S. at 298.  The Supreme
Court has further explained that that the term security "embodies a flexible rather than a static principle" in order to
meet the "variable schemes devised by those who seek the use of the money of others on the promise of profits." 
Id. at 299. 

[7] Issuers of digital assets, like all issuers, must provide full and fair disclosure of material information consistent
with the requirements of the federal securities laws.  Issuers of digital assets should be guided by the regulatory
framework and concepts of materiality.  What is material depends upon the nature and structure of the issuer's
particular network and circumstances.  See TSC Industries v. Northway, 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976) (a fact is
material "if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable shareholder would consider it important" in making an
investment decision or if it "would have been viewed by the reasonable investor as having significantly altered the
'total mix' of information made available" to the shareholder).

[8] See The DAO Report.

[9] The lack of monetary consideration for digital assets, such as those distributed via a so-called "bounty program"
does not mean that the investment of money prong is not satisfied.  As the Commission explained in The DAO
Report, "[i]n determining whether an investment contract exists, the investment of 'money' need not take the form
of cash" and "in spite of Howey's reference to an 'investment of money,' it is well established that cash is not the
only form of contribution or investment that will create an investment contract." The DAO Report at 11 (citation
omitted).  See In re Tomahawk Exploration LLC, Securities Act Rel. 10530 (Aug. 14, 2018) (issuance of tokens
under a so-called "bounty program" constituted an offer and sale of securities because the issuer provided tokens
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to investors in exchange for services designed to advance the issuer's economic interests and foster a trading
market for its securities).   Further, the lack of monetary consideration for digital assets, such as those distributed
via a so-called "air drop," does not mean that the investment of money prong is not satisfied; therefore, an airdrop
may constitute a sale or distribution of securities.  In a so-called "airdrop," a digital asset is distributed to holders of
another digital asset, typically to promote its circulation. 

[10] In order to satisfy the "common enterprise" aspect of the Howey test, federal courts require that there be either
"horizontal commonality" or "vertical commonality."  See Revak v. SEC Realty Corp., 18 F.3d. 81, 87-88 (2d Cir.
1994) (discussing horizontal commonality as "the tying of each individual investor's fortunes to the fortunes of the
other investors by the pooling of assets, usually combined with the pro-rata distribution of profits" and two variants
of vertical commonality, which focus "on the relationship between the promoter and the body of investors").  The
Commission, on the other hand, does not require vertical or horizontal commonality per se, nor does it view a
"common enterprise" as a distinct element of the term "investment contract."  In re Barkate, 57 S.E.C. 488, 496
n.13 (Apr. 8, 2004); see also the Commission's Supplemental Brief at 14 in SEC v. Edwards, 540 U.S. 389 (2004)
(on remand to the 11th Circuit). 

[11] Based on our experiences to date, investments in digital assets have constituted investments in a common
enterprise because the fortunes of digital asset purchasers have been linked to each other or to the success of the
promoter's efforts.  See SEC v. Int'l Loan Network, Inc., 968 F.2d 1304, 1307 (D.C. Cir. 1992).

[12] Howey, 328 U.S. at 298.  See also Tcherepnin, 389 U.S. at 336 ("in searching for the meaning and scope of
the word 'security' in the [Acts], form should be disregarded for substance and the emphasis should be on
economic reality.")

[13] Joiner, 320 U.S. at 352-53. 

[14] SEC v. Glenn W. Turner Enter., Inc., 474 F.2d 476, 482 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 414 U.S. 821, 94 S. Ct. 117, 38
L. Ed. 2d 53 (1973) ("Turner").

[15] In this guidance, we are using the term "network" broadly to encompass the various elements that comprise a
digital asset's network, enterprise, platform, or application.

[16] We recognize that holders of digital assets may put forth some effort in the operations of the network, but
those efforts do not negate the fact that the holders of digital assets are relying on the efforts of the AP.  That a
scheme assigns "nominal or limited responsibilities to the [investor] does not negate the existence of an
investment contract."  SEC v. Koscot Interplanetary, Inc., 497 F.2d 473, 483 n.15 (5th Cir. 1974) (citation and
quotation marks omitted).  If the AP provides efforts that are "the undeniably significant ones, those essential
managerial efforts which affect the failure or success of the enterprise," and the AP is not merely performing
ministerial or routine tasks, then there likely is an investment contract.  See Turner, 474 U.S. at 482; see also The
DAO Report (although DAO token holders had certain voting rights, they nonetheless reasonably relied on the
managerial efforts of others).  Managerial and entrepreneurial efforts typically are characterized as involving
expertise and decision-making that impacts the success of the business or enterprise through the application of
skill and judgment. 

[17] See, e.g., Gary Plastic Packaging Corp. v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce Fenner & Smith, 756 F.2d 230 (2d Cir. 1985).

[18] See Forman, 421 U.S. at 852.

[19] Situations where the digital asset is exchangeable or redeemable solely for goods or services within the
network or on a platform, and may not otherwise be transferred or sold, may more likely be a payment for a good
or service in which the purchaser is motivated to use or consume the digital asset.  See discussion of "Other
Relevant Considerations."
[20] As noted above, under Howey, courts conduct an objective inquiry focused on the transaction itself and the
manner in which it is offered. 
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Modified: April 3, 2019

[21] See Forman, 421 U.S. at 852-53 (where a purchaser is not "'attracted solely by the prospects of a return' on
his investment . . . [but] is motivated by a desire to use or consume the item purchased  . . .  the securities laws do
not apply.").
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Securities Act of 1933 
 Section 2(a)(1)

April 3, 2019

Response of the Division of Corporation Finance

Re: TurnKey Jet, Inc.
 Incoming letter dated April 2, 2019

Based on the facts presented, the Division will not recommend enforcement
action to the Commission if, in reliance on your opinion as counsel that the
Tokens are not securities, TKJ offers and sells the Tokens without
registration under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act. Capitalized
terms have the same meanings as defined in your letter.

In reaching this position, we particularly note that:

TKJ will not use any funds from Token sales to develop the TKJ
Platform, Network, or App, and each of these will be fully developed
and operational at the time any Tokens are sold;

  
the Tokens will be immediately usable for their intended functionality
(purchasing air charter services) at the time they are sold;

  
TKJ will restrict transfers of Tokens to TKJ Wallets only, and not to
wallets external to the Platform;

  
TKJ will sell Tokens at a price of one USD per Token throughout the
life of the Program, and each Token will represent a TKJ obligation to
supply air charter services at a value of one USD per Token;

  
If TKJ offers to repurchase Tokens, it will only do so at a discount to
the face value of the Tokens (one USD per Token) that the holder
seeks to resell to TKJ, unless a court within the United States orders
TKJ to liquidate the Tokens; and

  
The Token is marketed in a manner that emphasizes the functionality
of the Token, and not the potential for the increase in the market
value of the Token.

This position is based on the representations made to the Division in your
letter. Any different facts or conditions might require the Division to reach a
different conclusion. Further, this response expresses the Division's position
on enforcement action only and does not express any legal conclusion on
the question presented.

Incoming Letter:

The Incoming Letter is in Acrobat format.

 

http://www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/cf-noaction/2019/turnkey-jet-
040219-2a1.htm

 

Home | Previous Page Modified: 04/03/19

Sincerely,

Jonathan A. Ingram
 Chief Legal Advisor, FinHub

 Division of Corporation Finance
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James Prescott Curry, Esquire 
Office: (561) 972-8222 

Fax: (561) 300-2187 
james.curry@currypl.com 

 
CURRY, PL 

601 HERITAGE DRIVE, SUITE 205 JUPITER, FL 33458-2777 
 

 
                       Securities Act of 1933 Section 2(a)(1) and Section 5 

                                 Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Section 3(a)(10) and Section 12(g) 
 

 
April 2, 2019 

 
 
VIA ELECTRONIC SUBMISSION 
Office of Chief Counsel 
Division of Corporation Finance 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
100 F Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20549 
 

Re:      TurnKey Jet, Inc. 
 
Dear Sir or Madam: 
 
 TurnKey Jet, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“TKJ”), with its principal business location in West 
Palm Beach, Florida, proposes to offer and sell blockchain-based digital assets in the form of 
“tokenized” jet cards (“Tokens”). On behalf of TKJ, I respectfully request that the staff of the Division 
of Corporation Finance (the “Staff”) of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) 
confirm that it will not recommend that the Commission take any enforcement action against TKJ if TKJ 
offers and sells Tokens in the manner and under the circumstances described below without registration 
under Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 12(g) of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act,” and together with the Securities 
Act, the “Securities Acts”). 
 
I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 
A. About TurnKey Jet, Inc. and the Proposed Token Program 

 
TurnKey Jet, Inc. provides interstate air charter services as a licensed United States air carrier 

and air taxi operator. TKJ currently operates two business jets and is in the process of acquiring a third 
business jet. TKJ has successfully and profitably conducted flight operations since 2012. In the last two 
years, TKJ has operated its aircraft for at least 899 flight hours and conducted at least 643 landings for 
141 customers. In that time, TKJ has had zero FAA violations or incidents and is accident-free. As 
discussed in more detail below, TKJ proposes to launch a Token membership program (“Program”) and 
develop a Token platform (“Platform”) to facilitate Token sales for air charter services via a private 
blockchain network (“Network”). TKJ will manage the Program as program manager (“Program 
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Manager”). Operating the Platform and Network would be within TKJ’s economic authority as a 
federally-licensed air carrier and air taxi operator. Each user will access and use the Platform via an 
application (“App”) that includes a wallet (“Wallet”). There will be three types of users of the Platform, 
depending on their role in the delivery of air charter services. Users who buy Tokens to consume air 
charter services are consumers (“Consumers”). Users who take part on the Platform by brokering charter 
flights between Consumers and carriers are brokers (“Brokers”). Users who deliver charter flights 
directly to Consumers via the Platform with their own fleet of planes are carriers (“Carriers”). Each type 
of user will have a distinct membership agreement and collectively the users of all types are members of 
the Program (“Members”). All Members will be required to pay membership subscription fees to take 
part in the Program and purchase Tokens. Consumers may be individuals or business entities. Brokers 
and Carriers are business entities and cannot be Consumers. Consumers will buy Tokens which TKJ will 
sell only at a price of one United States Dollar (“USD”) per Token throughout the life of the Program. A 
typical transaction will involve a Consumer redeeming bought Tokens for air charter services.  
 

B. Blockchain Technology Solves Air Charter Services Payment Settlement Problems  
 

In supplying air charter services, TKJ faces significant transactional costs and inefficiencies, 
including delays, regarding payment settlement and regulatory compliance. From a customer’s 
perspective, the delays and inefficiencies can prevent the customer from travelling. As with accepting 
credit cards, TKJ faces difficulties at times in accepting wire transfers for payment settlement. Further, 
TKJ must conduct extensive and time-consuming bookkeeping and operations records management of 
all transactions to meet its regulatory compliance obligations. 

 
As discussed in more detail below, TKJ’s proposed Program and Tokens for prepaid on-demand 

air charter services allows for settlement via blockchain which decreases the settlement time and 
improves the efficiencies of paying for and obtaining air charter services for both Consumers and TKJ. 
Consumers would be able to obtain the air charter services and leave on their trip much faster than under 
the current system. The advantages of utilizing blockchain technology for air charter services payment 
settlement include a significant reduction in financial transaction costs that financial institutions charge 
in payment settlement for air charter services. Transferring Tokens on the Platform and Network will 
significantly increase efficiencies in the delivery of air charter services. These improved efficiencies and 
rapid settlement of large transactions that are typical in the air charter services industry will in turn allow 
for faster delivery of air charter flights.  

 
The Platform will diminish the possibility of fraudulent transactions and potential chargebacks, 

by relying on transparency and distribution via the Network. The Network is private to TKJ Program 
Members and mirrored across multiple servers, each of which verifies the validity of each transaction 
and keeps a copy of the entire ledger. TKJ as Program Manager will be responsible for verifying the 
validity of the ledger. The Platform will allow for increasing global transparency to Consumers, Brokers 
and Carriers by relying on the Network that will be used to record the terms of the Token contracts, 
manage documentation and complete transaction terms with immediate payment. This transparency will 
in turn provide access and insight into the clearing and settlement of the TKJ financial transactions to 



Chapter 5—Cryptocurrency: ICOs, Enforcement, and Beyond

 5–1539th Annual Northwest Securities Institute: New Adventures in Securities Law

Office of Chief Counsel 
Division of Corporation Finance 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
April 2, 2019 
Page 3 
 
prevent disputes because all participants will be able to inspect their personal Platform and Network 
activity and monitor settlement of their Token redemptions and delivery of air charter flights. These 
advantages show the utility of the proposed Tokens as an improvement to the existing air charter travel 
services payment settlement process. 
 
II. PROPOSED PROGRAM AND TOKEN SALES 

 
A. The Token Infrastructure 

 
(i) Blockchain Platform and Network 

 
The proposed TKJ Tokens will operate and be deployed on the Platform and Network consisting 

of a private, permissioned, centralized blockchain network and smart contract infrastructure operated by 
TKJ. TKJ will run the Platform and Network and use third-party service providers, as necessary, to meet 
operational requirements, including providers of internal tools for developers, user-facing app interfaces, 
wallets, smart contract infrastructure and private network and token management services.  

 
TKJ will account for each TKJ Member via the Wallet that each Consumer uses to hold their 

Tokens. Each Wallet is part of the Platform, Network and App. TKJ will provision a Wallet to each 
Consumer, Broker and Carrier who will use the App and Wallet to send and receive Tokens via the 
Platform to TKJ, Consumers, Brokers or Carriers who are also TKJ Members on the Platform. TKJ 
Platform participants will be able to view their Token balance and related Platform and Network 
activities through a console via the App. The respective Token balances and related activities of each 
Member will not be public, but private to each individual Member and the TKJ Network administrators. 
Consumers will not satisfy the obligation to pay for air charter services. Rather, TKJ will satisfy the 
obligation by paying the Brokers or Carriers directly using escrow funds, which are comprised of the 
Token sale proceeds, upon the Consumer’s redemption of Tokens. TKJ will manage payment to Brokers 
or Carriers but will have no contractual obligation to do so until Consumers, Brokers or Carriers transfer 
Tokens to TKJ for redemption. 

 
TKJ will allow Brokers to be Members of the Platform because of antitrust legal concerns that 

would arise if TKJ were the sole broker of air charter services on the Platform and the Consumer user 
base became large. The Program attributes will incentivize Brokers to become Members and join the 
Platform because they will be able to transact with Consumers outside of banking hours using the 
Platform and App. Currently, Brokers cannot transact outside of banking hours due to the unavailability 
of wire transfers. Further, Brokers would need to be participants in the Program because the industry 
still needs their involvement in processing air charter services transactions via phone, email and fax. 
There is currently no automated air charter services scheduling and purchase system in place. In 
addition, Brokers have recently become regulated entities pursuant to 14 CFR Part 295, governing the 
brokerage of air charter services, and may provide air charter services as agents of Carriers or as 
principals with Carriers under contract to them. As such, Brokers (which may also be Carriers), as air 
charter services providers, Carriers (which may also be Brokers), and TKJ (which may be a Broker or 
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Carrier), will all be regulated entities on the Platform. TKJ will operate the Program in a manner 
compliant with applicable federal, state and foreign law including regulations of FinCEN, FAA, DOT 
and other applicable law governing the handling, custody and transmittal of funds, and other matters 
within their respective jurisdictions. In short, the Tokens, Platform and Network will simply be an air 
charter services payment debit/credit system for large financial transactions conducted inside and 
outside of banking hours.  
 

(ii) The Tokens Will Be Smart Contracts Between TKJ and Token Consumers and 
Subsequent Holders for Air Charter Services 

 
The proposed Tokens will include smart contract functionality and TKJ will create and deploy 

them on the Platform and Network. The Tokens will meet a token standard based on the chosen Platform 
technology and TKJ will develop the code for the Tokens with standard-compliant rules and methods, 
including transferring Tokens from TKJ to Consumers and between Network Members, reporting the 
balance of Tokens at a certain address, and reporting the total supply of Tokens. TKJ will be in privity 
of contract with each first Consumer of Tokens and the later holders of the Tokens via the Program 
membership agreement and the Token sales agreement embedded in the Tokens. The terms of the TKJ 
membership agreement will vary depending on whether the user is a Consumer, Broker or Carrier. The 
terms will obligate TKJ to release Token escrow funds to a Broker or Carrier to pay for the provided air 
charter services to a TKJ Member and holder of Tokens who exercises their right per the smart contract 
to redeem the Tokens at their equivalent value for those services on-demand.  

 
 TKJ, via the Platform, will update the smart contracts corresponding to each Token after each 

transfer of Tokens within the Platform to reflect the current holder of the transferred Tokens. The smart 
contracts will include the terms of service restricting transfer and setting forth that the Tokens are the 
prepayment of the future consumption of air charter services and there will be no return of principal or 
interest on the monies that are prepaid. Further, TKJ will use the smart contracts to execute the 
consideration for TKJ Token redemptions. Consumers will execute separately the respective TKJ 
Program membership agreements and Token sales agreements prior to issuance of Tokens. The agreed 
to terms and conditions will be embedded in the smart contract code. The smart contracts will 
programmatically acknowledge redemptions on the blockchain and notify TKJ of the redemptions for 
disbursement of the escrow funds corresponding to the Tokens to Brokers or Carriers for payment of the 
air charter services.  
 

Redeemable for air charter services, the proposed Tokens in operation will be like the business 
jet card programs that are common in the aviation industry today. The typical jet card program operator 
arranges flights on behalf of their jet card clients with Carriers. In supplying the service, the air carriers 
keep complete operational control of the charter flights. Here, the Program Carriers will be part of the 
TKJ Platform. TKJ will require that all Carriers meet or exceed all FAA and TKJ safety standards.  

 
Token issuances to Consumers will occur after they execute a Program membership agreement 

and Token sales agreement together with a smart contract issued on the Network that contains legally 
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binding terms and conditions between the Token holders and TKJ to provide air charter services equal in 
value to the redemption amount of the Tokens. Only Consumers will be able to buy Tokens. The Tokens 
will not represent a TKJ obligation to supply a specified number of flight hours regardless of cost. 
Rather, the Tokens will represent a TKJ obligation to supply air charter services to the Consumer/Token 
holder at a 1 USD:1 USD value, to allow for the variable costs of charter flights, jet fuel, catering, and 
other incidental costs related to each charter. When a Token enters circulation, TKJ Consumers may 
freely trade or exchange the Tokens in their possession between any other Consumer, Broker or Carrier 
within the Network. Only TKJ has the authority and capability to issue Tokens into circulation, or upon 
redemption remove them from circulation. In addition to the terms of the smart contracts restricting 
transfer of the Tokens TKJ will implement technical restrictions via the Platform and Network that 
restrict transfers of Tokens to TKJ Wallets only, and not to wallets external to the Platform. 

 
A Consumer may redeem Tokens to pay for a flight directly with TKJ, which will arrange the 

flight using its own fleet of aircraft, a Broker or a Carrier. In that scenario, TKJ, as Program Manager, 
will transfer the escrow funds corresponding to the retail cost of the flight and the redeemed Tokens to 
itself as a Broker or Carrier and to its own bank account, deliver the flight and then pay for the costs 
associated with the flight using the transferred funds. In the alternative, a Consumer may transfer Tokens 
to a Broker or a Carrier other than TKJ to arrange and deliver the flight. In those types of transactions, the 
Broker or Carrier will then redeem with TKJ the Tokens that the Consumer transfers to the Broker or 
Carrier for the retail cost of the flight, and TKJ will then transfer the funds held in escrow directly to the 
Broker or Carrier for payment of the costs associated with the delivered flight. The terms stated in the 
Program membership agreement, Token sales agreement and each smart contract corresponding to each 
Token will obligate TKJ to disburse the escrow funds for the payment of air charter services when a 
Consumer redeems them. Further, the terms of the Program membership agreement, Token sales 
agreement and smart contracts for each Token will expressly state that at no time will TKJ have any 
discretion to do anything with the escrow funds other than disburse the funds for payment of air charter 
services upon redemption. 

 
At all times, the identity of each Consumer as a TKJ Program Member will be known to TKJ in 

compliance with Transportation Security Administration regulations and federal law regarding TKJ’s 
obligations to know its customers. See, e.g., 49 CFR 1540.107, governing passenger identification, which 
requires all passengers to provide identification using a valid verifying identity document. In addition, all 
passengers must provide their full name, date of birth, and gender, which is screened against the travel 
ban watch list in effect at the time of travel. The Tokens will be transferable only to other TKJ Program 
Members who are eligible to receive Tokens and become Token holders on the Platform and submit to 49 
CFR 1540.107. To become a TKJ Program Member, all users must agree to the representations, terms 
and conditions regarding disclosure of their identity. In addition, prior to redemption and use of Tokens, 
all Token transferees must hold a current TKJ jet card Program membership which they can only obtain 
approval for after going through the TKJ application process which includes stringent KYC/AML 
background checks and TSA anti-terrorism watch list checks. 
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Construction of the TKJ Platform, Network, App and Token will be funded by TKJ through its 
own capital resources. At no time will TKJ utilize funds received for the purchase of Tokens to develop 
the TKJ Platform, Network, App or Token, and each of these will be fully developed and operational at 
the time any Tokens are sold. At all times, such funds will be held in escrow until redemption. At the 
time of their choosing, Consumers may redeem their Tokens into air charter services for the best price of 
those services correlated with the value of those services in the market offered directly by TKJ or by 
another verified and authorized Broker or Carrier that is a Program Member on the TKJ Platform. A 
Consumer will be able to redeem Tokens immediately after issuance for air charter services via TurnKey 
Jet, Inc. under its economic authority as an air carrier and air taxi operator. In addition, Consumers will 
be able to redeem their Tokens with any other verified and authorized Broker or Carrier that is a Program 
Member of the Network. 

 
B. The Proposed Token Lifecycle and Steps of the Ongoing Token Sales 

 
Step 1 – TKJ Consumer agrees to the terms of the Program membership agreement and Token sales 
agreement and deposits USD into TKJ’s bank escrow account. The proceeds will be deposited into the 
TKJ interest-bearing escrow accounts1 at FDIC-insured depository banks corresponding to the 
purchaser’s Tokens, and any interest in those accounts will not be distributed to Consumers/Token 
holders but will be retained by TKJ. 
 
Step 2 – TKJ creates TKJ Wallet on Platform and Network for the Consumer and credits the 
Consumer’s Wallet with the number and value of Tokens bought. TKJ creates the smart contract and 
transfers the Token to the Consumer’s Wallet. The Tokens are now in circulation with the Consumer as 
the first holder of the Tokens. The amount that the Consumer deposits equals the number of Tokens 
issued to the Consumer at a 1:1 ratio (i.e., 100,000 USD deposited = 100,000 Tokens issued).  
 
Step 3 – TKJ Consumers can transfer and exchange Tokens to other Consumers, Brokers or Carriers 
exclusively on the TKJ Platform and Network. TKJ Consumers, Brokers and Carriers will be 
contractually and technically restricted from transferring Tokens outside of the TKJ Platform.  
 
Step 4 – The Consumer deposits/transfers enough Tokens from their Wallet to TKJ, a Broker or Carrier 
for redemption into air charter services. The terms stated in the Program membership agreement, Token 
sales agreement and each smart contract corresponding to each Token obligate TKJ to disburse the 
escrow funds for the payment of air charter services upon redemption and TKJ has no discretion 
contractually to do anything else with the escrow funds. 
 
Step 5 – TKJ, as Program Manager, will destroy the Tokens that the Consumer, Broker or Carrier 
redeems. Upon redemption, TKJ, as Program Manager, remits the redeemed escrow funds to itself as 

                                            
1  While the funds will be held in accounts at FDIC-insured banks, the funds in the bank escrow accounts may not be FDIC-
insured in full. 
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Broker or Carrier, or to another Broker or Carrier. Either TKJ, via its own fleet of aircraft, or the other 
Broker or Carrier, supplies air charter services in the equivalent value amount of the redeemed Tokens. 
 
 TKJ plans to hold continuous, open-ended Token sales to meet demand. If a Consumer such as a 
corporation goes out of business, its Tokens will be assets of that corporation. Consumers may redeem 
their Tokens at any time of their choosing in the future. There will be no time constraints within which 
period the Consumers must redeem their Tokens after purchase or acquisition. Consumers will be able to 
receive offers and select the best offer, whether it is from TKJ directly or from one of the other verified 
and authorized Brokers and Carriers who are also members of the Network. At no time will Token sales 
include a rebate program, rewards program, or similar or otherwise allow for the monetization of an 
economic benefit or bonus for buying Tokens. TKJ does not expect resales of Tokens in a large amount. 
If TKJ offers to repurchase Tokens, it will only do so at a discount to the face value of the Tokens that 
the holder looks to resell to TKJ, unless a court within the United States orders TKJ to liquidate the 
Tokens per a forced liquidation. There should not be Token sales to others at a discount because a 
purchaser may buy Tokens from TKJ at 1 USD per Token, which will cause the market price to stabilize 
at one dollar. As a result, Consumers will not have an incentive to buy from other Token holders at a 
premium above one dollar per Token. In theory, a Consumer may be required to sell their Tokens at a 
significant discount below face value in order to liquidate its holdings, but TKJ does not anticipate that 
this will occur frequently because of market forces stabilizing the price near one dollar per Token, 
contractual and technical restrictions on transfer, and timing of purchase and use not requiring advance 
purchase since the Tokens are immediately redeemable after purchase. 
 

The Tokens will be nonrefundable. Consumers will only be able to redeem their Tokens for air 
charter services. They will not be able to redeem their Tokens for USD. When a Consumer remits cash 
payment for Tokens, TKJ will follow the Patriot Act and report such purchases that are more than 
$10,000 per occurrence. TKJ will use its regulatory tools to identify bad actors and will reserve the right 
to refuse a Token sale to any such person who looks to become a Consumer as part of illegal activities 
such as money laundering. For international transactions, TKJ will adhere to all applicable laws and 
regulations for the jurisdictions that govern the transaction. Consumers who buy Tokens will be 
protected and will have minimal risk because TKJ will hold their prepaid funds always in escrow until 
the Tokens are redeemed. The United States government strictly regulates TKJ via the DOT and FAA, 
among others, and TKJ will hold the funds received from Token sales in bank escrow accounts at United 
States FDIC-insured depository banks. Hence, TKJ will hold sales proceeds in escrow as collateral to 
guarantee TKJ’s obligation to supply air charter services in the future. 

 
The Tokens will be distributed to Consumers as purchasers such that they meet their on-demand 

air charter needs as users of the TKJ Platform. They will receive their Tokens at once after purchase and 
will be able to redeem their Tokens once received with no delay. Consumers will be able to transfer their 
Tokens in the amount needed to pay for the offered air charter services corresponding to their expected 
use. 
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C. Proof of Reserves and TKJ’s Obligations to Consumers, Brokers and Carriers as 
Token Holders 

 
At all times, the total number of Tokens in circulation, being TKJ liabilities, will be fully backed 

by an equal amount of USD held in reserve in FDIC-insured financial institution escrow accounts 
located in the United States. Each Token in circulation will represent one United States Dollar held in 
TKJ escrow reserves in a one-to-one ratio. To complement disclosure and transparency, TKJ will 
publish regularly in a private forum to Consumers, Brokers and Carriers an independent professional 
audit of the total amount of USD held in its escrow account reserves and the total number of Tokens 
then outstanding. 

 
D. Representations Regarding TKJ Program Memberships and Token Sales 

 
- TKJ will offer Program memberships and Tokens to Consumers solely as an opportunity to 

obtain prepaid on-demand air charter services. All marketing materials will say clearly that 
Consumers should buy the TKJ Program memberships and Tokens solely for the purpose of 
obtaining prepaid on-demand air charter services and not for investment purposes or with an 
expectation to earn a profit. 

 
- The TKJ Program membership agreement, TKJ Token sale agreement and Platform terms of 

service will require each Consumer or later transferee holder to agree to represent, warrant and 
acknowledge the following prior to purchasing the Tokens: 

 
 The Consumer is not acquiring the membership or Tokens as an investment and has no 

expectation of economic benefit or profit as a TKJ Program Member or TKJ Token 
holder; 

 The Consumer is solely acquiring the TKJ Program membership and Tokens for the right 
to obtain prepaid on-demand air charter services; 

 The Consumer is acquiring the TKJ Program membership and Tokens for the 
Consumer’s own use and not with a view to sell or otherwise distribute the Tokens to 
anyone else in a secondary market; 

 All funds paid to TKJ to buy TKJ Program memberships or TKJ Tokens are 
nonrefundable; 

 The Consumer will not have any equity or other ownership interest in TKJ or any 
affiliated entities; will not have any rights to dividends, distribution rights, or interest 
from TKJ or any affiliated entities at any time as a result of being a TKJ Program 
Member and TKJ Token holder; and will not have any voting rights regarding any 
matters relating to TKJ or any affiliated entities; 

 All transfers of TKJ Tokens will be subject to membership restrictions, TKJ Program 
memberships will be nontransferable, and there is no guarantee that there will exist in the 
future a market for the resale of TKJ Tokens, and neither TKJ nor anyone else is 
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obligated to create such a market. When a TKJ Token holder transfers their Tokens to 
another TKJ Program member, they will not represent to such prospective transferee that 
the Tokens or membership is an investment opportunity or an opportunity to obtain an 
economic benefit or profit; and 

 The Consumer and subsequent Token holder will not pledge or hypothecate their Tokens. 
 

- All TKJ Program members must execute the membership agreement providing their personal 
identity with proof and TKJ Token sale agreement with express terms and provisions 
substantially similar to the above-stated terms and conditions.  

 
TKJ, its agents and employees will not make statements in the sales process that are in any way 

inconsistent with the statements and representations above, or otherwise mention profits or an 
investment opportunity. 

 
III. LEGAL DISCUSSION 

 
For the reasons set forth below, it is my opinion that the proposed sale of Tokens under the TKJ 

Program will not involve the sale of a “security” within the meaning of Section 2(a)(1) of the Securities 
Act and Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act, and, therefore, that registration under the Securities Acts 
is not required. Rather, the interest represented by a Token will be a consumptive right to redeem the 
escrowed funds to pay for air charter services. As such, neither an “investment contract,” a “note,” an 
“evidence of indebtedness” nor another form of security is present. There is no reasonable expectation of 
profit derived from the efforts of others, and the Consumer’s expectation will be to enter into a 
consumer transaction for prepayment of air charter services.  
 

A. Howey and Forman Analyses: The Proposed TKJ Jet Card Program Tokens Fail to 
Satisfy the Howey Test and Thus Are Not Investment Contracts 

 
It is my opinion that the Tokens will not be not “investment contracts,” see SEC v. W.J. Howey 

Co., 328 U.S. 293 (1946). The United States Supreme Court in S.E.C. v. W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293 
(1946) articulated the Howey test for determining whether an economic transaction is an investment 
contract that as such implicates the Securities Acts. The Howey test provides that an “investment 
contract” is present where there is: (i) an investment of money; (ii) in a common enterprise; (iii) with an 
expectation of profits to be derived solely from the efforts of the promoters or third parties. All elements 
of the Howey test must be satisfied for an instrument to be deemed a “contract, transaction or scheme” 
that is a security. Howey at 298–99. The focus of the Howey analysis here is on how and why the 
proposed Tokens fail to satisfy the third element regarding expectations of profit. 
 

(i) Investment of Money  
 

Since the purchase of Tokens will require the payment of funds, an investment of money under 
the Howey test exists here. 
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(ii) Common Enterprise 
 

Since TKJ will run the Platform and Network for managing the creation and redemption of 
Tokens and allow for Brokers or Carriers to transfer and redeem Tokens to collectively supply air 
charter services in addition to TKJ as part of the Network, a common enterprise may exist here as well. 
Consumers, however, will not be invested in the success or failure of the TKJ Program and Platform. 
Rather, they are buying as consumers prepaid air charter services. As such, they are relying on TKJ to 
deliver the services as obligated, not to deliver a capital return or other profit on an investment. 

 
(iii) Expectation of Profits to Be Derived Solely from the Efforts of the Promoters or Third 

Parties 
 

Regarding “profit” under the Howey test, the Supreme Court means “capital appreciation” 
resulting from an investment of money or “participation in earnings” resulting from the usage of the 
investor’s funds. See United Housing Foundation v. Forman, 421 U.S. at 852. While the Howey test is 
flexible, there must be a reasonable of expectation of profit for there to be a security. 
  
 The characteristics of the Tokens and terms and conditions of the Program demonstrate that there 
is no reasonable expectation of any profit that Howey recognizes on the part of any Member.2 This is 
because Consumers will have no right to share in any income generated by the operation of TKJ (or any 
other affiliated entity). TKJ will not pay dividends, rebates, rewards, interest or other distributions to 
Consumers from the operation of TKJ. TKJ will make no distribution of any kind to any Consumers, 
other than the non-monetary provision of the air charter services using the prepaid Token sales funds 
held in escrow corresponding to the specific Consumers. Further, Consumers will have no reasonable 
expectation of profit based on capital appreciation as explained below. 
 
 A Consumer will be motivated to buy Tokens by a desire to obtain on-demand air charter 
services in a more efficient and faster manner than they are able to do so currently. As in Forman, the 
characteristics of the instrument and the manner in which they are sold indicate that Members will not 
buy Tokens with an expectation of profit, but rather solely with a view to use them for air charter 
services. In Forman, the purchasers were screened and qualified, similar to how the Consumers are 
                                            
2  In the Tuition Plan Consortium, LLP no-action letter, the Staff said that it will not recommend enforcement action where 
the proposed instruments represented prepaid tuition certificates, and demonstrated similar characteristics to those in Forman 
(purchaser received right to fixed amount of prepaid future services; provision of services not dependent on third party efforts 
of others to offer returns; limited transferability; the return on funds was limited to principal plus treasury rate of accrued 
interest). In earlier no-action letters the Staff agreed that prepayment was motivated by a desire to obtain future services for 
consumption and not by a desire for profit where pre-need funeral services contracts were offered. See Fleet National Bank 
(September 5, 1990); Michigan Funeral Directors Association (September 28, 1987). Similarly, since the TKJ memberships 
and Tokens do not meet the definition of a security pursuant to the Securities Acts and they will not be marketed to the public 
as an investment opportunity, but rather are prepayment for future air charter services, have limited transferability, and there 
will be no refunds, granting the requested no-action relief would be consistent with Tuition Plan Consortium, LLP and the 
related prepaid tuition and prepaid funeral services no-action letters.  
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qualified when they apply for membership in the Program (via the KYC/AML background check and 
TSA anti-terrorism travel ban watch list check) and subsequently execute the membership agreement 
and Token purchase agreement wherein, they agree to abide by Program rules and acknowledge that 
they are not purchasing Tokens for financial gain. Further, in Forman a purchaser could not redeem the 
purchase for more than the sales price, while here TKJ will not provide refunds to Consumers, and the 
Tokens must be consumed for air charter services within the closed Program environment. 
 
 Consumers will be motivated to purchase the Tokens in order to prepay for and consume on-
demand air charter services, based on the following attributes of the Program:  (i) there will be 
contractual and technical restrictions on transferability of Tokens, because such transfers will be subject 
to terms of the Token sales agreement, TKJ Program membership agreement and smart contracts that 
only Consumers, Brokers or Carriers may acquire and hold Tokens; (ii) the Consumers, Brokers and 
Carriers as Token holders will be advised that they should not acquire Tokens as an investment for 
profit; (iii) each prospective Consumer as buyer or holder (including transferees) will be required to 
represent that they are not acquiring the Tokens as an investment and has no expectation of economic 
benefit or profit as a Consumer; (iv) the Consumers will acknowledge and agree that they are acquiring 
the TKJ membership and Tokens for their own use and not with a view to sell or otherwise distribute the 
Tokens to anyone else in a secondary market; and (v) the Consumers will acknowledge and agree that 
there is no market for the Tokens, and neither TKJ nor any other person will create such a market. 
Hence, reasonable Consumers of the TKJ Program memberships and Tokens will not expect and TKJ 
will not promise any “return” on their payment, or any other “profit” from TKJ Program membership or 
ownership of Tokens. Similarly, Carriers’ and Brokers’ expectations are to receive Tokens as 
compensation for services rendered through the Program and not to earn “profits” for such work. 

 
The attributes of the Program further include: (i) all marketing materials will state clearly that the 

TKJ Members should acquire the Tokens solely for the purpose of prepaying for and consuming prepaid 
on-demand air charter services; (ii) the Token and TKJ membership agreements will require each 
Consumer or subsequent transferee holder to agree to represent, warrant and acknowledge transfer and 
redemption restrictions; (iii)  TKJ will hold all prepaid funds for the corresponding sold Tokens in 
escrow accounts; and (iv) upon redemption of Tokens, TKJ will utilize the funds held in escrow to pay 
for the delivery of air charter services directly to Brokers or Carriers as obligated pursuant to the Token 
sales agreement, smart contract embedded in each Token and Program membership agreement. Based 
on these attributes and the others discussed here, there would be no reasonable expectation of profit.  
 

In the LA Fan Club, Inc. Membership Program (June 28, 2017) no-action letter, the Staff 
provided no-action relief relating to memberships involving personal seat licenses and ticket-related 
member benefits for a professional sports franchise. The terms of the memberships, among other things, 
provided that they had significant transfer restrictions, purchasers represented that they were obtaining 
the memberships for their own use and not as an investment or to profit, and they were not marketed to 
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the public as investments.3 The crux of these letters is that the primary motivation of the purchasers of 
the seat licenses was to attend events and consume entertainment, not to profit or resell. In each case, 
this was demonstrated by various characteristics of the asset and the manner in which the assets were 
sold. This also is the case with the Tokens and the Program. 

 
Here, TKJ has an even stronger argument since the sole purpose of buying the Tokens is to 

prepay for and consume air charter services. It will not be technically possible to trade and transfer 
Tokens from the Platform in a non-Platform secondary market at a premium. Further, it will be 
economically impractical to trade Tokens within the Platform in a secondary market since TKJ will offer 
continuous, ongoing Token sales at one USD per Token which should cause the market price of Tokens 
not to exceed one USD per Token. These restrictions on transfer are indicative of the consumptive 
nature of the Tokens. The TKJ Program memberships are non-equity memberships and will be non-
transferable. The Consumers will represent that they are obtaining the TKJ memberships and Tokens for 
their own use and not as an investment or to profit. The TKJ memberships and Tokens will not be 
marketed to the public as investments. The funds that the Consumers prepay for the on-demand air 
charter services will be nonrefundable and will be immediately redeemable for air charter services, so no 
Consumer will have a reasonable expectation of profit. Thus, granting the requested no-action relief to 
TurnKey Jet, Inc. would be consistent with the Staff’s earlier position in LA Fan Club, Inc. Membership 
Program and the related personal seat license no-action letters.  
 
 As explained above, it is highly unlikely that a Member would be able to buy Tokens and resell 
them for a financial gain. While such a financial gain is theoretically possible, it is highly unlikely, given 
the Program’s structure, particularly that Members will be able to purchase Tokens from TKJ at the 1 
USD fixed price throughout the life of the Program. Any such gain, however, would not result from the 
entrepreneurial or managerial efforts of TKJ and, accordingly, would not be “profit” under Howey. 4 
 

B. Reves Analysis: The Proposed Tokens Are Not Notes or Other Evidence of Indebtedness 
Because They Simply Formalize Using Blockchain Technology Open-Account Debts 
Incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business of TKJ 
 

It is my opinion that the Tokens should not be viewed as a “note,” as such term is used in Section 
2(a)(1) of the Securities Act and Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act, or other “evidence of 
indebtedness” as such term is used in Section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act, because they will bear a 
strong resemblance to those instruments traditionally excluded from the definition of a security pursuant 
to Reves v. Ernst & Young, 494 U.S. 56 (1990).  The Tokens will simply formalize using blockchain 
technology an open-account debt incurred in the ordinary course of business of TKJ, that is, the 
obligation to provide air charter services in exchange for the prepayment of those services. Such an 

                                            
3  Earlier Staff no-action letters exist involving similar circumstances involving personal seat licenses and member benefits, 
and non-equity memberships. See San Francisco Baseball Assocs. L.P. (February 24, 2006); Ticket Reserve, Inc. (September 
11, 2003); Erica Enders Racing, LLC (November 21, 2006). 
4  See, e.g., Community Sun, LLC (August 29, 2011) (no-action recommended where solar panel condominium units could 
be resold by original purchasers for potential profit based on fluctuations in energy markets). 
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open-account debt is one of the Reves enumerated categories of instruments which are not securities.5 
Here, since the funds paid for Tokens are held in escrow, and each Token has a corresponding 1 USD in  
an account at an FDIC-insured financial institution available for payment for services upon redemption  
by the Member, they represent an open-account debt of TKJ. Further, the TKJ Program memberships  
and Tokens will not be marketed to the public as investments that will earn a profit. Thus, under these 
circumstances, granting the requested no-action relief to TurnKey Jet, Inc. would be consistent with  
federal case law and Staff guidance.6 
 
 
 
  It is my opinion that the Tokens are not securities within the meaning of Section 2(a)(l) of the 
Securities Act or Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act and the Tokens should not be viewed as the 
equivalent of an “investment contract,” a “note,” an “evidence of indebtedness” or another form of  
security under the analyses described in Howey, 328 U.S. 293 (1946), Forman, 421 U.S. 837 (1975) and 
Reves, 494 U.S. 56 (1990). For the above-mentioned reasons, I respectfully request your confirmation  
that the Staff will not recommend that the Commission take any enforcement action against TKJ if TKJ 
offers and sells Tokens in the manner and under the circumstances described above without registration 
under the Securities Acts. 
 
  TurnKey Jet, Inc. plans to begin offering the TKJ jet card membership Program and Tokens as  
soon as practical after receiving a response from the Division that grants this request. If you need more 
information to prepare a response, please call me at (561) 972-8222 to discuss this matter. Thank you for 
your assistance. 
              Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
              James P. Curry, Esquire 
 
 
cc:     Paul Schoen, TurnKey Jet, Inc. 
 
 
 
 
5  See generally S.E.C. v. Thompson, 732 F.3d 1151, 1159 (10th Cir. 2013); Tr. Co. of Louisiana v. N.N.P. Inc., 104 F.3d  
1478, 1489 (5th Cir. 1997) 
6  See also Poplogix, LLC (November 5, 2010) no-action letter where the Staff provided a favorable no-action response to a 
request arguing that certain loans and notes were not securities because, among other things, the terms of the loans and notes 
provided no possibility of profit or capital appreciation, and the y were not marketed to the public as investments. 
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